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Following a challenging few years we are pleased to be able to report that the Trust is now on a more steady 
improvement trajectory. As Chair of the Board and Chief Executive we have set out our vision and this is being 
embraced by the organisation as a whole. We are a Trust which aims for excellence in all aspects of patient care and 
performance. Every single employee has a responsibility to help move the Trust forward and lead the way to future 
success. 

Though it is clearly not the financial position we would wish for the Trust, the 2014/15 financial year saw us meet 
our projected financial position for the first time in four years with a deficit of £14.9m. 

With the Trust remaining in ‘special measures’ there has been a clear focus on addressing the issues raised in the 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) reports. Our approach has involved a long-term view being taken in which the aim 
has not been to simply pass the inspection but to ensure we provide sustained and high quality safe, effective care 
for all our patients. By doing this the Trust is demonstrating it meets the requirements of the CQC. 

The Trust entered ‘special measures’ in October 2013 following a CQC inspection in May and a Rapid Response 
Review (RRR) in August of that year. The Trust was found to be non-compliant with 12 of 16 CQC outcomes and 
the RRR made recommendations to improve patient care. Four formal warning notices were also served on the Trust 
by the CQC. 

Monitor, the healthcare regulator, also raised a number of serious concerns relating to patient safety, the Trust’s 
failure to meet the A&E four-hour target, our quality governance and financial viability. The Trust commissioned an 
independent Quality Governance Review, which made further recommendations for improvement. 

As a result of the breaches of our licence with Monitor the Trust was placed in ‘special measures’ in October 2013. 
An interim Trust Chair and interim Chief Executive were appointed in October and November 2013 respectively. 

A reinspection by the CQC in June 2014 found that while significant improvements had been made in eight of the 
areas highlighted in the previous report, the Trust remained non-compliant in four areas. This resulted in the Trust 
receiving an overall rating of ‘requires improvement’ and remaining in special measures. 

In July 2014 Monitor decided that in order to address some of the problems being experienced by the Trust a more 
holistic approach needed to be taken and the health economy of West Norfolk needed to be looked  
at in the round. 

A contingency planning team (CPT) headed by international management consultancy McKinsey was commissioned 
to undertake this work. As an organisation we have worked closely with the McKinsey team and our local health 
economy partners to facilitate this review. The CPT exercise out turn report is expected to be published in the 
coming months. 

A substantive Trust Chair was appointed in June 2014 and a substantive Chief Executive in November 2014. The 
Trust’s senior leadership team has latterly been strengthened with executive posts being filled on a substantive basis. 
This has enabled a sustained executive-led focus on the aspects of the work of the Trust that matter to patients, 
these being safety, outcomes and patient experience. 

The Trust’s Quality Strategy has recently been refreshed with a view to ensuring that our values and quality 
objectives are central to everything we do. The values we have been aspiring to were chosen by staff and patients. 
We saw a need to add a new value of ‘responsibility’ to link our existing values of pride, curiosity, courage and 
compassion and reinforce our continuous message that each and every person has a responsibility to ensure 
excellent patient experience. Every member of staff owns ‘quality’ within their remit and by adhering to our core 
values ‘quality’ becomes ‘business as usual’. 

Led by the Board, improvements have been made to address all CQC recommendations and the pace of change is 
now rapid. It is clear from the CPT exercise that the Trust needs to find new ways of working and a comprehensive 
transformation programme is in place. Overseen by the Board, this programme is reviewing numerous areas of the 
Trust’s operation to ensure they are fit for purpose into the future and will, where possible, deliver efficiency savings 
without compromising patient care. 

Relationships with our external stakeholders such as the Clincal Comissioning Group (CCG), our MPs, the CQC 
and Monitor continue to be strengthened as has been demonstrated by our recent cooperative work on the CPT 

Chair and Chief Executive’s Statement
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process. We were also appreciative of the support of West Norfolk CCG with our recent Breaking The Cycle initiative 
held in April 2015, which encouraged the entire health economy to work together to improve ‘flow’ in the patient 
journey. 

Earlier in the year we welcomed a ministerial visit by the Health Secretary which was supported by our local MP. The 
Health Secretary spoke very positively about progress at the Trust. 

Where we need to go next 
We are greatly encouraged by the energy and commitment staff have shown in the drive to address the issues 
raised by the CQC to see the Trust come out of special measures. This commitment and focus is now translating into 
a long term dedication to providing excellent patient experience in all we do as an acute hospital. 

A relentless focus on Board-led transformation will ensure the Trust best serves its patients into the future. The 
past year has been a turbulent and difficult one for the Trust but by taking a systematic and long-term approach to 
addressing our issues we are ensuring that we will deliver high quality, patient-focused and sustainable healthcare in 
the years to come.

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive

Edward Libbey
Trust Chair

2013/14* 2014/15

Number of cases dealt with by our 
emergency department

53,646
Average of 1,032  
patients a week

56,779
Average of 1,092  
patients a week

Number of outpatient visits 262,044 265,508

Number of inpatients treated 34,729 36,451

Number of day case procedures 29,698 31,777

Babies born at the hospital 2,320 2,446

Number of whole time equivalent (WTE) 
nurses, midwives and health-visiting staff

1070 1,149

Number of consultants and doctors employed 331 320

Total number of staff (WTE) 2,675 2,720

Total income £165.7 million £165.4 million

Deficit incurred in the year £13 million £14.9 million

QEH facts and figure at a glance

For details about our Board, including information about directors’ interests please see The Board of Directors 
section in the Governance Report. 

Information about the Trust’s governance structure and arrangements to govern quality can be found in the 
governance and quality report respectively.

*Some 2013/14 comparisons restated to ensure a year on year, like for like comparison.

2014/15 snapshot
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Statement as to disclosure to auditors
For each of the directors identified in the Governance Report the following statements apply:
•  So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the NHS Foundation Trust’s auditor 

is unaware; and 
•  The director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves 

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the NHS Foundation Trust’s auditor is aware of that 
information.

Additional disclosures required by the Financial Reporting Manual (FReM)
Accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out in note 3.6 and details of senior 
employees’ remuneration can be found in note 3.1 and details of company directorships and other significant 
interests held by directors or governors which may conflict with their responsibilities are recorded in the register of 
interests access to which is referenced in the Governance Report. 

Directors’ Report 

Operating review 
The past year has seen us continue to concentrate on three key areas. 
• A&E performance 
• Quality concerns raised by the CQC 
• Financial recovery and sustainability 

These will again remain our priorities for the coming financial year. 

A&E performance 
A good and sustained A&E performance is a benchmark for a well-run hospital. Getting the A&E service right is 
really important because when we do, we are able to provide good patient care, free up beds and avoid 
unnecessary cancellations of elective operations. 

The cancellation of elective activity has a knock on impact across the whole Trust, leading to poor patient 
experience; poor staff morale and resulting in reduced income to the Trust as well as causing reputational damage 
to the hospital. We continue to concentrate on stabilising our performance in this area. 

A&E performance is measured primarily by the four hours waiting time statistic, the standard being set at 95%.  
The Trust continues to fail to consistently achieve this measure and has failed to do so since 2012. 

A hospital-wide approach is now being taken with a view to achieving the four hour target. This includes improving 
flow through the hospital and ensuring all clinically fit patients are discharged promptly. This in turn helps relieve 
pressure on A&E by ensuring patients who need to remain in hospital can be transferred onto the wards at the 
earliest opportunity. 

Quality concerns raised by the CQC 
The last CQC inspection was undertaken in July 2014. The CQC noted significant improvements had been made in 
addressing the previous recommendations and warning notices including: 
• Consent to care and treatment 
• Care and welfare of patients 
• Nutrition and hydration 
• Incident reporting 
• Respecting and involving service users 
• Complaints 
• Records and co-operating with other providers 

However, the Trust remained non-compliant with the regulations on staffing, support for workers, safeguarding and 
medicines management. The Trust also received three ‘inadequate’ ratings and a further 27 ‘must do’ and ‘should 
do’ recommendations to action. As a result, the Trust remained in ‘special measures’. 
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The Trust has embarked on a rapid improvement programme to address the issues highlighted by the CQC, with 
particular focus on areas rated ‘inadequate’ and ‘requires improvement’. An update on the three areas rated as 
‘inadequate’ by the CQC is set out below: 

Medical care - Management of medical outliers 
A proactive programme commenced in November 2014 to improve the management of medical outliers ensuring 
patients are adequately and safely tracked through the organisation including: 
• A dedicated medical outlier team to ensure all patients are reviewed daily.
• Implementation of an individualised care plan for each outlying patient.
• A new medical outlier tracking process ensuring that patients are appropriately identified using selection criteria 

and then tracked throughout their inpatient stay. Their details are kept in the Operations Centre until they are 
either discharged or transferred to a medical ward. The list is updated daily and shared with the Medical Outlier 
Team.

• An agreement on which wards and bays are to be used for outliers to ensure consistency of approach and 
improved continuity of care.

• Ensuring secured funding from the System Resilience Group (West Norfolk CCG) to facilitate an increased 
presence of consultant physicians in the Emergency Department. This has enabled early intervention by senior 
decision-makers and has avoided admissions through winter 2014/15 thus reducing the overall demand for 
medical beds and subsequently, the total number of medical outliers.

• The new demand and capacity model is being embedded operationally. This will ensure the Trust has the right 
beds in the right place, which will further minimise medical outliers.

Surgery - Reduction in cancelled operations 
The number of reportable cancelled operations had reduced from 52 in July 2014 to 18 in March 2015.  
This has been achieved by:
• Establishing a Theatre Transformation Programme which has included a detailed review of all cancellations on the 

day of surgery during October to December 2014 and this in turn has led to a number of changes to minimise 
cancellations and the introduction of an escalation process for cancellations for non-clinical reasons.

• Improving effective forward planning of theatre sessions and capacity, with evidence of increased utilisation.
• Improving the Trust’s booking processes, including the pre-assessment process.
• Revising the booking processes in day surgery for the majority of specialties in an attempt to reduce ‘Did Not 

Attend’ (DNA) patients. This was introduced in Jan 2015 and has resulted in a demonstrable reduction (37.3% 
reduction from Q3 to Q4) in DNA numbers, and hence improved utilisation of theatre time.

• Using the Trust’s new demand and capacity model with the consultant job plans to ensure elective care is better 
planned throughout the year.

• Reviewing the inpatient pathway for angioplasty procedures to enable patients to go home the same day which 
improves patient experience, increases capacity for this cohort of patients and reduces the demand on elective 
beds.

. 
Well-led - Substantive Board and senior management team 
With effect from 1 April 2015, all of the Board Executive and Non-Executive Directors are substantive, with the 
exception of the interim Chief Operating Officer. This has provided stability and the Executive team is now seen as a 
united team. Other developments and improvements made on the CQC recommendations have included:
• A full ward staffing and skill mix review has led to Board investment of £3.5m for additional nursing and 

midwifery staff (April 2014 and November 2015) supported by a robust recruitment and retention strategy for the 
next 12 months. The Trust now has 131 more nursing staff compared to July 2014 and will be fully established by 
March 2016.

• The Director of Nursing has commenced a programme for matrons to improve leadership across all wards. This 
programme provides daily protected time for matrons to focus on key priorities: ward leadership, harm reduction 
(pressure ulcers and falls), nutrition and hydration and medicines management. 

• The development of a comprehensive Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) rapid improvement programme with 
highly successful outcomes in reducing Clostridium Difficile rates. This has been recognised and supported by the 
local Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

• Development of new medical rotas for acute physicians, emergency consultants and increased seven day working 
for medical patients. This has facilitated an increased presence of consultant physicians in the Emergency 
Department (ED). This has also enabled early intervention by senior decision-makers and has avoided admissions 
through winter 2014/15, thereby reducing the overall demand for medical beds and subsequently the total 
number of medical outliers (compared to recent winter periods).

• All security staff are now restraint trained and a minimum of two staff are present on each shift. Additional staff 
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have been trained including porters and members of the Site Team. Breakaway training is now offered to all 
clinical staff and training has been prioritised based on the high risk areas.

• The Trust has made a number of environmental changes including a dedicated paediatric area in A&E and waiting 
areas in the A&E department, improved signage in the outpatient department and a full refurbishment of the 
Trust’s mortuary will be completed in August 2015.

• The launch by the CEO of a communications and engagement strategy ‘Leading the Way’ to ensure that staff are 
part of the change management process to improve the patient experience. 

• A review of the overall governance structure and the development of new reporting lines that are fit for purpose, 
providing appropriate oversight and addressing KPMG recommendations on quality governance and risk 
management.

• Engagement with Public Concern At Work, the UK’s leading whistle blowing charity to provide whistleblowing 
support, all risk registers on Datix, and introduced a new simplified process for incident reporting. We have 
reviewed and are updating all policies.

• Undertaking a number of initiatives to address the security, storage and management of medicines including daily 
checking of fridge temperatures and introduction of electronically monitored fridges, improvements to medicines 
reconciliation on admission, introduction of a formal process to address administration errors, weekly monitoring 
and scrutiny of all medication incidents.

Other high priority areas recognised by the Trust where work is being undertaken include:
• Ward assurance - pressure ulcers, hydration, falls and other nursing metrics.
• Embedding the new governance arrangements to ensure lessons are learnt and there is now a ‘Ward to Board’ 

visibility of performance, incidents and complaints with a clear plan for resolution.

Financial Recovery 
The Trust set a £14.9m deficit budget for 2014/15 based on the underlying recurrent pressures from the prior year. 
Additional funding was also included within the budget to enable the Trust to improve the standards of quality and 
address the concerns of the CQC. A savings target of £6.7m was set for 2014/15. The year-end position was a 
deficit of £14.9m, as planned and the delivery of £4m of savings, being £2.7m below plan. 

The Trust worked with a Contingency Planning Team during the year to review options for securing the clinical and 
financial sustainability of the Trust in the longer-term, financial support for the Trust has been provided by 
Department of Health, which is due to continue in 2015/16. 

The pace of recovery has been measured to ensure the quality of services is not negatively impacted, moving 
forward, the pace and nature of the financial recovery will be influenced by the CPT report.
 

The environment we operate in 
In view of our geographic position on the borders of Norfolk, Cambridgeshire and Lincolnshire, we are 
commissioned by clinical commissioning groups, representing local GP practices from the three counties, to provide 
acute hospital services. The lead commissioner is West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group.
 

Our services 
We provide acute services at district general hospital level for the following specialist areas: 
•  Accident and Emergency  •  Critical Care 
•  Day Surgery  •  Breast Surgery 
•  Cardiology  •  Specialist Care of the Elderly 
•  Clinical Health Psychology  •  Haematology 
•  Cytopathology  •  D ermatology 
•  Ear, Nose and Throat  •  Fertility 
•  Maxillo Facial Surgery  •  Pathology 
•  Microbiology  •  Neurology 
•  Neurophysiology  •  Obstetrics and gynaecology 
•  Oncology and a specialist Macmillan unit  •  Ophthalmology 
•  Orthodontics  •  Orthopaedics 
•  Paediatrics  •  Radiology 
•  Respiratory  •  Rheumatology 
•  Urology
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 In addition we have a renal dialysis unit, which is an outreach unit of the nephrology service in Cambridge. Our 
oncology service is supplemented by additional facilities in Cambridge and thoracic and plastic surgery services are 
provided by the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital. 

Income disclosures 
Income received from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of healthcare services is greater than 
income received for any other purposes. Income received for services other than healthcare services, is used for the 
benefit of the hospital and its patients. 

Essential external relationships 
We have close working relationships with other local NHS partners: Norfolk Community Health and Care (for 
community healthcare), Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (for mental health), the East of England 
Ambulance Service, Norfolk Social Services and social services teams in adjacent counties. 

The views of our staff 
The 2014 response rate at 51% was 4% higher than for the previous staff survey; the results are reported against 
the four staff pledges contained within the NHS Constitution and three additional themes, one more than in 
previous years. The four staff pledges commit NHS organisations to: 
•  Provide all staff with clear roles, responsibilities and rewarding jobs. 
•  Provide all staff with personal development, access to appropriate education and training for their jobs, and line 

management support to enable them to fulfil their potential. 
•  Provide support and opportunities for staff to maintain their health, well-being and safety 
•  Engage staff in decisions that affect them, the service they provide and empower them to put forward ways to 

deliver better and safer services. 

The three additional themes cover: 
•  Staff satisfaction 
•  Equality and diversity 
•  Patient experience measures (included for the first time in 2014). 
The following chart compares the 2014 staff survey results with those achieved in 2015.

Overall 2014 2015

TRUST
NATIONAL 
AVERAGE

TRUST
NATIONAL 
AVERAGE

Response rate

Top 5 ranking scores 2014 2015
KF21. Percentage of staff receiving job relevant training, 
learning or development in last 12 months

85% 81% 82% 81%

KF4. Effective team working 3.81 3.74 3.77 3.75

KF26. Percentage of staff having equality and  
diversity training in the last 12 months

74% 63% 70% 60%

KF 7. Percentage of staff appraised in the last 12 months 89% 85% 75% 84%

KF10. Percentage of staff receiving health and safety training  
in the last 12 months

83% 77% 75% 76%

Bottom 5 ranking scores 2014 2015
KF21. Percentage of staff reporting good communication  
between senior management and staff

21% 30% 18% 30%

KF2. Percentage of staff agreeing that their role  
makes a difference to patients

87% 91% 89% 90%

KF16. Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence  
from patients, relatives or the public in the past 12 months

20% 14% 20% 14%

KF 24. Staff recommendation of the trust as a place to  
work or receive treatment

3.47 3.67 3.42 3.71

KF 14. Fairness and effectiveness of incident  
reporting procedures

3.48 3.54 3.43 3.52

Staff Survey – 2014 Results
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  Lowest 20% of acute trusts, 
worse than average, worse 
than 2012

  Average for benchmark 
group

  Highest 20% of acute trusts, 
better than average, better 
than 2012

  Lowest 20% of acute trusts, 
worse than average, worse 
than 2013

  Average for benchmark 
group

  Highest 20% of acute trusts, 
better than average, better 
than 2013

Ranking Description Key Finding areas 2013 Key Finding areas 2014

Best 20% 3 areas 6 areas

Better than average 5 areas 6 areas

Average 8 areas 5 areas

Worse than average 9 areas 6 areas

Worst 20% 3 areas 5 areas

Total 28 areas 28 areas

Summary View

2015/16 Action Plan 
From an analysis of the 2014 results four priorities emerged, these being the need to improve: 
1. Our Staff Friends and Family scores; 
2. The quality of the appraisal process; 
3. The health and well-being of our workforce; 
4. Engagement and communication. 

To validate the analysis a series of open staff drop in sessions were held in March 2015. Although attendance was 
disappointing, those who did attend were asked their opinion as to whether the analysis of the staff survey results 
was correct and what specific actions they would like to see the Trust take to address the four themes. 

Attendees were also asked if there were any other issues, which should be seen as a priority for the Trust. Using 
information from the drop in sessions the 2015/16 Action Plan has been developed and implemented. The Action 
Plan will be monitored and if necessary amended by the Workforce Committee. 

Staff Friends & Family Test 
Since April 2014 every NHS provider organisation is required to conduct the Staff Friends and Family Test on a 
quarterly basis. Each quarter provider organisations are asked rate their trust against two key questions: 
•  Question 1: “How likely are you to recommend your trust to friends and family if they needed care or treatment?”
and 
•  Question 2: “How likely are you to recommend your trust to friends and family as a place to work?” 

Respondents are asked to respond to these questions on a scale ranging from “extremely likely to don’t know”. 
The table below shows the response rate during 2014/15. 

Staff Response Rate

Quarter 1 2 3 4

No. of responses received 119 98
Undertaken as  

part of the annual staff survey
485

2013 2014
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Regulatory Ratings 

In common with all foundation trusts, the Trust’s performance risk is assessed by Monitor against financial and 
governance regulatory risk criteria on a quarterly ‘forward look’ (Plan) and ‘backward look’ (Actual) basis. 

The tables below detail the ratings of the Trust for the last two years. In January 2012 Monitor notified the Trust 
that it was in significant breach of its terms of authorisation. The Trust has been in breach of its licence with Monitor 
since the change to a licensing regime in April 2013. In October 2013 Monitor placed the Trust in ‘special measures’. 

The Trust planned to achieve a Continuity of Service Rating of 1 and a Governance Risk Rating of ‘Red’ for the year, 
based on its planned deficit. 

The Trust delivered its financial plan for the year; the deficit was £14.9m. The Trust therefore remains in breach of 
its licence as at 31st March 2015. Monitor has appointed a Contingency Planning Team (CPT) to review the Trust’s 
sustainability. The CPT is expected to formally report their findings in the coming months.

In July 2014 the CQC conducted a follow up inspection on its previously issued recommendations. Although the 
CQC identified improvements in many areas, the Trust was found to be non-compliant with the regulations on 
staffing, support for workers, safeguarding and medicines management. 

The Trust remained non-compliant with a warning notice regarding safeguarding. In addition, sixteen “must do” 
and eleven “should do” recommendations were also made in their report to the Trust. The Trust was formally rated 
as below: 

The CQC are expected to return in June 2015 to follow up on the Trust’s response to their findings in July 2014.

2013-14  Risk Criterion Annual 
2013-14

Q1 
2013-14

Q2 
2013-14

Q3 
2013-14

Q4 
2013-14

Risk Assessment Framework
(1-10-13 to 31-3-14)

Continuity of  
Services risk rating

Plan 2 N/A N/A 2 2

Actual 1 N/A N/A 1 1

Compliance Framework
(1-4-13 to 30-9-13)

Financial risk  
rating

Plan 2 1 2 N/A N/A

Actual 1 1 1 N/A N/A

Governance  
risk rating

Plan Red Red Red Red Red

Actual Red Red Red Red Red

2014/15
Risk Criterion

Annual 2014/15 Q1 
2014/15

Q2 
2014/15

Q3 
2014/15

Q4 
2014/15

Continuity of 
Services risk 
rating

Plan 1 1 1 1 1

Actual 1 1 1 1 1

Governance 
risk rating 

Plan Red Red Red Red Red

Actual Red Red Red Red Red

Overall Rating for the Trust - Requires Improvement 

Are Services at this Trust... Safe? Requires Improvement

Are Services at this Trust... Effective? Good

Are Services at this Trust... Caring? Good

Are services at this Trust... Responsive? Requires Improvement

Are services at this Trust... Well-led? Inadequate



13

Strategic Report
2014/15



14

Strategic Report

Contents

Page
15....................... Overview & Operating Context
15....................... The Trust’s Quality and Mission
16....................... Financial Performance
18....................... Operating Efficiency
18....................... Cash Liquidity and Capital Expenditure
18....................... Going Concern
19....................... Operational Performance
21....................... The Trust’s Workforce
21....................... Future Risks

A message from Dorothy Hosein, CEO.
The Annual Report is of course about looking back at the year just passed. It is, however, also an opportunity 
to look forward to the future and the QE’s Board has articulated its ambition for the future of the Trust in the 
phrase ‘Aiming for Excellence’. 

I have been in post since November 2014 and in that time; I have made a personal commitment to our patients, 
our valued staff and to a bright future for the QE. I welcome my role in delivering the Board’s ambition with a 
strong team. Our journey will be both challenging and exciting but with a clear destination – ‘Excellence’. 

I am very clear that in order to achieve our ambitions,  
we must transform how we do things and be prepared  
to change and innovate. 

I am optimistic and proud to be ‘Leading the Way’  
and throughout the following Report, look out for  
the signposts that show just some of the ways my  
team and I will be ‘Leading the Way’ to ‘Excellence’.

Leading the way to excellence
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Overview & Operating Context 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn, NHS Foundation Trust was authorised as a Foundation Trust in 2011. 
It provides acute services to the populations of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, and parts of Cambridgeshire, 
Lincolnshire, North Norfolk and Breckland.

The Trust was placed in special measures in October 2013 following a CQC inspection in May and a Rapid  
Response Review (RRR) in August of that year. The Trust was found to be non-compliant with 12 of 16 
CQC outcomes and the RRR made recommendations to improve patient care. Four formal warning notices  
were also served on the Trust by the CQC. 

A re-inspection by the CQC in July 2014 found that improvements had been made around consent to care and 
treatment, care and welfare of patients, nutrition and hydration, incident reporting, respecting and involving service 
users, complaints, records, and co-operating with other providers. However, our services remained non-compliant 
with the regulations on staffing, support for workers, safeguarding and medicines management and the Trust 
remained in ‘special measures’. In overall terms, services were found to “require improvement” with the following 
assessment across the 5 domains:

• Safe .................... Requires improvement 
• Effective ............ Good
• Caring ................ Good
• Responsive ........ Requires improvement
• Well Led ............ Inadequate

The Trust has a structured programme of quality improvement in place. This is detailed as part of progress in 
implementing quality priorities and highlighted in the Quality Account and the Directors’ Report. Since the 
appointment of the substantive Chief Executive this improvement work has been overseen via enhanced governance 
arrangements and is a fundamental cornerstone in developing the “Aiming for Excellence” strategy.

The Trust’s is investing in transformation and capacity to  
deliver Quality and its refreshed Quality Strategy sets  
out the Trust’s Quality objectives as follows:
• Ensure our patients are safe
•  Ensure our patients have the best possible  

care experience
•  Ensure that care and treatment is effective  

and compliant
• Build and sustain excellence as a care provider

The Trust’s Quality Ambitions
• Listening to patients and improving the patient experience - measured by the Friends and Family Test;
• Delivering safe care;
• Reducing the number of healthcare associated infections, including hospital acquired Clostridium Difficile;
• Reducing the number of patients experiencing harm as a result of avoidable hospital acquired pressure ulcers;
• Preventing avoidable mortality;
• Using learning from compliments and complaints to enhance the quality of the services we offer our patients;
• Ensuring that the environment is appropriate for clinical care and a positive patient experience;
• Supporting our staff and improving experience measured by the staff surveys and Friends and Family Test;
•  Institutionalising our values and behaviours of ‘Responsibility, Courage, Compassion, Pride and Curiosity’ 

throughout the organisation; and
•  Ensuring that our quality governance structures and processes enable accountability, openness and quality 

improvement.

Leading the way to excellence
Excellent organisations understand and  
meet the needs of the people they serve.  
We will maintain our focus on excellent 
patient outcomes and experience. If it 
matters to our patients, it matters to us.

Leading the way to excellence
Excellent organisations are learning 
organisations. We will make sure we  
learn from strong organisations, from  
our mistakes and, most importantly, from 
what our patients and staff tell us.
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This Trust agreed a deficit budget of £14.9m for 2014/15  
as a consequence of the underlying recurrent pressures  
driving the deficit of £13m in the previous financial year.  
The budget for the year included an appropriate uplift to  
meet required quality standards e.g. improved ward  
staffing levels and a savings target of £6.7m as part of  
the normal year-on-year requirement to improve efficiency.  
The Trust has delivered its overall financial plan for the year.

The size of the Trust’s financial deficit clearly raised concerns about the longer-term sustainability of the Trust 
and Monitor appointed McKinsey to head up a contingency planning team to work with the Trust and other 
stakeholders in the local health economy to recommend options to address these concerns. The Trust has worked 
with the McKinsey team in reviewing options over recent months and their findings are expected to be made public 
early in the new financial year and will inform the development of a longer term strategy for the Trust.

In the context of the above issues the Trust’s core business of acute service delivery has operated on the standard 
“payment by results” model of payment agreed annually with local commissioners in line with national guidance 
issued by the Department of Health.

Financial Performance
In respect of the Trust’s delivery of its financial plan and its financial performance in 2014/15, the following issues 
need to be highlighted:

Overall income was higher than plan by £3.3m; this includes £1.7m of non-recurrent winter pressure funding used 
principally to provide additional clinical staff.

The following table highlights the key movement on year-on-year clinical income:

*The Outpatient figure previously reported in the 2013/14 Annual Report included an amount and activity for the Maternity pathway Transition. 

NHS Clinical Revenue
2013/14  
Activity  

No.

2013/14  
Revenue  
£'000

2014/15  
Activity  

No.

2014/15  
Revenue  
£'000

Activity  
Variance  

No.

Activity  
Variance 

%

Revenue  
Variance 
£'000

Revenue  
Variance  

%

A&E 53,646 £5,563 56,779 £6,022 3,133 5.8% £459 8.3%

Elective Inpatients 5,088 £11,499 5,118 £11,766 30 0.6% £267 2.3%

Elective Excess Bed Days 908 £208 463 £101 (445) (49.0%) (£107) (51.4%)

Daycases 29,698 £18,132 31,777 £18,212 2,079 7.0% £80 0.4%

Non-elective Inpatients 29,641 £49,756 31,333 £51,264 1,692 5.7% £1,508 3.0%

Non-elective  
Excess Bed Days

11,737 £2,649 10,741 £2,385 (996) (8.5%) (£264) (10.0%)

Emergency Threshold Cap (£3,594) (£4,612) (£1,018) 28.3%

Outpatients * 262,044 £29,146 265,508 £29,122 3,464 1.3% (£24) (0.1%)

Other Clinical income £38,264 £38,048 (£216) (0.6%)

Total NHS  
Clinical Revenue 

£151,623 £152,308 £685 0.5%

Private Patient Income £953 £808 (£145) (15.2%)

Other Clinical income £485 £468 (£17) (3.5%)

Total Income  
from activities

£153,061 £153,584 £523 0.3%

Leading the way to excellence
Excellent organisations innovate. We will 
develop our reptutation through research 
and encourage ideas and their development 
where they benefit our patients and the 
wider healthcare system.



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust - Strategic Report 2014/15 17

The key point to note here is the significant growth in emergency inpatient and A&E activity. Within planned care 
the Trust managed to deliver elective inpatient work without significant numbers of cancellations and achieved 90% 
of patients being seen within 18 weeks for the final quarter of the financial year.

As part of NHS efficiency delivery, prices were deflated on average by 1.5% (circa £2.1m) on 2013/14 values.  
As part of managing the emergency demand over the winter the Trust received £1.7m of winter pressure funding 
which was used to support increased medical staffing support for a dedicated frailty ward and the opening of 
observation beds in the A&E department. 

Our operational expenditure was £3.9m higher than plan with the most significant issue being the growth in agency 
spend, which in total for the year was £10.4m, an increase of £3.3m on the previous year. The increased financial 
pressure resulting from dependency on agency staffing is illustrated on the following chart:

The continued increase in agency medical pay expenditure has been driven by a number of key vacancies and the 
need for additional staff to deliver robust emergency care and has been part funded from winter pressure funds. 

The high level of management agency spend has been  
driven by a high level of temporary vacancies. The  
executive team is now substantially recruited to  
with permanent staff, with the exception of the interim  
Chief Operating Officer. 

The following table details the year-on-year growth in  
the total pay bill. The figures are inclusive of the NHS  
pay settlement which effectively increased salaries and wages by circa 1%.

WTE Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

wte wte wte wte wte wte
Medical & Dental 321 30 351 329 20 349 
Executive Directors 5 2 7 5 2 7 
Managers 59 3 62 67 1 68 
Admin & Estates 463 1 464 462 0 462 
Healthcare Assts & other support staff 282 0 282 280 0 280 
Nursing, Midwifery & HV staff 1,253 28 1,281 1,175 20 1,195 
Scientific, therapeutic & technical 337 3 340 342 4 346 
TOTAL 2,720 67 2,787 2,660 47 2,707 

£000 Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2014/15 2013/14

2014/15 2013/14

Leading the way to excellence
Excellent people deliver excellent services. 
We will find new ways to attract and 
keep high calibre medical, nursing and 
administrative staff. We will value and 
develop the potential of our best people.

Q
1

Q
3

Q
1

£’000

Q
1
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The 2013/14 comparators in the above tables have been restated to enable a like for like comparison between years 
of whole time equivalents and pay costs. The adjustments reflect:

• The outsourcing of the histopathology service to The Pathology Partnership.
• The outsourcing of haemachemistry pathology services to the Eastern Pathology Alliance.
•  An appropriate cost reclassification of £0.311m for consultancy expenditure between pay and non-pay 

expenditure. 
 
The key points to highlight here are the aforementioned increased reliance the Trust has on agency workers for 
medical staff but also the success the Trust has had through significant recruitment initiatives to increase the number 
of qualified nurses.

Operational Efficiency
In terms of the Trust efficiency programme we achieved £4m of savings with an annualised full year value of £4.8m, 
71% of target. The in-year shortfall against plan was £2.7m. A planning contingency of £1.6m partially mitigated 
the in-year shortfall. 

A movement of year-on-year accrual estimates for outstanding liabilities also contributed a one-off favourable 
movement of £2.1m to our financial position. Future financial plans will be increasingly reliant upon transformation 
redesign of services to secure efficiency improvement.

Cash Liquidity & Capital Expenditure 
The Trust received cash support of £17.8m for the year from the Department of Health as well as supporting the 
revenue deficit, this contributed to supporting £9.4m of capital expenditure. Key investments in the year included: 
• £2.2m of investment in modernised decontamination facilities for our endoscopy unit.
• £3m of modernisation of our IT infrastructure to ensure its resilience and create a robust platform for future 

investment in WiFi access. 
• £2.4m of backlog maintenance and building infrastructure works to keep the fabric of the building fit for 

purpose. This included investment in modernising day surgery ventilation and partial completion of refurbishing 
West Newton as a dementia-friendly ward. 

• £1.2m of investment in medical equipment. 

Going Concern
The Trust has considered the situation with regard to ‘going concern’ and after making enquires, the directors 
have a reasonable expectation that The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn, NHS Foundation Trust has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

This assessment is based on the fact that there remains the anticipation of the provision of service in the future, 
as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents. All of the Trust’s principal 
contracted commissioners have signed the NHS Standard Contract for the provision of services at the Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital for 2015/16.

WTE Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

wte wte wte wte wte wte
Medical & Dental 321 30 351 329 20 349 
Executive Directors 5 2 7 5 2 7 
Managers 59 3 62 67 1 68 
Admin & Estates 463 1 464 462 0 462 
Healthcare Assts & other support staff 282 0 282 280 0 280 
Nursing, Midwifery & HV staff 1,253 28 1,281 1,175 20 1,195 
Scientific, therapeutic & technical 337 3 340 342 4 346 
TOTAL 2,720 67 2,787 2,660 47 2,707 

£000 Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

Substantive 
& Bank Staff Agency TOTAL

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Medical & Dental 33,526 6,468 39,994 33,591 4,240 37,831 
Executive Directors 867 915 1,782 1,099 582 1,681 
Managers 4,099 449 4,548 3,831 157 3,988 
Admin & Estates 11,708 106 11,814 11,556 37 11,593 
Healthcare Assts & other support staff 6,539 0 6,539 6,419 0 6,419 
Nursing, Midwifery & HV staff 43,170 1,956 45,126 40,994 1,566 42,560 
Scientific, therapeutic & technical 12,065 151 12,216 12,001 175 12,176 
TOTAL 111,974 10,045 122,019 109,491 6,757 116,248 

Note: The prior-year comparator has been restated to reflect "like for like" clinical service provision and to show the
underlying movement in staffing costs from 2013/14 to 2014/15.

2014/15 2013/14

2014/15 2013/14
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The existence of these contracts and the contractual obligation of the commissioners to pay for the services 
provided, means that the directors have the reasonable expectation that adequate financial resources are available. 
In relationship the deficit position, signed loan agreements exist that enable the Trust to drawdown against a 
working capital facility to support the Trust’s cashflow.

It is for these reasons that the directors continue  
to adopt the ‘going concern’ basis in preparing the  
accounts. 

The Trust’s accounts have been prepared under a  
direction issued by Monitor under the National Health  
Service Act 2006.

Operational Performance
Accident and Emergency 4 hour access target
In the context of increased demand, the Trust has had a challenging year around the delivery of the 95% 4 hour 
access standard, meeting the target in 3 out of 12 months. The Trust has been an active member of the local System 
Resilience Group, helping to ensure community capacity is available and delayed discharges are minimised. This has 
been against the backdrop of a 5.7% growth in year-on-year A&E attendances and a similar increase in the number 
of emergency admissions.

The Trust will continue to work with the rest of the  
health system to improve emergency flow processes in  
and out of the hospital, to improve bed capacity and  
timely admission from the A&E department. 

Cancer access target
While the Trust has consistently met the 14 day and  
31 day standards, the 62 day standard has been missed in two of the year’s quarters. The Trust commissioned  
an external review of its procedures and processes, and has implemented the recommendations of the review.  
The Trust is working towards providing patients with appointments within 7 days, rather than the national standard 
of 14 days.

Some of the clinical teams have been simplifying the pathways for patients in order to save time from referral to 
treatment. The Trust now sends its histology specimens to an external NHS service, and this service is not able to 
meet its contracted response times at present.  The Trust is considering redirecting some of this histology service to 
another provider.

Quarter Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 YTD

Performance 91.58% 93.51% 89.49% 88.06% 90.74%

Leading the way to excellence
Excellent organisations are high performing 
organisations. We will improve significantly 
on how our service and financial perfomance 
compares to other organisations. 

Leading the way to excellence
An excellent organisation has a good 
reputation and we will be positioning 
ourselves to be a stronger partner within  
our healthcare networks.
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18 Week Referral to Treatment Time
The Trust has continuously met the 95% non-admitted target at Trust level and the 92.5% incomplete pathway 
target.

For the 90% admitted pathway, the Trust has maximised its use of the national suspension of the 18 week 
financial penalties and successfully managed its number of patients waiting longer than 18 weeks. This “back 
log” has reduced from 336 patients at the start of the year to 170 at the end. While some challenges still remain 
around particular consultants, this has allowed the Trust to put in place the foundations for a sustainable 18 week 
performance for all specialities from August 2015.

Stroke and TIA Performance
The Trust has made significant improvements in its stroke pathway delivering the 80% of patients spending 90% of 
their time on a stroke ward target. The Trust has achieved two quarters of delivery against this target and placed the 
service on a sustainable footing.

This improvement has also been mirrored in the Trust’s achievement against the 60% TIA treatment within 24 hours. 

target.

Clostridium Difficile
The Trust has worked hard to embed much improved infection control policies and procedures into the everyday 
working of the Trust. This has resulted in a considerable decrease in the number of infections in the last quarter, 
which as the ‘winter’ quarter, is historically a particularly difficult time.

It is believed this is now a sustainable position; however an on-going infection control programme is in place to 
maintain the improved performance.

Community and the Environment
The Trust is one of the largest employers in King’s Lynn and West Norfolk. The Trust participates in apprenticeship 
schemes and Project Search. The Trust values the diversity of its workforce and is an equal opportunities employer. 

The Trust has in place a Sustainable Development Management Plan / Carbon Reduction Management Plan. We 
seek to reduce our energy use overall, by effective control of heating, lighting and cooling across the site, according 
to the needs of the wards, offices etc. and by securing feedback from staff or service users to minimise energy 
waste. 

PC power management software was installed during the 2014/2015 financial year to save energy. 

Quarter Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 YTD

18 weeks performance 85.70% 88.60% 88.30% 90.20% 88.09%

Quarter Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 YTD

Performance 75.91% 73.64% 80.51% 84.00% 78.10%

Quarter Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 YTD

Performance 48.00% 54.90% 73.58% 72.88% 62.91%

Quarter Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 YTD

Cases 8 12 10 3 33

Measure Target Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 YTD

62 Day 85%

Number of cases 159.5 164.5 136.5 181 573

Number of breaches 18.5 25.5 18 37.5 92

Percentage 88.40% 84.50% 86.81% 79.28% 83.94%
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The Hospital Trust has two major initiatives in progress which, when implemented and monitored, will lead to a 
significant reduction of its carbon emissions:
• Two new 500kWe Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plants are to be installed during 2015/16. The CHPs should 

operate at around 80% efficiency to generate both heating and electricity. This is significantly more efficient than 
importing mains electricity and using separate boilers for heating. The CHP plant capacity was designed to provide 
a very high percentage of the Trust’s 24-hour electricity demand. The CHP generation will also reduce the Trust’s 
emissions/tonnes for the CRC costs.

• A wind turbine is to be installed at the installer’s cost, to generate electricity renewably from wind power. The 
installer is contracted to supply 100% of the generated electricity to QEH at a 20% discount.

The Trust’s Workforce
The Directors’ Report highlights the key priorities for improvement arising from the staff survey, namely:
• Our Staff Friends & Family Scores
• The Quality of Our Appraisal Process
• The Health & Wellbeing of Our Workforce
• Engagement and Communication

An action plan is being implemented to address these  
issues, supported by additional information from staff,  
provided at ‘drop in’ sessions. 

The March 2015 directly employed headcount information in the table below shows that the ratio of males to 
females in the Trust’s directly employed workforce is 1:3, in terms of its Board of Directors (voting and non-voting 
Directors) gender ratio is 7:5 (for voting directors the ratio is 1:1). 

In terms of the wider equality and diversity agenda, the Trust remains on track regarding the implementation of  
NHS England’s Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2); the system will be fully implemented by the end of the first quarter 
in 2015/16. As at the end of March 2015, 22.3% of the Trust’s workforce recorded their ethnicity as being from 
a Black Minority Ethnic (BME) Group. The 2011 Census records the local BME population as being 2.7% of the 
total; for Norfolk the total BME population is 3.5%. Currently no Director (Executive/Non-Executive) is from a BME 
background.           

Future Risks
The Trust’s principal risks to the delivery of its objectives have been articulated through the Board Assurance  
Framework in 2014/15: Principal risks to the delivery of the Trust’s Strategic Objectives of ‘Safe Care, Listening  
to Patients, Supporting Staff and Well-Led’ have been identified as follows: 

•  Patients do not receive quality care because safety, outcome and/or experience does not meet our expected 
standards; 

•  Unable to maintain the Trust’s financial viability without significant deterioration in service quality; 
•  Unable to respond to commercial opportunities and/or develop effective partnerships that lead to transformative 

care pathways for patients; 
•  Future patient / service user needs are not best met by Trust business model and structure;
•  Failure to develop appropriate workforce capacity and capability that reflects a culture of excellence; 
•  Unable to maintain, replace, develop (or dispose of) the Trust’s physical infrastructure, including IT and Estate to 

ensure that they remain fit for the future needs of the Trust; and 
•  Unable to retain and/or build and embed leadership capability at all levels within the Trust.

Male Female Total

Board 7 5 12

Senior Managers (Non-Clinical) 29 34 63

All other staff 681 2314 2995

Total 717 2353 3070

Leading the way to excellence
We are well positioned to develop our 
reputation for medical and nursing 
education and to build strong relationships 
with our neighbouring universties and 
colleges. This will enable us to attract local, 
national and international talent.
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The Board has monitored its position in respect of these principal risks at each Board meeting throughout 2014/15.

The Strategic Review 2014/15 has been approved by the Board of Directors.

Signed:

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive and Accounting Officer
26 May 2015
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What is a Foundation Trust?
A Foundation Trust is a Public Benefit Corporation. This means that:

•  The Trust is accountable to the communities we serve through the Governors’ Council and Foundation Trust 
members;

•  Members of the Foundation Trust elect both public and staff representatives from the membership to serve on a 
Governors’ Council;

•  The Trust is independent and accountable direct to Parliament;
• The Trust remains part of the NHS
•  Our key regulators are Monitor (the sector regulator for health services in England) and the Care Quality 

Commission. 

A Foundation Trust has both a Board of Directors and a body to represent the interests of the Foundation Trust 
membership and the community served by the Trust. At The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, this body is called the 
Governors’ Council. The Governors’ Council has a range of statutory, strategic and locally determined functions. 

The Trust operates within a framework of Corporate Governance, which can be defined as ‘the systems, processes 
and behaviours by which the Trust leads, directs and controls its functions in order to achieve organisational 
objectives, safety and quality of service as they relate to patients and carers, the wider community and partner 
organisations’. Department of Health - Integrated Governance Handbook.

The QEH Governance Structure

Compliance with Monitor’s Code of Governance 
Monitor has in place a Code of Governance, which sets out its expectations concerning the Trust’s corporate 
governance arrangements. Schedule A to the Code, sets out the detail of required corporate governance 
disclosures, including those that are reported in this annual report:

• Schedule A1 – Statutory Requirements 
• Schedule A2 – Provisions requiring a supporting explanation (see table below)
• Schedule A3 – Supporting information to be made publicly available (see table below)
• Schedule A4 – Supporting Information to be made available to Governors
• Schedule A5 – Supporting information to be made available to Members
•  Schedule A6 –  Provisions requiring a compliance statement or explanation  

where the Trust has departed from the Code 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the NHS Foundation 
Trust Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most 
recently revised in July 2014, is based on the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012.

How Our Hospital Is Governed

Experience
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At 31 March 2015, the Board of Directors declares compliance with the provisions of Monitor’s Code of 
Governance, Schedule A1 (Statutory Requirements) 

The Trust’s compliance status in respect of Monitor’s Code of Governance, Schedule A2 (Provisions requiring a 
supporting explanation) is set out in the table below:

Provision Provision Summary Supporting Explanation

A.1.1 This statement should also describe how any 
disagreements between the council of gover-
nors and the Board of Directors will be resolved. 
The annual report should include this schedule 
of matters or a summary statement of how the 
Board of Directors and the council of governors 
operate, including a summary of the types of 
decisions to be taken by each of the boards and 
which are delegated to the executive manage-
ment of the Board of Directors. 

The Trust has in place an Engagement Policy, 
which describes how Governors may engage 
with the Board of Directors when they have 
concerns about the performance of the Board 
of Directors, compliance with the Licence Con-
ditions or the welfare of the Trust.
The Trust also has in place a ‘Dispute Resolution 
Procedure’, to deal with disputes relating to the 
Trust’s constitution.
Summary statements concerning how the 
Board and Governors’ Council operate, includ-
ing a summary of the types of decisions taken 
are set out in the Annual Report, in ‘The role 
of the Board of Directors’ and ‘The role of the 
Governors’ Council’ respectively.

A.1.2 The annual report should identify the chair-
person, the deputy chairperson (where there is 
one), the chief executive, the senior independ-
ent director (see A.4.1) and the chairperson 
and members of the nominations, audit and 
remuneration committees. It should also set 
out the number of meetings of the board and 
those committees and individual attendance by 
directors.

See table – ‘The Board of Directors in 2014/15’.

No Vice Chair has been appointed at this 
time. The QE Board is relatively ‘young’ with 1 
interim NED and two newly appointed NEDs. It 
is expected that a Vice Chair will be appointed 
by the Governors’ Council during 2015.

A.5.3 The annual report should identify the members 
of the council of governors, including a descrip-
tion of the constituency or organisation that 
they represent, whether they were elected or 
appointed, and the duration of their appoint-
ments. The annual report should also identify 
the nominated lead governor. 

See table - ‘The Governors’ Council 
composition in 2014/15
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Provision Provision Summary Supporting Explanation

B.1.1 The Board of Directors should identify in the 
annual report each non-executive director it 
considers to be independent, with reasons 
where necessary.

In respect of the criteria set out in Monitor’s 
Code of Governance, all non-executive direc-
tors are judged to be independent in character 
and judgement. No relationships or circum-
stances have been identified, which are likely 
to affect, or could appear to affect, directors’ 
judgement.

B.1.4 The Board of Directors should include in its 
annual report a description of each director’s 
skills, expertise and experience. Alongside this, 
in the annual report, the board should make a 
clear statement about its own balance, com-
pleteness and appropriateness to the require-
ments of the NHS foundation trust. 

See Board of Directors’ Biographies.

The Board is substantively appointed, with the 
exception of one interim NED. 

Succession planning activities have commenced 
with governors, to review the size and compo-
sition of the Board. The findings of this work 
will inform future NED recruitment and will 
ensure that the Board of Directors has in place, 
skills that are balanced and appropriate for the 
delivery of the statutory duties of the Board and 
the Trust’s strategy. 

In 2014/15, the Trust set out its approach to 
addressing the requirements of the CQC’s Fit 
and Proper Person Regulation, as it relates to 
new Board and equivalent appointments and 
existing Board members and equivalents.

B.1.10 A separate section of the annual report should 
describe the work of the nominations com-
mittee(s), including the process it has used in 
relation to board appointments.

See ‘Committees of the Governors’ Council - 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
(Non-Executive Director appointments).

B.3.1 A chairperson’s other significant commitments 
should be disclosed to the council of governors 
before appointment and included in the annual 
report. Changes to such commitments should 
be reported to the council of governors as they 
arise, and included in the next annual report. 

The Chair has no commitments, likely to impact 
on his work with the Trust.

B.5.6 Governors should canvass the opinion of the 
trust’s members and the public, and for ap-
pointed governors the body they represent, 
on the NHS foundation trust’s forward plan, 
including its objectives, priorities and strategy, 
and their views should be communicated to the 
Board of Directors. The annual report should 
contain a statement as to how this requirement 
has been undertaken and satisfied. 

The Trust has participated in a series of ‘listen-
ing events’ related to the Contingency Planning 
Team (CPT) exercise, which have taken place 
across the areas served by the Trust, where it 
has engaged with staff and public FT members 
and the wider community on the position of 
the hospital and future service provision. Gover-
nors have also been involved in the work of 
the CPT Patient and Public Engagement Group, 
which canvassed the opinion of many key pub-
lic stakeholder groups. 
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Provision Provision Summary Supporting Explanation

B.6.1 The Board of Directors should state in the annual 
report how performance evaluation of the board, 
its committees, and its directors, including the 
chairperson, has been conducted. 

In 2014/15, the Board and its governance 
arrangements were subject to an independent 
Quality Governance Assurance Framework 
assessment as part of a Quality Governance 
Review.

Other performance evaluation methodologies 
employed include:

• Self-assessment
• High Performing Board – development 

work with the Board
• ED appraisal
• NED appraisal

The Nomination and Remuneration Com-
mittee (NED appointments) has proposed to 
the Governors’ Council, a 360˚ feedback and 
objective-setting methodology to be used in 
the appraisal of the Chair and NEDs. 

See also ‘Evaluating the Board’s Performance’.

B.6.2 Where an external facilitator is used for reviews 
of governance, they should be identified and a 
statement made as to whether they have any 
other connection with the trust. 

The independent Quality Governance Review 
undertaken in 2014/15 was commissioned 
from KPMG. This was a follow-up review, un-
dertaken 12 months after the initial Novem-
ber 2013 review, also undertaken by a team 
from KPMG. 

KPMG are also the Trust’s external auditors. 

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the 
independence and objectivity of the work of 
the Trust’s external auditor has been safe-
guarded.

C.1.1 The directors should explain in the annual report 
their responsibility for preparing the annual 
report and accounts, and state that they consid-
er the annual report and accounts, taken as a 
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and other stakeholders to assess the 
NHS foundation trust’s performance, business 
model and strategy. There should be a statement 
by the external auditor about their reporting 
responsibilities. Directors should also explain their 
approach to quality governance in the Annu-
al Governance Statement (within the annual 
report). 

See sections on:

- ‘The Directors’ Report’
- ‘The Audit Committee and External Audit’
- ‘The Annual Governance Statement’

C.2.1 The annual report should contain a statement 
that the Board has conducted a review of the 
effectiveness of its system of internal controls.

See: ‘The Annual Governance Statement’.
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Provision Provision Summary Supporting Explanation

C.3.5 If the council of governors does not accept 
the audit committee’s recommendation on the 
appointment, reappointment or removal of an 
external auditor, the Board of Directors should 
include in the annual report a statement from 
the audit committee explaining the recom-
mendation and should set out reasons why 
the council of governors has taken a different 
position.

In January 2014, The Governors’ Council 
approved the extension of the Trust’s contract 
with KPMG for external audit services by two 
years, in accordance with the provisions of the 
original contract.

C.3.9 A separate section of the annual report should 
describe the work of the committee in 
discharging its responsibilities. The report 
should include: 
• the significant issues that the committee 

considered in relation to financial state-
ments, operations and compliance, and 
how these issues were addressed; 

• an explanation of how it has assessed the 
effectiveness of the external audit process 
and the approach taken to the appoint-
ment or re-appointment of the external 
auditor, the value of external audit services 
and information on the length of tenure of 
the current audit firm and when a tender 
was last conducted; and 

• if the external auditor provides non-audit 
services, the value of the non-audit ser-
vices provided and an explanation of how 
auditor objectivity and independence are 
safeguarded.

See ‘The Audit Committee and External Audit’; 
and ‘ The Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Governors’ Council’.

D.1.3 Where an NHS foundation trust releases an 
executive director, for example to serve as a 
non-executive director elsewhere, the remuner-
ation disclosures of the annual report should 
include a statement of whether or not the 
director will retain such earnings. 

Not applicable

E.1.5 The Board of Directors should state in the 
annual report the steps they have taken to 
ensure that the members of the Board, and in 
particular the non-executive directors, develop 
an understanding of the views of governors 
and members about the NHS Foundation Trust, 
for example through attendance at meetings 
of the Council of Governors, direct face-to-face 
contact, surveys of members’ opinions and 
consultations.

See ‘The Role of the Board of Directors’.

E.1.6 The Board of Directors should monitor how 
representative the NHS foundation trust's 
membership is and the level and effectiveness 
of member engagement and report on this in 
the annual report. 

See ‘The Membership Strategy’ and ‘Current 
Foundation Trust Public Membership’.
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In respect of Monitor’s Code of Governance, Schedule A3, the following information is available as indicated:

Provision Provision Summary Availability

A.1.3 The Board of Directors should make available 
a statement of the objectives of the NHS 
foundation trust showing how it intends to 
balance the interests of patients, the local 
community and other stakeholders, and use 
this as the basis for its decision-making and 
forward planning.

Annual Report and on website

B.1.4 A description of each director’s expertise and 
experience, with a clear statement about the 
board of director’s balance, completeness and 
appropriateness.

Annual Report and on website

B.2.10 The main role and responsibilities of the 
nominations committee should be set out in 
publicly available, written terms of reference.

On request and in Annual Report – 
‘Committees of the Governors’ Council’

B.3.2 The terms and conditions of appointment of 
non-executive directors.

On request and in Annual Report

C.3.2 The main role and responsibilities of the 
audit committee should be set out in publicly 
available, written terms of reference.

On request and in Annual Report – ‘The Audit 
Committee and External Audit’

D.2.1 The remuneration committee should make 
available its terms of reference, explaining 
its role and the authority delegated to it by 
the Board of Directors. Where remuneration 
consultants are appointed, a statement should 
be made available as to whether they have any 
other connection with the NHS foundation 
trust.

On request and in the Annual Report – 
‘Committees of the Governors’ Council’.

Search specialists, Saxton Bampfylde were 
commissioned to support the Governors in the 
appointment of the Trust Chair in 2014.  
Saxton Bampfylde also advised on remuneration 
for the Chair. 

Saxton Bampfylde has no other connection 
with the Trust.

E.1.1 The Board of Directors should make available a 
public document that sets out its policy on the 
involvement of members, patients and the local 
community at large, including a description of 
the kind of issues it will consult on.

On request – this policy is due for review

E.1.4 Contact procedures for members who wish to 
communicate with governors and/or directors 
should be made clearly available to members 
on the NHS foundation trust's website.

Website and Annual Report – ‘Contacting the 
Governors’
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Provision Provision Summary Availability

A4 B.7.1 In the case of re-appointment of non-executive 
directors, the chairperson should confirm to the 
governors that following formal performance 
evaluation, the performance of the individual 
proposed for re-appointment continues to be 
effective and to demonstrate commitment to 
the role.

No NEDs have been re-appointed during 
2014/15

A5 B.7.2 The names of governors submitted for election 
or re-election should be accompanied by suffi-
cient biographical details and any other relevant 
information to enable members to take an 
informed decision on their election. This should 
include prior performance information. 

No Governors have been subject to re-election 
during 2014/15.

In respect of Monitor’s Code of Governance, A4 (Supporting Information to be made available to Gover-
nors) and A5 (Supporting information to be made available to Members), the Board of Directors confirms 
that the following information is made available.

In respect of Monitor’s Code of Governance, Schedule A6 (Provisions requiring a compliance statement or 
explanation where the Trust has departed from the Code), the Board declares compliance with all provisions as at 31 
March 2015.

The Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has, during 2014/15, met in public on six occasions. The Board has also met in private where 
its debate has considered commercially sensitive and/or confidential issues. The Board meets in workshop settings to 
undertake strategic planning and development activities.

As at 31 March 2015, the Board of Directors was made up of the Chair, five non-executive directors and four voting 
executive directors. The four voting executive board positions at 31 March were: the Chief Executive; the Director 
of Finance; the Medical Director and the Director of Nursing. The meetings of the Board of Directors have been 
supported by executive portfolio holders, at 31 March 2015: the Chief Operating Officer and the Director of Human 
Resources and Organisational Development, attending in a non-voting capacity. 

The Role of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has a dual role; leadership and control. It has collective responsibility for setting the strategic 
direction of the organisation and for overseeing and ensuring the delivery of its strategy and the performance of the 
organisation.
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Some of the responsibilities of the Board of Directors
•  To ensure that the Trust meets its statutory duties and complies with its terms of authorisation and its constitution; 
•  To ensure that the organisation’s policy framework is developed in accordance with the rights, pledges and 

responsibilities contained in the NHS Constitution;
•  To provide leadership for the organisation in respect of agreed organisational values and standards of conduct, 

in accordance with accepted standards of behaviour in public life, which include the principles of selflessness, 
integrity, objectivity, openness, honesty and leadership (Nolan); 

•  To establish a robust performance management framework and support the Executive team in meeting the 
organisation’s performance targets; monitoring the performance of the Trust and ensuring that the Executive 
Directors manage the Trust within the resources available, in such a way as to: 

 – ensure the quality and safety of healthcare services; 
 – plan for continuous improvement; 
 –  protect the health and safety of Trust employees and all others to whom the Trust owes a duty of care; 
 – utilise Trust resources efficiently and effectively; 
 – promote the prevention and control of Healthcare Associated Infection; 
 – comply with all relevant regulatory, legal and code of conduct requirements; 
 –  maintain high standards of ethical behaviour, corporate governance and personal conduct in the business of the 

Trust; and
 –  maintain the high reputation of the Trust both with reference to local stakeholders and the wider community; 
•  To engage, as appropriate, with the Governors’ Council, in accordance with the statutory and regulatory 

framework.

The Board of Directors and in particular the non-executive directors, have developed an understanding of the views 
of governors and members about the NHS Foundation Trust, for example through:
• Attendance at meetings of the Governors’ Council;
• Attendance at some Governors’ Council Committee meetings;
• Governor attendance at Board of Director meetings;
• Governor representation at some key committee meetings and working groups;
• Governors one-to-one meetings with the Trust Chair.

The Chair and Senior Independent Officer
In a Foundation Trust, the Chair chairs both the Board of Directors and the Governors’ Council. The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital’s constitution makes provision for the Board’s appointment of a Senior Independent Director, who has 
particular duties regarding working with the Governors’ Council and the Board of Directors to address any issues 
where it is inappropriate for the Chair to do so. The Trust’s Senior Independent Director was appointed by the Board 
in January 2015. The appointment was broadly supported by the Governors’ Council.

During the period covered by this Annual Report, the Trust has had two Chairs in office (an interim Chair and from 
July 2014, a substantive Chair). Neither the former nor current Trust Chair has, during their respective periods 
in office, had other significant commitments, which have had an adverse impact on the role of Chair of the 
Foundation Trust. 
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All directors are required to complete and keep up to date, their declarations of Interest, which are recorded in the 
Register of Directors’ Interests. A copy of the register is presented periodically at the Board’s public meetings and is 
available by contacting the Trust Secretary on 01553 613614.

Joss Trout
After graduating from university with an English degree and a first career in the theatre, Joss 
spent 18 years in investment banking - in London, Hong Kong and Tokyo. Joss has held senior 
positions at Swiss Bank Corporation, Nomura and Societe Generale, where he also served on 
the Executive Committee and Board of its Asian operations. Since that time Joss has been an 
active private investor and engaged in occasional advisory activity for start-up companies and 
an educational charity.

John Rees
Dr John Rees, who lives in King’s Lynn, is a former Director of Public Health and has been a 
Board Member at two health authorities and a primary care trust (PCT) in Norfolk. He has also 
been a Trustee at West Norfolk Voluntary & Community Action, Age Concern and MIND.

Lisa Gamble
Lisa Gamble has previously held a Non-Executive Director (NED) role for Norfolk Community 
Health and Care NHS Trust (NCH&C) and Circle Housing Group. Lisa, who lives with her family 
in Norwich, has an MSc in Human Resource Management. She was the former Business 
Manager to the Aviva Chief Executive and has also held senior HR roles in the financial and 
media sector as well as volunteering for The Prince’s Trust for the past 18 years.

Heather Farley
Heather joined the Trust in 2013 and is well-known throughout the West Norfolk area as 
Chief Executive of West Norfolk Voluntary and Community Action, where she has worked 
for more than ten years. After leaving school Heather began nurse training but was forced 
to give up for health reasons. Prior to her current role with WNVCA she worked in registered 
care homes and supported housing.

Ian Pinches
Ian is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) and is also a 
Fellow of the Royal Society for the encouragement of Arts, Manufactures and Commerce 
(FRSA). He owns his own business and his interests outside work include charitable housing. 
Ian chairs the Audit Committee.

Edward Libbey - Chair
Edward Libbey was a Non-Executive Director of NHS Norfolk from October 2006 and 
subsequently the NHS Norfolk and Waveney Cluster Board where he was also Chair of the 
Audit Committee. In July 2012 he was appointed to the Cluster Board of NHS Cambridgeshire 
& Peterborough and as its Audit Committee Chair, until its transfer of responsibilities to the 
CCG and other organisations on 31 March 2013. He was appointed Lay Member, Finance 
for Cambridge and Peterborough CCG wef 1 April 2013. Previously he was the Chair of the 
Learning & Skills Council in Norfolk and on the East of England Regional Council until 2010. 

Register of Directors’ Interests
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Dorothy Hosein - Chief Executive
Dorothy joined the NHS in 2008 as part of David Nicholson’s Leadership programme.
Dorothy has worked in a wide range of roles including strategy, transformation and 
operations. She worked as Chief Operating Officer at Barking, Havering and Redbridge 
University Hospitals Trust (BHRUT), followed by The Royal Free NHS Foundation Trust in 
London.

David Stonehouse - Finance Director & Deputy CEO
David has worked in West Norfolk for many years, starting as a finance trainee at West 
Norfolk and Wisbech Health Authority in 1988. He has undertaken several roles in 
commissioning services across the county and knows the hospital very well. He became 
Finance Director in July 2011 and has recently taken on the role of Deputy Chief Executive. 
David currently has responsibility for finance, performance, estates and hotel services.

Beverly Watson - Medical Director 
Dr Beverley Watson graduated from University College London in 1986 and after working in 
London for a short time, trained in anaesthesia and intensive care in the Oxford region and 
East Anglia. She came to King’s Lynn as a consultant in 1997 and became Lead Clinician for 
the new Arthur Levin Day Surgery Centre. Beverley became a full-time Medical Director for 
the Trust in September 2014.

Catherine Morgan - Director of Nursing
Catherine joined the QEH in November 2013 from Ipswich Hospital where she was Deputy 
Director of Nursing - a post she had previously held at Chelmsford Hospital. She is a 
professional nurse by background and specialised as a renal nurse.

Clive Walsh - Chief Operating Officer (Non-voting)
Clive Walsh joined the Trust in April 2015. He has responsibility for the organisation and 
improvement of services for patients. Clive joined the NHS in 1983, working as a trainee in 
Manchester, Bristol and South Wales. He worked for many years at the Hammersmith Hospital 
in West London (now part of the Imperial Group) and since then in a range of acute hospitals 
around the country. He has been a Chief Operating Officer since 2000, and in the last 6 years 
has worked as an interim COO in large and small hospitals throughout the UK.

Gerry Dryden - Director of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development (Non-voting)
Gerry joined the NHS Regional Administrative Training Scheme straight from Newcastle 
upon Tyne Polytechnic. For the next 12 years he worked in variety of provider trusts; during 
this time he gained his CIPD membership and a MA in Employment Law & Labour Relations 
from Manchester Metropolitan University. Over the last 10 years he has continued to 
work in variety of provider trusts most recently as the Director of Workforce, Education & 
Development with the Birmingham Women’s NHS Foundation Trust. 
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Delegation and the Committees of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors’ Terms of Reference sets out those matters reserved for the Board. The Board delegates 
powers to formally constituted committees, in accordance with its scheme of reservation and delegation. 

Committees reporting and accountable to the Board of Directors at 31 March 2015:
•  The Trust Executive Committee - through which the strategic direction of the Board is communicated to all 

functional areas of the organisation and through which the Board’s strategic direction is translated into tactical 
and operational planning and service delivery;

• The Quality Committee;
• The Finance and Performance Committee;
• The Workforce Committee; 
• The Risk Committee;
• The Health and Safety Committee;
• The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (Executive Director Appointments); and
• The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee and External Audit
The Audit Committee met five times during 2014/15. The purpose of the Audit Committee is to maintain 
oversight of the adequacy of the control environment of the Trust, including those controls related to financial 
reporting procedures and quality. This work involves the monitoring of the effectiveness of internal controls and 
risk management processes. The Audit Committee approves strategies and plans for countering fraud and receives 
reports from the Trust’s NHS Protect representative at each meeting. The Chair of the Audit Committee is a qualified 
accountant.

The Audit Committee approves the work programme and monitors the effectiveness of the Internal Audit function. 
The committee also receives and considers reports and opinion from both Internal and External Auditors. Baker Tilly 
provided the Trust’s Internal Audit function in 2014/15. The Internal Auditors audit a range of both financial and 
quality controls at the Trust and provide levels of assurance accordingly.

The work of the Audit Committee supports the completion of the Annual Governance Statement by the Accounting 
Officer.

The Trust’s external auditor for the period covered by this Annual Report was KPMG. KPMG was appointed as the 
Trust’s external auditors by the Governors’ Council; following a transparent process, which was overseen by a group 
of governors, appointed by the full Council. 

In January 2014, The Governors’ Council approved the extension of the Trust’s contract with KPMG for external 
audit services, by two years, in accordance with the provisions of the original contract. 

KPMG has been commissioned to undertake additional advisory work with the Trust during 2014/15. The 
Audit Committee is satisfied that the independence and objectivity of the work of the Trust’s external auditor is 
safeguarded.
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Evaluating the Board’s Performance 
The Board of Directors utilises a number of methods to evaluate the performance of the Board and its committees.

In 2014/15, the Board and its governance arrangements were subject to an independent Quality Governance 
Assurance Framework assessment as part of a Quality Governance Review.

Other performance evaluation methodologies employed include:
• Self-assessment;
• ‘High Performing Board’ – independently facilitated development work with the Board;
• Executive Director appraisal;
• Non-Executive Director appraisal; and
•  Performance evaluation of the Audit Committee – utilising the model criteria of NHS Audit Committee Handbook 

which is reported to the Board

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NED appointments) has recommended to the Governors’ Council, a 
revised 360˚ feedback and objective-setting methodology to be used in the appraisal of the Chair and NEDs. 

The Constitution
The Trust’s constitution sets out the governance arrangements for the organisation. The Trust’s constitution is 
published on the Trust’s website in the Corporate Governance section. The Trust’s Constitution Working Group 
has reviewed the provisions of the Constitution in 2014/15 and has made proposals for some changes. Proposed 
changes will be recommended for approval by the Board of Directors, the Governors’ Council and the Members (at 
the Annual Members’ Meeting) where the proposed revisions pertain to the powers or duties of the Governors. 
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Director
1st April 2014 - 31st March 2015

Date of 
end of 
current 
NED terms 
of office

Audit Committee
4 meetings

Nomination and 
Remuneration  
Committee (ED  
Appointments)  
3 meetings

Meetings 
attended 
out of 9 
Board of 
Director 
(Ordinary) 
Meetings 
inc. March 
2015

Edward Libbey Non-Executive Direc-
tor (NED) and Trust Chair - from 01 
July 2014

Jul 2017 Chair 2/2 8/8

David Dean, NED and Interim Trust 
Chair - until 22 June 2014

 2/2  1/1 1/1

Victoria Holliday – NED and Chair 
of Quality Committee – until 31 July 
2014

 3/3  1/1 1/2

Ian Pinches – NED from 12 Novem-
ber 2012
Chair of Audit Committee 

Dec 2015 Chair 5/5  3/3 9/9

Heather Farley – NED from 01 June 
2013
Chair of Workforce & Charitable 
Funds Committees

Jun 2016  4/4  3/3 5/9

Joss Trout – Interim NED from 03 
March 2014
Chair of Finance & Performance 
Committee

N/A  4/5  3/3 8/9

John Rees – NED from 08 September 
2014
Chair of Quality Committee

Sep 2017  0/2  2/2 6/7

Lisa Gamble – NED from 08 Septem-
ber 2014

Sep 2017  2/2 5/7

Manjit Obhrai
Interim Chief Executive Officer - until 
21 November 2014 

3/4  0/2 4/4

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) from 10 
November 2014
Voting Executive Director
- Formerly Interim Chief Operating 
Officer 

1/1  1/1 8/8

David Stonehouse
Director of Finance, Deputy CEO
Voting Executive Director

5/5 9/9

The Board of Directors and Supporting Executive Portfolio Holders - 2014/15
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Beverly Watson
Medical Director
Voting Executive Director

7/8

Catherine Morgan
Director of Nursing
Voting Executive Director - from 18 
June 2014
- formerly Interim Director of Nursing

6/9

Gerry Dryden
Director HR & OD - from 01 Decem-
ber 2014
Supporting executive portfolio-holder

4/4

Robert Heywood
Chief Operating Officer - from 01 
November 2014 until 31 March 2015
Supporting executive portfolio-holder 

4/5

Barbara Cummings
Director of Planning & Performance - 
until 31 August 2014
Supporting executive portfolio-holder

0/2

Mark Blunt 
Medical Director - until 31 August 
2014

3/5

Charles Bellringer
Interim Turnaround Director - until 07 
May 2014
Supporting executive portfolio-holder

1/1 0/0

Andrew Stenton 
Interim Chief Operating Officer - until 
04 July 2014
Supporting executive portfolio-holder

1/1

Mark Vaughan
Interim Director HR & OD - until 30 
November 2014
Supporting executive portfolio-holder

5/5 1/1 5/5

Louise Proctor 
Director of Strategy and Transforma-
tion - until 25 May 2014
Supporting executive portfolio

0/0

Wendy Cookson
Interim Director of Quality Improve-
ment - until 06 November 2014
Supporting executive portfolio-holder

2/4

KEY:
 =Committee member

No longer serving on the Board of Directors
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The Governors’ Council:
• Appoints the Chair and non-executive directors to the Board of Directors;
• Sets the remuneration of the Chair and non-executive directors;
•  Approves the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer (The current CEO appointment was approved by the 

Governors’ Council in October 2014);
• Appoints the auditor;
• Influences decisions about developing services.

Statutory duties for governors:
•  To hold the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance of the Board of 

Directors; and
• To represent the interests of Foundation Trust members as a whole and the interest of the public.

Governors:
• Have the right to receive board agendas and minutes;
•  Can require directors to attend a meeting to obtain information about Foundation Trust performance or director 

performance;
•  Vote to approve: 

- Constitutional changes; 
- A merger, acquisition, dissolution or separation; 
- An increase by more than 5% of the Foundation Trust’s non-NHS income.

Advice and training for governors:
•  Foundation Trusts are required to ensure their governors have the skills and knowledge needed to carry out their 

roles;
•  Monitor has established a panel to give advice to governors – more than half of the governors would need to 

approve a referral to the panel.

The Governors’ Council is not responsible for the day-to-day running of the Trust. 

At 31 March 2015, there were 31 governor seats on The Governors’ Council of The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital. The Governors’ Council is made up as follows:

17 Elected Public Governors
• 9 from West Norfolk
• 2 from North Norfolk (1 seat currently vacant, following a resignation)
• 1 from Breckland 
• 1 from South East Lincolnshire & the Rest of England (RoE)
• 4 from North East Cambridgeshire 

6 Elected Staff Governors
•  3 Clinical
•  3 Non-Clinical

8 Appointed Governors
• Norfolk County Council (statutory)
• King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council
• Breckland District Council
• West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group
• The University of East Anglia 
• The College of West Anglia 
• West Norfolk Voluntary & Community Action
• Freebridge Community Housing (from February 2014)

The Role of the Governors’ Council
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Constituency / 
Area

Governors to 
Elect

Nominations Turnout Elected Term

PUBLIC

Breckland 1 2 27.5% Clive Monk 3yrs

Meetings of the Governors’ Council

The Governors’ Council has met (ordinary meetings), five times during 2014/15 (including the Annual Members’ 
Meeting). The meetings took place in public. 

The Governors’ Council has also met at extraordinary meetings as necessary throughout the year.

The dates and venues for the Governors’ Council meetings in 2015/16 can be found on the QEH website in the 
Governors’ Council section. Alternatively, members can contact the Foundation Trust Office on 01553 613142 for 
details.

The Lead Governor, nominated by the Governors, has a particular role as point of contact with Monitor on behalf of 
the Governors’ Council, should this prove necessary. She also works with the Chair in drafting the forward plan and 
agendas for the meetings of the Governors’ Council.

Committees of the Governors’ Council
The Governors’ Council may not delegate its powers. However, it has set up five committees to assist in the delivery 
of some of its statutory functions. All of these committees have met regularly throughout the year and have 
developed challenging work programmes: 

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (Non-Executive Director appointments) – to make 
recommendations to the Governors’ Council regarding the appointment and remuneration of non-executive 
directors. The committee is chaired by the Trust Chair (except when considering the appointment or remuneration 
of the Chair) and is comprised of governors. 

In 2014/15, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee recommended the appointment of the Trust’s Chairman, 
and two preferred non-executive director candidates to the Governors’ Council for approval. The Governors’ Council 
approved all appointments. 

2014/15 Election report 
In May 2014 the Trust held an election in the Breckland Constituency. Governor elections were held in accordance 
with the election rules set out in the Trust’s Constitution, to enable members to elect a candidate to this vacancy on 
the Governors’ Council. The election was independently overseen by Electoral Reform Services.
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The Membership and Communications Committee – to work on the delivery of the Membership Strategy and 
to support engagement and communication with the members.

In 2014/15, The Committee continued to work to increase the public membership and to address some areas 
of underrepresentation in the public membership profile, through targeted recruitment. Once again successful 
collaboration with the College of West Anglia enabled wider representation with younger people

To assist with communicating with members and the wider public, the Committee has nominated members to 
participate on the editorial panel of the Trust’s newsletter and has developed an engagement strategy, which 
includes a programme of healthcare events for members.

The Patient Experience Committee – to undertake work and make recommendations through the Governors’ 
Council to help ensure that the patient perspective is understood and considered when the Trust’s services are being 
planned and reviewed.

The Patient Experience Committee has undertaken a wide range of activities throughout 2014/15:
•  Involvement in PLACE (Patient Lead Assessments of the Environment);
•  Inspection / additional ward and department inspections;
•  Nursing Interview panel work;
•  Engagement with Norfolk Healthwatch;
•  Involvement in Mock CQC Inspections;
•  Liaison with Matrons and Leads across all specialties / wards;
•  Review of Patient Experience information drawn from a variety of sources.

The Business Committee – to discuss with executive and non-executive directors, the Trust’s engagement with 
Monitor and to undertake detailed work in respect of finance, strategic planning and business decisions requiring 
Governors’ Council approval. The Business Committee will make recommendations to the Governors’ Council as 
appropriate.

Governors have also been involved as the representatives of the patient and the public in a variety of areas of the 
Trust’s work, including:

• The development of relationships and formal liaison with West Norfolk Patient Partnership, affiliated GP Patient 
Participation Groups in West Norfolk and GP Patient Participation Groups in other areas served by the Trust; 

• PLACE Inspection(s);
• Involvement in CQC Compliance Audits;
• Patient and Public Engagement Meetings;
• Governors’ Council Meetings;
• Listening Events; and
• 2gether Events
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West Norfolk (9)

Robin Broke (re-elected Feb 2013) 3/1 5/5 

Steve Clark (elected Feb 2014) 3/2 5/5 

Esmé Corner OBE (re-elected Feb 2014) 
(Lead Governor)

3/2 4/5   Chair 

Jonathan Dossetor (re-elected Feb 2014) 3/2 4/5 Chair  

Michael Drew (elected Feb 2013) 3/1 5/5   

Penny Hipkin (re-elected Feb 2014) 3/2 3/5  

Barrie Taylor (re-elected Feb 2014) 3/2 5/5 

David Trevanion (re-elected Feb 2013) 3/1 5/5  Chair

Pat Watts (elected Feb 2013) 3/1 5/5   

Cambridgeshire (4)

Jenny Brodie (elected Feb 2013) 3/1 3/5 

William Jarvis (re-elected Feb 2013) 3/1 1/5 

Kevin Kanolty (re-elected Feb 2014) 3/2 1/5  

Betty Lewis (re-elected Feb 2014) 3/2 5/5  

Breckland (1) Clive Monk (elected April 2014) 3/2 4/4  

SE Lincs & Rest of Eng. (1) Peter Clery (elected Feb 2014) 3/2 5/5

North Norfolk (2)
Linda Pattrick (elected Feb 2013) – stood 
down Feb 2015)

3/1 2/5 

Tony Waldron (elected Feb 2013) 3/2 1/5  

Staff 
Clinical (3)

Rupert Calleja (re-elected Feb 2013) 3/2 1/5  

Julie Calton (elected from June 2014) 3/2 3/4 

Claire Kent (re-elected Feb 2014) stood 
down June 2014

3/2 0/1  

Nigel Tarratt (elected Feb 2013) 3/2 5/5  

Staff 
Non-Clinical (3)

Ian Bruce (elected Feb 2013) 3/2 3/5   

Sarah Davidson (elected Feb 2013) 3/2 4/5  

Dave Coe (re-elected Feb 2014) 3/2 4/5  

8 Appointed Governors

BCKL&WN Cllr Tony Lovett 3 4/5

Breckland Cllr David Williams 3 4/5 

College of West Anglia Andrew Gedge – from March 2014 3 4/5 

Freebridge Community 
Housing

Mr Ray Johnson 3 4/5

Norfolk County Council
Cllr David Collis – stood down Nov 2014 3 2/4  

Cllr John Dobson – from November 2014 3 1/1 

West Norfolk CCG Rev. Hilary De Lyon 3 5/5 

WNVCA Jane Evans (Carers' Association) 3 4/5  

UEA Brigitte Nelson – from April 2014 3 2/4

Key: Governors no longer serving on the Governors’ Council

Meetings attendance includes the September Annual Members’ Meeting as appropriate.

The Governors’ Council composition in 2014/15
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All governors have made a declaration of interest and have signed copies of the Trust’s Code of Conduct for 
Governors. The Register of Governors’ interests can be accessed by contacting the Trust Secretary on 01553 
613614.

Contacting the Governors
Members and the public can contact the governors at FTGovernor@qehkl.nhs.uk or by post at the following 
address:

The Foundation Trust Office
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital
Gayton Road
King’s Lynn
PE30 4ET

The Foundation Trust Membership and The Membership Strategy
Membership of the Foundation Trust is free and members have a real chance to influence the development of the 
hospital and its services.

What does being a Foundation Trust Member entail?
Foundation Trust members can become as involved as they want to be. 
Foundation Trust members:
• Receive a regular newsletter to keep them up to date with the latest hospital developments and   

information;
• Are invited to special Foundation Trust member healthcare events;
• Are able to attend Governors’ Council meetings, which are also open to the general public;
• Are invited to vote in governor elections;
• Are able to stand for election as a governor;
• Are able take part in forums and focus groups; and
• Are able to apply to become a non-executive director (public members only).
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Who can become a Member?
Membership of the Foundation Trust is free and is open to patients, the public and NHS staff. Becoming a 
Foundation Trust member shows that you are interested in the hospital and its future. 

Membership is open to most people over the age of 16 living or working within the Trust’s catchment area, which is 
principally:
• West Norfolk
• Part of North Norfolk
• Part of Breckland 
• Part of northern Cambridgeshire, and
• Part of south-east Lincolnshire 

Membership is also open to people who live outside the area, but who have an interest in the Trust.

Members of Staff
Because the Trust appreciates and values its staff, they are automatically members of the Foundation Trust and do 
not need to apply for membership. Members of staff who do not wish to be a member can choose to opt out. 
 
How do I apply to become a member?
There are a number of ways to apply for Foundation Trust membership:

The easiest way is to apply on-line by visiting the Trust’s website, where you will find an on-line application form in 
the Foundation Trust section.

E-mail: FT.membership@qehkl.nhs.uk and we’ll send out an application form in the post.

Write to:

The Foundation Trust Office
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn
Gayton Road
King’s Lynn
Norfolk PE30 4ET

You can also call the Foundation Trust Office on 01553 613142 for information about Foundation Trust 
Membership.

The Membership Strategy
The Trust achieved a public membership of 6,953 by the end of 2014/15.
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The QEH
Public Constituency

Members
31 March 2014

Members
31 March 2015

Gender

Male
Female
Total

2775
3855
6630

2859
4094
6953

Constituency

Breckland
Cambridgeshire
North Norfolk
SE Lincs & ROE
West Norfolk

548
613
337
892

4240

562
636
345
918

4492

Age

16-21
22-29
30-39
40-49
50-59
60-74
75+
Not stated

744
318
433
610
772

1834
1259
660

885
324
471
622
779

1845
1371
656

Ethnicity

White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British
Other
Not stated

 6168
27
50
16
18

351

6481
28
60
23
19

342

Current Foundation Trust Public Membership
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The Board of Directors for The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust is pleased to present its 
Quality Account for 2014/15. Following a period in which the Trust has examined its entire approach to delivering a 
high quality healthcare service to the local community, this Quality Account provides an opportunity to demonstrate 
how the Trust has now established firm foundations for improvement and is working together as a united 
organisation to build quality into every aspect of its services.

The Trust remains in ‘special measures’ following its last Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in June 2014 
but is focused on making those improvements that will not only reverse this position but equally importantly, 
will ensure a sustainable future in which the Trust can be confident that patients at all times will receive care and 
treatment that is safe, effective and provided with respect and compassion.

In order to support achieving this aim the organisation has identified and embraced a core set of values which 
describe the qualities that we expect in each other and which underpin a positive patient experience. The Trust 
began with the four core values of pride, curiosity, courage and compassion but we have recently added the new 
value of ‘responsibility’ to this group. This additional value reflects the expectation on all of us to ensure each and 
every day that we strive to deliver a high quality service that provides an excellent patient experience.

During 2014/15 the Trust strengthened its leadership with the appointment of a substantive Board and this has 
enabled the Trust to move forward with commitment and a clear executive voice. The executive has worked with 
the clinical directors to review and refresh our Quality Strategy so that it reflects the Trust’s vision for improvement 
and in doing so identifies those quality priorities that will lead to sustainable quality improvement.

 This Quality Account sets out how the Trust has:
• Developed its governance and accountability both within its clinical services and the organisation as a whole
• Delivered its quality priorities for 2014/15
• Utilised learning from complaints, PALS enquiries, incidents and from direct feedback through patient and staff 

surveys to ensure that areas for improvement are identified and acted upon and that lessons learnt are shared 
within the organisation

• Performed in relation to its core clinical indicators and CQUIN activity
• Set out its quality priorities for 2015/16 based on the newly developed Quality Strategy

In 2014/15 the Trust continued to move forward with the work undertaken in 2013/14 to address those areas of 
non-compliance with its quality outcomes as identified by the Care Quality Commission and to set in train a period 
of transformation in which the Trust has reviewed numerous areas of its daily operations and practices to ensure 
they are effective, efficient, based on quality measures and fit for purpose into the future. 

Within this programme of change and transformation the organisation has:
• Consolidated its investment in the recruitment of medical staff, registered and non-registered nurses and midwives 

to ensure the Trust has the capacity to deliver its commissioned services. This has included specific investment in:
 Medical staffing within emergency care and frail elderly services
 Registered and non-registered nurse staffing in high acuity areas within medicine
 Registered and non-registered nurse and midwifery staffing in neonatal, maternity and paediatric services.

• Focused on meeting the training needs of staff to ensure that staff are equipped with the skills and knowledge 
required for a modern, high quality, patient-centred service. This has included:
 A review of mandatory training to ensure we are providing the up to date knowledge staff require
  The provision of additional specific training and guidance in areas such as dementia care, breakaway skills and 

safeguarding
 The opening of a fully staffed Simulator Suite for multi-professional training.

• Committed to the refurbishment of clinical areas so that they provide the best clinical environment for the delivery 
of care and treatment. This has included:
  A complete re-design and refurbishment of the Emergency Department with the recent opening of a dedicated 

paediatric area and earlier provision of an observation bay, ambulance triage area and bereavement suite.
• Responded to the challenge of meeting the needs of an increasingly frail and elderly patient group. This has 

included:
  Re-designating one of the medical wards as Windsor Ward, providing multi-disciplinary care and treatment for 

the frail elderly
 Commencing a programme of refurbishment for West Newton Ward to create a dementia-friendly inpatient area.

Part 1: Statement on Quality 
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• Modernised the Decontamination Unit with a capital investment of 2.2 million to bring the unit to the required 
standards to meet the Royal College of Physician’s Joint Advisory Group standards for decontamination.

• Listened to our patients and the public and invested in improving the capacity, safety and condition of the car 
park, entrance roads and pedestrian paths.

• Worked with our commissioners, health and social care partners and other key stakeholders as part of the 
Contingency Planning Team led by McKinsey that reviewed all patient pathways and services and sought to 
identify the changes and developments required across the whole health economy to deliver health care in the 
coming years. We look forward to receiving their report in the next few months.

The Trust has successfully delivered improvements or maintained standards in many of its quality priorities identified 
in last year’s Quality Account, especially in the following areas:
• Significant improvement in the prevention of C. difficile infections (4 cases in Jan-Feb-March 2015 compared to 

24 for the same period in 2014. 
• A continued reduction in mortality across the Trust measured in terms of both RAMI and in-hospital SHMI.  

This is in line with other Trusts.
• A continued reduction in hospital-acquired pressure ulcers.
• An improvement in response rates for the Friends and Family Test so that the Trust achieved its CQUIN 

(Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) target in March 2015.
• An improved focus on listening and learning from complaints, reported to the Board each month within the Board 

Integrated Performance.
• Improvements to the clinical environment in the Emergency Department, Windsor Ward and the Neonatal Unit.
• Improved response rate in the Staff Friends and Family Test.
• Embedding of changes to structures and processes for ensuring clinical quality and governance.
• Challenges still remain and the Trust is continuing to focus on those quality areas which were less successful. 

This includes:
• Achieving improvements in patient flow on the clinical pathway for emergency patients. In April 2015 we held a 

‘Breaking the Cycle’ initiative to concentrate everyone on delivering the process changes throughout the pathway 
that will lead to improvement.

• Improving the recommendation scores on both the patient and staff Friends and Family test by listening to both 
and responding to concerns and comments with action and change.

• Reducing the number of medication errors.

The Trust has balanced its approach on improving services with an increased emphasis on listening to patients so 
that when patients’ experience, care and treatment that does not meet the standards we hope to provide, we 
learn from our mistakes and put in place changes to ensure improvement and change. The strengthening of the 
incident reporting and investigating process and the complaints procedure has this year led to many changes and 
improvements to services as illustrated in this Quality Account and will continue to be our approach into 2015/16.

The Trust is about to launch its Quality Strategy for 2015/17 and the Board is committed to delivering its aims and 
objectives and to continue to improve and strengthen the quality of our services so that the Trust provides the local 
community with the health care service it expects and deserves.

I hereby state that to the best of my knowledge the information contained within this Quality Account is accurate.

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive
26 May 2015
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The Trust has built on the considerable changes to its reporting structures and clinical governance arrangements that 
were put in place in 2013/14. The Board has been strengthened with the substantive appointment of a new Chair 
and Chief Executive and the appointment for the first time within the Trust of a full-time Medical Director.

The committee changes have embedded at both a divisional and organisational level and there is a clear level of 
accountability from individual specialties through their Service Line Quality and Business Boards and Divisional 
structures through to the Board (see Fig. 1 Governance Structure).

The Integrated Performance report provides a vehicle for monitoring and reporting on financial, operational 
and quality performance and provides the entire organisation with an opportunity to monitor and engage in 
improvements and failings in performance. The Chairs’ Key Issues format provides a process for ensuring that 
matters are escalated through the committee structure whether for information, assurance or action.

During 2014/15 the Trust more closely aligned the Clinical Governance functions of complaints, serious incident 
management, risk management and legal services with its Divisional structures and in doing so emphasised local 
accountability and responsibility with a broader approach to organisational learning.

The Trust continues to participate in regular monthly Clinical Quality Review Meetings with its commissioners in 
which the Trust is monitored and challenged on the quality of its services and it performance across a wide range of 
quality measures.

How the Board of Directors Monitors Quality
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Incident Reporting and Never Events
Within the Trust, patient safety forms part of a complex system involving building the right organisational culture 
and teams, implementing effective systems and processes, educating and training our staff and engaging with 
patients and families. Assurance is gained through the continuous measurement and monitoring of outcomes 
which result from our activity both qualitative (e.g. patient experience, complaints, compliments) and quantitative 
(statistics). Benchmarking or comparison with other similar organisations helps us to judge how safe we are. 

The Trust continues to see an increase in incident reporting year on year, suggesting that staff are confident to 
report and it has become part of normal practice. The percentage of incidents resulting in severe harm or death has 
slightly decreased.

The Trust reported 3,658 incidents between 01 April 2014 and 30 September 2014. This is a rate of 53.36 per 
1,000 bed days, against a median reporting rate for the cluster of 140 Trusts of 35.1 incidents per 1,000 bed days 
(Ref: National Reporting & Learning System (NRLS) data April 2015). The Trust therefore remains one of the top 
reporters; acknowledged to be indicative of a good safety culture.

Comparative data on number and severity of incidents from NRLS  
(1st April 2014 – 30th September 2014):

The NPSA data (above) shows that the Trust reported 10% more `no harm` incidents or near misses than other Trusts 
however, there were significantly fewer harm-related incidents. 

The total number of serious incidents declared in the last 4 years remains stable, with variation seen in the increased 
number of Never Events and `other` serious incidents. Work has continued in the last year to improve the validity 
and reliability of the incident monitoring process combined with a lowered tolerance level. This will have had an 
impact on serious incident identification and reporting rates. 

Patient Safety Incidents 1.4.13 to 31.3.14 1.4.14 to 31.3.15

Total number of incidents 7920 8098

% of incidents resulting in severe 
harm or death

1.16% 1.08%
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Other Si’s 1.4.14 - 31.3.15 

Serious Incidents in 2014 by category (excluding pressure ulcers):

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Pressure Ulcers 4 64 69 52

Never Events 2 3 0 7

Falls 17 13 10 11

Other Serious Incidents 2 6 13 18

Total SIs 22 88 92 88

Incident date
STEIS Date reported 

externally
Adverse event

28/01/2015 29/01/2015 Implementation & on-going monitoring/review - other

26/11/2014 28/11/2014 Medicine not administered

03/11/2014 05/11/2014 Failure to act on adverse symptoms

03/09/2014 12/09/2014 Delay or failure to monitor

17/07/2014 29/08/2014 Failure to act on adverse symptoms

18/08/2014 20/08/2014 Breach of patient confidentiality

06/08/2014 11/08/2014 Medicine not administered

18/06/2014 04/08/2014 Inadequate handover of care

17/07/2014 17/07/2014 Delay or failure to monitor

08/06/2014 09/06/2014 Medicine not administered

13/05/2014 19/05/2014 Delay or failure to monitor

28/04/2014 19/05/2014 Failure to act on adverse test results or images

04/05/2014 12/05/2014 Medicine not administered

09/05/2014 12/05/2014 Neonatal death

05/09/2013 22/04/2014 Operation or procedure wrongly sited

14/04/2014 15/04/2014 Cardiac arrest

10/05/2013 15/04/2014 Failure to act on adverse symptoms

19/06/2014 16/03/2015 Failure to follow-up
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Never Events reported in 2014:

NEVER EVENTS 1.4.14 - 31.3.15 

Incident date STEIS Date reported 
externally

Adverse event

04/08/2014 04/12/2014 Never Event - Wrong site surgery

29/10/2014 30/10/2014 Never Event - Retained foreign object post-operation

09/10/2014 29/10/2014 Never Event - Wrong site surgery

20/10/2014 24/10/2014 Never Event - Air embolism - severe harm or death

15/07/2014 22/07/2014 Never Event - Retained foreign object post-operation

23/04/2014 24/04/2014 Never Event - Maladministration of insulin - severe harm or death

09/04/2014 10/04/2014 Never Event - Wrong gas administered - severe harm or death

Incident Reporting and Never Events
Following the thorough investigation of incidents and identification of root causes the Trust ensures that changes to 
practice are implemented. Examples include:

• The use of a mirror and photography in Dermatology to confirm with the patient the site of (hidden) lesions to be 
excised prior to procedure

• Use of suture packs in Central Delivery Suite to prevent the possibility of a retained vaginal swab
• Introduction of staff guidance for use in the event of a disconnected haemofiltration line
• Introduction of a secondary pack checking process in sterile services and pack check list to include a high risk 

indicator warning for theatre staff
• Diabetic Specialist nurses’ service extended to provide support 6 days a week
• Improved access to images such as scans pre-operatively and a mandate to review all scans on the day of 

procedure
• Extension of use of the WHO checklist to all areas undertaking invasive procedures (i.e. external to theatre areas)
• Rock & Roll campaign focusing on pressure ulcer reduction including `100 days free` initiative

Complaints and Compliments
The PALS (Patient Advice and Liaison Service) and Complaints team have continued to build on the work that was 
undertaken last year to increase the accessibility of the team to both the public and members of staff and to raise 
the profile of the service so that patients and the public are aware of the support that is available to address their 
concerns.

The PALS team acts as the first point of call and its presence within the entrance area of the hospital has 
encouraged members of the public to utilise the service for information and general enquiries as well as turning to 
the team when concerns or problems arise. Requests for information have been the key reason for speaking to PALS 
but within the top ten categories recorded, 183 members of the public have sought advice about how to complain:

Subject Sub-Subject Total

Information Information / Advice Request 1562

Appointments Enquiry/Concerns 395

Car Parking Car parking 339

Travel Issues Travel Expenses 274

Wishes to complain Complaints process 183

Environment Loss of Personal Property 157

Information Access to Health Records 109

Quality of Care Discharge Arrangements 86

Access Directions 70

Appointments Informal Complaint 63
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The PALS team has endeavoured to see this as an opportunity to try and address the complainant’s concerns 
immediately but where this is not possible complainants are directed to the Complaints team and the more formal 
process.

During the year from April 2014 to March 2015, 537 complaints were received by the Trust. This was a 7% decrease 
on the previous year. The Complaints Department continues to focus on meeting the needs of the complainant 
through listening to the issues raised and assisting the complainant in having their concerns appropriately 
investigated and responded to in a satisfactory manner. This may be through a formal investigation and a written 
response or by attending a meeting with the members of staff involved. The Trust this year has placed an increased 
emphasis on seeing complaints as a source of valuable learning and a true insight into patient experience. Where 
remedial action is required this is addressed as soon as possible and changes to process and practice are shared with 
the complainants. 

Information from complaints and PALS enquiries is collected on an electronic database and reported within the 
quality section of the Integrated Performance report. Within this report learning from local resolution meetings is 
identified and the follow up action described. This report is submitted to the Board on a monthly basis and then 
disseminated throughout the organisation via various governance committees and Divisional and Service Line 
meetings. More detailed analysis and discussion on complaints takes place at the meetings of the Patient Experience 
Steering Group.

The top themes for complaints remain consistent from year to year although overall numbers within each category 
do vary. Failures in communication and staff attitude remain the top two reasons for people to complain although 
there has been some improvement year on year in the number of complainants that have cited poor communication 
as the main cause of their complaint:

Work has continued to embed the Trust’s values and behaviours in staff. Following the initial training programme 
in which all staff attended training on values and behaviours, further reminders and updates have reinforced this 
message throughout the year and the values underpin the Trust’s Quality Strategy for 2015 – 2017. All staff new 
to the Trust receive training on values and behaviours on induction and it is reflected in other training sessions on 
handling complaints, conflict resolution and caring for patients with mental illness or dementia.

The Trust is intending to strengthen the complaints handling process during 2015 through the introduction of 
Datixweb. This mirrors the system for managing incidents and will allow the organisation to electronically track the 
complaints investigation and response process and will clearly assign responsibility for handling each complaint and 
ensure follow up and remedial action where required. It is expected that this will help to improve response times 
as currently the Trust does not always succeed in ensuring that a response letter is sent within the 30 working day 
timeframe. The new system is currently being piloted within the Complaints Department and will be rolled out 

Comparison of Top 10 Complaints Themes
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throughout the organisation by the end of July 2015. It is also hoped that this will better enable the Complaints 
Department to link information from complaints and concerns and support learning and quality improvement within 
the organisation.

Although the majority of complaints are received either in writing or from the individual in person an increasing 
number are now submitted electronically as an email. This has helped provide a ‘seven day’ service in which 
complainants are able to express their concerns immediately and the department is able to address these promptly 
on the next working day.

The Trust attempted to capture complainants’ satisfaction with the complaints handling process with the 
introduction of questionnaires to complainants after the process was completed but take up of this opportunity was 
poor and the department is looking at new ways of determining satisfaction with the process at the time of the 
complaint.

In 2014 Healthwatch Norfolk undertook a review of the complaints handling process in health care organisations. 
This review included a survey of complainants from the preceding six months. The report identified a number 
of areas of good practice within the health care organisations, which it shared as an opportunity for system-
wide learning. The Queen Elizabeth Hospital was cited three times in the report for areas of good practice which 
included:

• The provision of an easy read version of the complaints leaflet
• Providing terms of reference for members of the public attending local resolution meetings
• Providing guidance to staff on the format of a response letter

Every effort is made to ensure local resolution of concerns but complainants are informed that they may seek 
redress via the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) should they remain dissatisfied with the Trust’s 
response to their concerns. In 2014 /15 the PHSO chose to investigate five cases and of these five cases, two remain 
under investigation and three were not upheld.

In contrast to complaints the Trust does receive a significant number of compliments either in writing to the Chief 
Executive or to individual staff members. Many postings on NHS Choices also reflect complimentary thanks and 
appreciation. Compliments are always shared with the staff and departments concerned and equally contribute to 
staff learning by reinforcing the importance and value of providing a quality service. In 2014/15 the Trust recorded 
2037 compliments received within the Trust and this represents an increase on the previous year:



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust - Quality Account 2014/15 57

2.1 Priorities for improvement 2014/15
In 2014/15 our overarching quality improvement priorities were focused on key areas of quality where performance 
had not met the standard expected or was considered to have deteriorated.

These priorities aligned to areas of concern that had been identified by the CQC and formed the basis for an overall 
Quality Improvement Plan. The Trust identified the requirement to ‘put patients first in everything we do’ as the key 
priority and under this mantle we then aimed to:

• Deliver safe care
• Listen to patients
• Support our staff
• Be well-led

In order to measure improvement against these four priority areas the following quality indicators were identified:

Delivering safe care
• Reduce the number of healthcare associated infections relating to hospital acquired clostridium difficile infections;
• Reduce the number of patients experiencing harm as a result of avoidable hospital acquired pressure ulcers;
• Preventing avoidable mortality.

Listening to patients
• Improve the patient experience measured by the Friends and Family Test;
• Use learning from compliments and complaints to enhance the quality of the services we offer our patients;
• Ensuring the environment is appropriate for clinical care and a positive patient experience.

Supporting our staff
• Improve staff experience measured by the staff surveys and Friends and Family Test;
• Embed our values and behaviours of ‘Responsibility, Courage, Compassion, Pride and Curiosity’ throughout the 

organisation.
• Ensuring we have the right people, with the right skills, in the right place, at the right time.

Well-led Trust
• Ensure our quality governance structures and processes enable accountability, openness and quality improvement.

How we measured, monitored and reported our achievements in delivering our priorities:
A Quality Improvement Implementation Programme was devised that clearly identified the key actions required to 
deliver our priorities and the performance metrics by which delivery would be measured. These were measured on 
a monthly basis and reported to the Board of Directors via the quality section of the Integrated Performance Report. 
The Trust’s management and governance structure provided a mechanism for implementing change, monitoring 
progress and identifying any risks on delivery. Assurance on delivery and achievement was supported by the 
governance reporting systems and through Board review of the Board Assurance Framework.
 

Key Priority Performance

Delivering Safe Care
Reducing And Eliminating Healthcare Associated Infections
Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) at the Trust was quite challenging with rates of C. difficile infection rising 
significantly from December 2013 with declarations of multiple outbreaks over the next 12 months. Despite 
significant efforts at control the problem seemed to be unresponsive. In September 2014, the Chief Executive 
commissioned a review of the situation at the Trust by an external high profile Director of Infection Prevention & 
Control (DIPC). That review cited significant gaps in the overall understanding of the drivers of C. difficile infection, 
the meaning of data on file, and in the leadership and operational delivery of clinical practice and ward hygiene. 

The review also warned that the Trust was very unprepared to face the coming winter of 2014/15 with higher risks 
of C.difficile and Norovirus infections presenting at this period. Some actions were taken at the Trust immediately 
arising from this review and the reviewer was subsequently appointed to an interim position to lead IPAC 
improvement as an Associate Medical Director and Director of Infection Prevention & Control (DIPC) at the Trust in 
late October 2014. 

Part 2 
Priorities for Improvement and Statements of Assurance from the Board
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Actions
An integrated approach to improvement was launched from November 2014 covering distributed leadership, the 
better inclusion of clinical practice and hygiene within management structures, promotion of more appropriate staff 
behaviour and the use of enabling technology. Highlights include:
• Engagement with all staff groups to drive better team understanding and team working 
• Key engagement with medical and nursing leaders to give a much better clinical grasp of infectious diseases and 

their mechanisms of spread via ward meetings, Grand Rounds and dedicated training sessions called our ‘Ebola 
and Other Infectious Diseases Road Show’ 

• Introduction of better blood culture collection kits to reduce the potential for blood culture contamination since 
there was one MRSA blood culture contaminant in Dec 2014. ( 2014/15 total=1) 

• Use of internal marketing techniques in staff training with marketing communications such as the strap-line ‘Be 
Effective, Not Infected’

• Trust appeals to family practitioners, nursing homes, public health officials and the wider public about hygiene 
promotion; it was highlighted by the DIPC that there was insufficient pneumococcal vaccination by family 
practitioners in this sector resulting in patients presenting with preventable pneumonia

• Technology such as deployment of mobile sinks to reinforce bay control of transmissible agents, use of bottled 
water for patients to give better protection against ingestion of C.difficile and norovirus and use of the Xenex 
Ultra-violet light emitting devices to augment environmental cleaning.

Outcomes
• Improved understanding of infectious diseases and compliance of the front line with actions to prevent spread 

( rapid patient isolation, more hand hygiene, more assured commode and bed pan cleaning, better antibiotic 
reviews, staff not consuming food or drink on wards)

• Better use of antibiotics in the Emergency Department and MAU (Medical Assessment Unit) for community 
acquired pneumonia (co-amoxiclav replacing tazocin from Dec 2014 since it has a narrower spectrum of activity) 

• Significant improvement in the prevention of C. difficile infections (4 cases in Jan-Feb-March 2015 compared to 
24 for the same period in 2014. 

• Better prevention of norovirus spread – in Nov 2014 any ingress led to ward closure ; we have since achieved 
better bay containment with fewer ward closures expected on two wards with staffing and skill mix problems

• Better hydration of patients with use of bottled water and saving on nursing time 
• Praise from CCGs and public health officials about our IPAC action plan and improvement 
• Highest uptake (49%) of influenza vaccination in 2014/2015 since 2002 and to above national average
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Next Steps
• Introduce an Antibiotic App for use by Junior Medical staff to further improve antibiotic utilisation 
• Increase awareness in the organisation that IPAC improvement is a fundamental part of overall Quality & Safety 

Improvement such that the former cannot move towards excellence without the latter doing this 
• Improve the clinical understanding of infectious diseases amongst medical, nursing and management staff and 

relevant epidemiological and quality improvement methods so that the Trust could become a centre of excellence 
in the prevention of hospital infection

Reducing Avoidable Mortality
National research suggests that approximately 5% of in hospital deaths could have been avoided if care quality had 
been better. Monitoring overall hospital mortality data is recommended, as it can indicate that there are problems 
with care quality. Several indicators are used nationally, including Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR), 
Summary Hospital Mortality Indicator (SHMI) and Risk Adjusted Mortality Indicator (RAMI).

RAMI: Risk-Adjusted Mortality Indicator
Used by CHKS, the Trust’s current data analysts: 
• Risk of death based on major HRG codes used during the whole hospital stay, rather than first episode of care
• Does not include deaths after discharge
• Trust data available 1 month in arrears

SHMI: Summary Hospital Mortality Indicator
Devised to replace other indicators and become the ‘national standard’: 
• Available to public on the NHS Choices website
• Risk of death based on diagnosis at first episode of care
• Includes deaths within 30 days of discharge.
• Rolling 12 month average, updated quarterly and published 6 months in arrears 

HSMR: Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio
The Dr Foster indicator and perhaps the best known: 
• Widely reported (including as part of the Dr Foster Good Hospital Guide and in the press)
• Risk of death based on diagnosis at first episode of care
• Does not include deaths after discharge

The Board of Directors receives monthly reports showing the RAMI and how this compares to our peer group of 
hospitals.

The RAMI is a measure of the number of patients expected to die compared to the number who actually died 
in a given period of time. For each patient, the risk of death is adjusted according to their main diagnosis, other 
diagnoses and co-existing factors. A RAMI of 100 reflects the expected situation. A lower RAMI indicates fewer 
deaths than expected, whilst a higher RAMI indicates more deaths than expected. Each year as hospital care 
improves, the RAMI will tend to drift downwards, and the indicator is therefore rebased.

The graph on page 60 shows the RAMI trend from 2008 to November 2014. The RAMI is trending downwards, 
which should be seen as welcome and is in line with our peer hospitals. A number of quality improvement measures 
implemented during the year have contributed to this. 

These include:
• Continued recruitment of nursing staff to vacant and new posts to ensure that staffing reflects acuity across the 

Trust
• Improved supervision of standards of nursing care by Matrons and senior nurses
• improved pathways for specific emergency admissions including acute oncology patients
• Further use of the ‘care bundles’ approach to standardise early treatment of emergency conditions
• Senior medical review at an earlier stage in the patient journey and improved weekend senior medical cover.

While the SHMI has remained fairly constant, the RAMI and the in-hospital SHMI have shown a marked decline over 
the year 2014/15. This is in line with other Trusts.
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In addition, the Board also monitors other mortality indicators including the SHMI and the HSMR as they become 
available. 

SHMI for the period June 2013 - June 2014
The SHMI was 0.98 (within expected range). 

HSMR for the period June 2013 - June 2014
All values are within the expected range.

Indicator    QEH (expected range)
Overall HSMR    102.4 (90-110)
Weekday    101.6 (88-112)
Weekend    107.6 (80-123)
Deaths in low risk conditions  0.63 (0.23-1.09)

Mortality Committee
The Trust’s Mortality Committee, under the chairmanship of a senior clinician, meets monthly and commissions 
regular ‘deep dive’ audits into diagnoses which flag as having a higher than expected number of deaths over a 
given period.

During 2014/15 two areas examined were deaths with a diagnosis on admission of leukaemia and hyperglycaemia. 

Leukaemia
This audit of 9 deaths with a diagnosis of leukaemia concluded that patients presenting with acute leukaemia 
have a poor prognosis, especially those over the age of 65 years, for whom there are no curative intent treatment 
options. However, King’s Lynn survival data is reviewed annually in the Haematology department report and 
compares well to East Anglia survival data and the clinical care provided by the Trust for these patients was good.

Hyperglycaemia
This audit of 4 deaths concluded with some recommendations including a need to improve our practice in ‘do not 
attempt resuscitation’ discussions with patients and their families, and to ensure that the diabetes team are involved 
as early as possible in the management of patients with a complex diabetes presentation.

As a result, our specialist diabetes nurses now provide a referral service 6 days per week and our End of Life Care 
Programme is developing training for staff in conversations about death and dying including ‘do not attempt 
resuscitation’ orders.

Reduce the Number of Patients Experiencing Harm as a Result of Avoidable Hospital Acquired 
Pressure Ulcers

Following the launch of the ‘Ready to Roll’ Campaign in March 2014, a re-launch took place in April 2015 to keep 
pressure ulcer prevention at the forefront of our minds. The following actions were put in place as part of the 
campaign to reduce hospital acquired pressure ulcers and this led to a reduction in hospital acquired pressure ulcers 
as illustrated in chart 1:

Standardisation of practice
• Introduction of ASKINS care bundle
• Update of care round documentation to incorporate ASKINS care bundle

Education/training
• Mandatory training – 37 sessions per year
• Induction – 12 sessions per year
• Overseas induction - monthly
• Preceptorship
• Healthcare assistant training 
• Back to Nursing course students
• Student nurses
• Ward focused training
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Chart 2

Expert Leadership 
• Validation of all reported pressure ulcers
• Advice and support at the bedside
• Key Performance Indicator (KPI) audit to inform practice (example in chart 2)
• Daily ward presence – Tissue Viability Nurses and Matrons
• Authorisation of use of Nimbus 3 mattresses
• Evaluation of prevention equipment
• Dressings formulary – appropriate dressings/creams in ward stock for prevention/management of skin damage/

wounds (including pressure ulcers)
• Validation of Safety Thermometer data
• Root Cause Analysis (RCA) – Avoidable/Unavoidable (action plans for learning ward level)
• Scrutiny panel (action plans for learning Trust-wide)

Chart 1
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Listening To Patients 
Improving the Patient and Carer Experience by Listening to Patients, Their Carers and the  
Public and Acting on What They Tell Us
Patient and public involvement is integral to how the hospital plans and improves its services. In 2014/ 15 the Trust 
actively engaged with patients, their carers and members of the public so that they could contribute to improving 
the quality of services that we provide. 

In meeting this priority we identified three key strategies that would enable us to improve patient experience and 
introduce service improvements based on what patients and the public told us. These included:

• Improve the patient experience as measured by the Friends and Family test;
• Use learning from compliments and complaints to enhance the quality of the services we offer our patients;
• Ensure the environment is appropriate for clinical care and a positive patient experience.

Measuring and reporting patient experience
The Trust seeks to capture patient and carer experience through a number of different methods including:

• Promoting the Friends and Family Test to receive more timely feedback
• Hosting events for patients and the public
• Seeking invitations to attend the meetings and events of organisations in the community to listen to their 

members’ views
• Listening to Patients’ Stories at Board meetings
• Participating in National Patient Surveys
• Undertaking mock Care Quality Commission visits which include interviews with patients and carers (if they 

are present during the visit). The reports from these visits and any resulting action plans are considered by the 
Governors’ Patient Experience Committee and by the Service Line Quality and Business Boards covering the wards 
or departments visited.

• Reading and responding to patients’ and carers’ feedback posted on the NHS Choices and Patient Opinion 
websites

• Receiving comments posted about the Trust on social networking sites such as Facebook and Twitter
The value of some of these activities is described in the following paragraphs:

Friends and Family Test (FFT)
The Trust has found the free-text comments submitted with the FFT responses invaluable in providing an insight into 
the issues and concerns that are important to patients. The FFT has enabled us to make changes based on patient 
feedback far more quickly than when awaiting results from other types of feedback.

Hosting events 
The Governors’ Council and the patient experience team host events in conjunction with local statutory, community 
and voluntary sector partners. These events are open to all to provide information and advice about different long 
term medical conditions such as multiple sclerosis and stroke and about the services and support available locally to 
support patients and their families.

Together with West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group the Trust co-hosted a number of listening events around 
the work of the Contingency Planning Team.

Attending events hosted by other organisations
Governors and the Patient and Public Involvement Lead also attended meetings arranged by other local 
organisations: going to listen to patients and the public in their space rather than expecting them to always come 
to us. Key meetings attended included the West Norfolk Older People’s Forum, West Norfolk Patient Participation 
Meeting and meetings of GP practice-based Patient Participation Groups. These meetings help the Trust gain insight 
into the experiences which patients have had of our services and to obtain feedback to help us plan how we can 
further improve. Feedback from these events is given at the Governors’ Patient Experience Committee.

Patient Stories at Board Meetings
To ensure that the patient’s voice is heard at the Board, patients and their carers have been given support to enable 
them to tell their stories in person directly to the Board. This has allowed the Board to hear about their experiences 
first-hand and to learn from them about the aspects of care that patients value most. It also provides an opportunity 
for patients and carers to describe experiences of where care could have been improved and in so doing, enables 
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the organisation to act on this feedback. During this last year the Board has heard stories that have led to action 
within the Trust: 

• The provision of a room for discussions with relatives on Terrington Short Stay 
• Review of template letters sent to patients coming to the Trust for a planned procedure
• Changes to the guidance and training for staff on the management of urinary catheter bags
• Review of provision and management of patient information leaflets
• Suggestions to support improvements to the care of End of Life patients

National Patient Surveys
During April 2014 to March 2015 the Trust took part in the following National Patient Surveys:

• National Adult Inpatients Survey 2013 – results published in April 2014
• National Cancer Patients Experience Survey 2014 – results published in September 2014 
• National A&E Survey 2014 – results published in October 2014
• National Adult Inpatients Survey 2014 – results expected to be published in May 2015 (preliminary received from 

contractor February 2015)
• National Children and Young People’s Survey Inpatient and Day Case Survey 2014 - results expected to be 

published June 2015 (preliminary results received from contractor April 2015)

Published results of the national surveys can be found at: www.nhssurveys.org/ click on ‘National Surveys’ tab at 
the top of the home page, choose the survey you require then search for us under ‘T’ (The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
King’s Lynn).

Following their publication, survey results are presented to the relevant clinical and management teams, Executive 
Directors and members of the Governors’ Patient Experience Committee and the Patient Experience Steering Group. 
Where necessary, action plans are developed and implemented to address any issues raised by the results. These are 
monitored through the Patient Experience Steering Group.

Some examples of how we have used feedback to improve the experience of patients and their carers:
• A new post of Receptionist has been created for the main reception at the front of the hospital to provide 

information and signposting for hospital patients and visitors. The receptionist is supported by volunteers who 
provide support such as accompanying frail or anxious patients to their department or ward or by assisting with 
wheelchairs.

• The hospital signage has been further updated to improve way-finding around the hospital site.
• The Emergency department was enlarged last spring and following feedback in the Young People’s A&E survey 

and the Friends and Family Test we have recruited additional nurses with qualifications in children’s nursing and 
a Play Therapist for the department. The children’s area is currently being refurbished in the light of comments 
received.

• Ambulatory Emergency Care is now opening at 10.00am instead of 11.00am as a result of patient feedback 
• Noise and disturbance at night: soft-closing bins have been introduced and staff have been reminded to keep 

noise levels as low as possible and to reduce patient moves at night 
• The seats in main clinic area A have been re-arranged into smaller rows rather than a large circle.

Communicating learning locally within wards and departments
Wards and departments have ‘you said, we did’ sections on their noticeboard so that staff, patients and their visitors 
can see that comments and concerns are listened to and acted upon.

Using Learning From Complaints and Compliments to Enhance the Quality of Services 
for Patients

The Trust recognises that complaints and compliments are a rich source of learning about the experience of our 
patients but also that of their family and carers. The Trust is therefore committed to not only resolving complainants’ 
concerns but also to ensuring that the organisation learns from complaints and puts in place changes that ensure 
improvements to services and a reduction in the likelihood of future complaints on the same issue.

All actions arising from complaints are identified by the staff member investigating and responding to the 
complaint and then implemented locally within the service concerned. Where the action is potentially applicable 
to other departments or services, the information is shared via governance meetings or through specific specialty 
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or professional meetings, such as ward sister meetings. All such actions are recorded on the Trust’s central Datix 
system.

A report is submitted to the Board every month as part of the Integrated Performance Report identifying the main 
themes arising from complaints and providing details of some of the actions that have been put in place following 
conciliation meetings. 

On a yearly basis the Complaints department undertakes a retrospective audit of all the recorded actions to 
determine whether they have been fully implemented and embedded in practice.

In 2014/15 a wide range of changes were put in place following complaints and these included:

Sometimes patients and carers speak with the Patient Advice and Liaison Service to raise suggestions rather than 
complaints. Last year a comment from a patient about the accessibility of the door intercom on the Stroke Unit led 
to it being re-located to a more accessible height for wheelchair users. A number of comments about difficulties in 
finding a wheelchair for use on site has led to the Trust initiating a charitable fund-raising campaign to purchase a 
fleet of new wheelchairs for use by the patients and their carers when attending appointments or visiting the wards.

Compliments are always shared with the departments and teams concerned and are a valuable affirmation of where 
we have provided a service that has met or exceeded the expectations of patients and their families.

Complaint concerns Lessons identified Action taken

Complication of an 
intravenous infusion

• Complication associated with the  
particular drug infused

• Need for constant observation of patient
• Importance of listening to the patient’s 

concerns during the procedure

• Support and advice to complainant on 
how to manage complications

• Review of procedure and change to the 
type of medication provided within the 
Trust

• Staff training
• Advice to all departments where this 

drug may be used

Unnecessary 
investigations 
undertaken on a 
patient identified for 
palliative care

• Need to improve understanding about end 
of life care for all staff

• End of Life work stream to improve end 
of life care led by the Medical Director

• End of Life strategy approved by Board 
in January 15

• Specific issues followed up with   
individual clinician

Illegible doctor’s 
signature so that 
decision-maker could 
not be easily identified

• Importance of professionals complying 
with organisational and professional 
guidance on record-keeping

• Individual name stamps provided to all 
Trust doctors which include their GMC 
numbers.

• Use of stamp subject to audit

Patient experienced 
pain during a clinical 
procedure

• Always check with patient whether pain 
relief is adequate

• Consider whether some clinical   
procedures should only take place in 
certain clinical settings

• Review of practice in patients    
undergoing repeat procedures

• Review of the most suitable settings 
for certain clinical procedures to ensure 
access to higher levels of pain relief

Poor communication 
to bereaved parents 
following post-
mortem examination

• No clear responsibility as to who should 
be communicating with parents in this 
situation

• Instigation of a weekly visit to the 
mortuary by Chaplains to check on 
completed examinations

• Development of a log sheet to record 
all cases of pregnancy loss >12 weeks 
gestation, including a column recording 
when remains are no longer in the 
hospital

• Provision of a designated Chaplain for 
each case
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Ensuring the Environment is Appropriate for Clinical Care and a Positive Patient Experience
The Trust has continued to undertake developments and improvements to ensure that the environment for patients 
is fit for purpose and that it enhances patient experience. 

The redevelopment of the Emergency Department has continued throughout 2014/15 with the opening of 
the Observation Ward in April 2014 with four separate ensuite cubicles for overnight stays; a new secluded 
bereavement area with viewing facilities and an ambulance assessment area for all patients brought in by 
ambulance. A newly designed paediatric area will be handed over in April 2015 and will provide a larger, secure 
waiting area suitable for children and young people up to the age of sixteen, a high dependency room plus two 
other examination cubicles and the additional provision of distraction equipment and a newly recruited play 
therapist and paediatric senior health care assistant.

2014/15 also saw the re-naming of Pentney ward to Windsor Ward and the change in designation of the ward to 
become a Frail Elderly Unit. Staffing on this Ward reflected the change in patient profile with additional nursing 
staff and therapy support. There was a focus on identifying patients from the moment of admission who would 
benefit from prompt interventions to correct the problem that had brought them to hospital, multi-disciplinary team 
involvement and enhanced re-enablement to ensure timely discharge back to their home environment. This was 
supported by the recruitment of a Lead Nurse for Older People and Liaison Services to support the implementation 
of this patient pathway.

The Outpatient department responded to concerns raised by patients attending clinics and undertook a review 
of the waiting areas in order to create an additional 20 seats for waiting patients and developed a Macmillan 
Information area near the clinic entrance to provide written information for patients at the time of their 
appointment. The nurse in charge within clinic areas now wears a red badge for ease of recognition.

The Neonatal Baby Unit took part in an audit that was put forward by Bliss (the charity for premature babies) into 
the experience for parents in having a baby on a neonatal unit. Out of this detailed survey the Neonatal Intensive 
Care Unit (NICU) put forward an action plan to address the issues raised and the unit was awarded a grant of 
£10,000 to improve the experience for parents. This grant enabled the Unit to purchase 3 new breast pumps, 2 
with specialised software that is programmed for premature babies; 3 feeding chairs and 3 new screens to improve 
privacy.

In addition to these changes to the clinical environment, the Trust has committed to extensive estate works to 
improve the overall access to the hospital and the safety of the site. Work has commenced and is continuing, on 
upgrading the car park and maximising the provision of parking bays, improving the safety of the access roads 
through the implementation of traffic calming measures and an increase in the provision of safety barriers. A 
programme of modernisation and renewal of fire compartments has been commenced to improve the safety of the 
entire building. 

A further commitment is in place to continue this process of upgrade and modernisation into 2015/16 with a 
planned, rolling programme of decanting ward areas and painting and refurbishing each ward in turn.
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  Lowest 20% of acute trusts, 
worse than average, worse 
than 2012

  Average for benchmark 
group

  Highest 20% of acute trusts, 
better than average, better 
than 2012

  Lowest 20% of acute trusts, 
worse than average, worse 
than 2013

  Average for benchmark 
group

  Highest 20% of acute trusts, 
better than average, better 
than 2013

Our staff are our most valuable asset in ensuring that we deliver a high quality service and we have invested in 
recruitment and training throughout 2014/15 so that we can be assured that we have sufficient staff and the 
correct skill mix in all wards and departments to enable us to focus on quality improvement. We are aiming to 
have in place an environment of expectation in which staff are encouraged within their respective roles to develop 
confidence in exercising their knowledge, skills and leadership and to champion and promote the provision of 
high quality, compassionate care. The Trust has underpinned this expectation by affirming its agreed values and 
behaviours and promoting at Board level and throughout the organisation, a culture and climate of mutual respect, 
personal responsibility and individual accountability.

Staff engagement is about staff feeling engaged with each other and with the Trust, having energy, resilience and 
pride, working more effectively and having commitment to the Trust’s vision and values.

Research constantly shows that high levels of staff engagement in the NHS have a positive impact on quality, cost 
and most importantly on the patient experience. The Staff Friends and Family Tests and the results from the 2014 
Staff Survey have shown that there is a need to improve on how we communicate and engage with our workforce.

The Trust is committed to improving staff engagement via:
• Improving the level of participation in surveys (such as the Staff Friends and Family Test (SFFT)), and involvement 

through attendance at sessions such as ‘Leading the Way’.
• By responding to issues identified through the analysis of the results from the annual staff survey and the quarterly 

SFFT.
• Embedding the Trust’s values.

The Staff Friends and Family Test was introduced during 2014/15 and requires NHS Providers to ask their workforce 
two simple questions:
• Would you recommend your Trust to friends and family as a place to come for treatment?
• Would you recommend your Trust to friends and family as a place to work?

The table below illustrates the level of participation during 2014/15:

As a result of the disappointingly low level of participation in the first two quarters of 2014/15 a new approach was 
taken in Quarter 4 in terms of engaging the Trust’s workforce. This approach resulted in a significant increase in the 
level of participation.

Although the level of participation in 2014 staff survey increased by 4% on the previous year, the results dipped 
significantly as the charts below illustrate:

Quarter 1 2 3 4

No. of responses received 119 98
Undertaken as  

part of the annual staff survey
485

Supporting our Staff

2013 2014



68

In terms of responding to the issues identified through an analysis of the results from the 2014 Staff Survey, four 
themes have emerged, these being the need to improve:

1. The scores from the Staff Friends and Family Test
2. The quality of the appraisal process
3. The health and well-being of our workforce
4. Communications and engagement.

Following a series of staff ‘drop in’ sessions at which both the results and the analysis of the survey were shared 
with staff, an action plan for 2015/16 has been developed and is in the process of being implemented. Progress 
reports will be shared with both the Workforce Committee/the Board and with staff through formal reports and 
staff briefings such as ‘Leading the Way’ sessions.

In addition to the Staff Survey action plan the Trust has developed and is implementing an engagement strategy 
(‘Engaging you – a strategy for harnessing the creativity and enthusiasm of NHS staff’). Within this strategy there are 
a series of actions which focus on the delivery of specific objectives:

• Staff health and well-being
• Delivering on NHS Constitution Staff Pledges
• Communication and engagement.

During 2014/15 the Trust introduced a new set of values:

Since the introduction of the Trust’s values the Board has added the additional value of ‘Responsibility’ to ensure 
that every member of staff understands that delivering a quality service is integral to everyone’s role.

These values have been used as the basis for both the annual staff awards scheme (Shining Stars) and for the 
monthly staff awards. 
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Well-Led Trust
The Trust Quality Governance Structure has undergone review to ensure a standardised approach to meeting 
structures, terminology and the monitoring of performance across the Divisions. Terms of reference and agendas 
have been standardised with compliance measured through monthly audit and exception reporting to the Clinical 
Governance Committee. 

The Quality Governance Structure and Reporting Lines

The diagram above indicates the hierarchy of meetings in each Division. Each group has responsibility for the 
oversight of clinical governance for their area of responsibility and the provision of assurance or escalation of 
concerns to the senior committee. This is done through specialty governance reports and Chair’s Key Issues Report. 

Divisional Boards and Service Line Quality and Business Boards (SQuaBBs) have responsibility for exercising challenge 
against quality, risk, performance, finance and workforce data and for acting on escalated risk from the level 
below. Quality and governance meetings have been reviewed and mapped to provide assurance around the flow of 
information and management of risk throughout the organisation. 

The Trust is committed to continuing to embed a robust quality governance framework through which it can deliver 
quality services and safeguard high standards of care by creating an environment in which excellence in clinical care 
will flourish.
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During the latter part of 2014/15 the Trust held three workshops for Executive and Clinical Directors to facilitate 
discussions and a review of the organisation’s Quality Strategy. The focus was on ensuring that the Strategy was 
relevant, central to the work of the Trust and fit for purpose.

At the workshops the Directors focused on the following framework questions:
• Is the current Quality Strategy fit for purpose?
• Is it at the heart of all we do at the Trust?
• How do we make it a living strategy?
• What are the short and medium term priorities for the strategy?
• Who is accountable for quality in the Trust?
• What is the impact of the current quality strategy?

These discussions led to the identification of a number of key principles which were seen to underpin the strategy 
and to support the vision of quality for the Trust to provide a safe, clinically excellent experience for all our patients 
within a caring environment. This was seen to be driven by the Trust’s values:

• Taking responsibility
• Taking pride in doing a good job
• Constantly being curious
• Having the courage to do the right thing
• Providing compassionate care

This vision sought to ensure that all our patients have an excellent experience whilst in our care and that high 
quality treatment is delivered in a way that is valued by patients. In particular the Strategy sought to provide high 
quality treatment:

• In a comfortable, caring and safe environment;
• Delivered in a calm and reassuring way;
• With the patient having the information to make choices and to feel confident and in control;
• With the patient being talked to and listened to as an equal;
• With the patient being treated with honesty, respect and dignity.

The strategy expressed this in four key quality objectives:

Ensure our patients are safe
By setting high standards of safety and effectiveness, we will reduce harmful adverse events and overall Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Ratios.

Ensure our patients have the best possible care experience
Through the high priority we place on the whole patient experience, we aim to ensure excellence at all points of 
contact through treatment to discharge and follow-up.

Ensure that care and treatment is effective and compliant
We will operate to the highest standards of care and treatment within strong systems of compliance with and 
monitoring of standards.

Build and sustain excellence as a care provider
We will institutionalise quality as the central focus for all we do as a hospital, constantly reinforcing our values and 
commitment to on-going improvement and innovation.

In order to deliver these quality objectives a number of priorities for improvement were identified to ensure that 
clear, measurable progress could be demonstrated:

2.2 Quality Priorities For Improvement 2015/16
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Objective Actions Outcome measure

Patient Experience

Improve Friends and Family Test 
scores and maintain response 
rates for inpatients and emergency 
department

• Listen and respond to what 
patients tell us about their 
experience, through feedback, 
complaints, compliments, FFT 
responses / free text, patient stories 
and observations e.g. 15 steps.

• Improved FFT response rates 
(in line with local targets set 
within the Quality Schedule) and 
‘recommendation’ rates.

Improve patient and family 
experience in end of life (EOL) care

• Local actions lead by EOL Steering 
Group and Palliative Care Team

• Reduction in EOL related 
complaints. Improved rating using 
the ELQuA (End of Life Quality 
Assessment tool), which measures 
achievement against the NICE End 
of Life Quality Standards

Patient Safety

Reduce healthcare associated 
infection related to C Diff

• Pursue comprehensive action plan 
for infection prevention and control

• Reduce hospital acquired  
C.Difficile to < 20 per year.

Reduce hospital acquired pressure 
ulcers and falls.

• Build high reliability of high 
quality care at ward level through 
reduction in all ward-based adverse 
events. Local actions managed by 
ward leaders, matrons and senior 
nurses.

• Hospital acquired pressure ulcers 
(> 50% reduction based on 14/15 
rates) and falls (< 5 per 1000 bed 
days)

Effectiveness

Develop a set of metrics for care 
provided through our new Frailty 
Ward and Pathway

• Metrics including readmissions, 
length of stay and patient 
experience will be combined in a 
comprehensive evaluation of this 
project

• Details of measures will be 
developed during 15/16

Ensure effective prescribing and 
administration of medicines

• Introduce Medication Safety 
Thermometer.

• Improve pharmacy support to ward 
teams.

• Introduce electronic discharge.
• Local actions managed by ward 

teams.

• Reduce medication errors by 30%.
• Reduce medication incidents 

relating to discharge prescribing 
(Quality Incidents Report returns 
and complaints).

• Improve scores in patient survey on 
question relating to medication.

Build and sustain excellence

1. Exit Special Measures regime

• Pursue all actions to address the 
quality concerns raised by the 
CQC. 

• Develop a structure within the 
organisation to drive and monitor 
quality for the future

• CQC report will contain more 
‘good’ and ‘outstanding’ findings, 
and fewer ‘inadequate’ and 
‘requires improvement’ than the 
2014 report

2.  Improve staff Friends and Family 
Test scores

• Recruit and retain the best staff. 
• Improve vacancy rates, support 

staff through training, appraisal 
and improved working 
environment.

• An increase in the response rate 
and in the proportion of staff 
recommending QEH as a place to 
work and to receive care
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Review of services
During 2014/15 the Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 45 NHS services. The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn 
NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to it on the quality of care in 100% of these NHS services.

The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2014/15 represents 100% of the total income 
generated from the provision of relevant health services by The Queen Elizabeth Hospital for 2014/15.

2.4 Participation In Clinical Research And Clinical Audit

Participation in Clinical Research
The number of patients in 2014/15 receiving NHS services provided or sub-contracted by The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust that were recruited between 1st April 2014 and 28th February 2015 to 
participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 391. This included 361 patients recruited to 
National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) portfolio studies and 33 patients recruited to non-portfolio studies.

In 2014/15 the Trust was involved in conducting 18 NIHR portfolio and 11 non-portfolio clinical research studies. 
This demonstrates the Trust’s on-going commitment to supporting improvements in healthcare by contributing to 
the national drive to identify novel and improved approaches to treatment. Our clinical teams aim to ensure that our 
patients are provided with the opportunity to take part in new and exciting research trials and to benefit from the 
outcomes of such research as new treatments become available to the NHS.

Participation in Clinical Audit
National Audit:
During the year 2014/15 the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) identified 83 national audits or 
programmes of audit, in which NHS services in England should participate. The list included individual audit projects 
and programmes of audits, where several sub audits might be identified as well as several national Confidential 
Enquiry projects.

Of the 83 projects identified initially by HQIP, acute trusts were excluded from 36 of those projects, and a further 9 
audits were not applicable to this Trust because the organisation does not provide the specific service being audited, 
e.g. audits relating to cardiothoracic surgery. In addition two audit projects are still not confirmed. In total the Trust 
was eligible to participate in 38 individual audit projects or programmes of audit.

The following matrix shows that in 2014/15, The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
participated in 33 of the 38 national audits or programmes for which it was eligible:

National Clinical Audits (NCL) are largely funded by the Department of Health and commissioned by HQIP, which 
manages the National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcome Programme (NCAPOP). Other National audits are funded 
from subscriptions paid by the NHS provider organisations. Priorities for the NCAPOP are set by the Department of 
Health and the National Advisory Group on Clinical Audit & Enquiries (NAGCAE). Clinicians and audit professionals 
can also independently suggest topics for inclusion in the programme. 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that The Queen Elizabeth Hospital was eligible to 
participate in during 2014/15 are as follows below. Many of the audit projects included are continuous audits, 
in which anonymous data is routinely collected to provide a national register. National and local findings and 
recommendations from those projects are reported on an annual basis. In the main this involves staff in the Clinical 
Audit department, usually with the support of a dedicated clinician, continually collecting data and populating a 
dedicated web-based database.

Percentage completed in which the Trust was eligible.

HQIP Excluded Inclusion 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11

National programme  
of audits

84 45 38
87% 
(33)

100% 
(26)

81% 
(29)

81% 
(30)

68%

Confidential Enquiries 4 0 4
100% 

(4)
100% 

(4)
100% 

(4)
100% 

(3)
100%

2.3 Statements Of Assurance From The Board
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Name of audit / Clinical Outcome Review Programme Category

Adult community acquired pneumonia Acute

Case Mix Programme (CMP)(ICNARC) Acute
Medical and surgical clinical outcome review programme:  
National confidential enquiry into patient outcome and death(NCEPOD)

Acute

National Audit of Seizures in Hospitals (NASH) Acute

National emergency laparotomy audit (NELA) Acute

National Joint Registry (NJR) Acute

Non-invasive ventilation - adults Acute

Pleural procedures Acute

Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & Research Network, TARN) Acute

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion programme Blood and Transplant

Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) Cancer

Head and neck oncology (DAHNO) Cancer

Lung cancer (NLCA) Cancer

Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC) Cancer

Prostate Cancer Cancer

Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction (MINAP) Heart

Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) Heart

Congenital heart disease (Paediatric cardiac surgery) (CHD) Heart

Coronary angioplasty Heart

National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit Heart

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Heart

National Heart Failure Audit Heart

National Vascular Registry* Heart

Pulmonary hypertension (Pulmonary Hypertension Audit) Heart

Adult Bronchiectasis Audit* Long term conditions

Diabetes (Adult) ND(A), includes National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NADIA)* Long term conditions

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) Long term conditions

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)* Long term conditions

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit Programme* Long term conditions

Renal replacement therapy (Renal Registry) Long term conditions

Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis* Long term conditions

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit Programme (FFFAP) Older People

National Audit of Dementia (care in general hospitals) Older People

Parkinson's disease (National Parkinson's Audit) Older People

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)* Older People

Elective surgery (National PROMs Programme) Other

National Audit of Intermediate Care Other
Adherence to British Society for Clinical Neurophysiology (BSCN) and Association of 
Neurophysiological Scientists (ANS) Standards for Ulnar Neuropathy at Elbow (UNE) testing

TBC

Fitting child (care in emergency departments) TBC

Mental health (care in emergency departments) TBC

Older people (care in emergency departments) TBC

Epilepsy 12 audit (Childhood Epilepsy) Women’s & Children’s Health

Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme (MBRRACE-UK) Women’s & Children’s Health

Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP) Women’s & Children’s Health

Paediatric intensive care (PICANet) Women’s & Children’s Health

Paediatric pneumonia Women’s & Children’s Health

Chronic kidney disease in primary care*  

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that The Queen Elizabeth Hospital participated in 
during 2014/15 are as follows:
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In addition to the individual audits / programmes of audit identified by HQIP, other national audit projects initiated 
by professional bodies are also registered with the Clinical Audit department and carried out in the Trust. Examples 
of some of these projects are included below: 

• Surgical Site Infection (SSI) after bowel surgery, hip replacement, knee replacement and hip hemi-arthroplasy 
• BSUG (British Society of Uro-gynaecology) register
• National Pregnancy in Diabetes audit
• National audit on Paediatric Eczema
• Isotretinoin: compliance with national guidelines 

Examples of actions taken and outcomes following the results of national audit projects are described below: 

National Audit Actions 
a) National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA)
The Diabetes Specialist Nurse team presented the results of the National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NaDIA) at the 
National Audit Forum on 23rd June 2014. 

The following changes to practice as a result of the national audit were highlighted: 
• A Diabetes Specialist Nurse is now available to review patients on Sunday mornings, increasing specialist presence 

to 6 days per week
• From February 2014 an electronic learning module ‘Safe use of Insulin’, has been adopted as a mandatory training 

requirement for new doctors coming into the Trust. 
• The e-learning suite is also used by nurses and existing medical staff 
• Blood glucose meters are now linked to allow the Diabetes Specialist Nurses to review patient results directly from 

their office. This allows them to respond to abnormal recordings thus focusing their time and efforts where they 
are most needed. 

• The Diabetes Specialist Nurses continue to promote and monitor the self-administration of insulin policy. 

b) Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)
• Our FAST (face, arm, speech, time) campaign together with the Stroke Association’s awareness campaign has 

improved early presentation of patients with minor stroke to the Transient Ischaemic Attack (TIA) clinic via their GP 
or the Emergency Department. This allows more rapid assessment and thrombolysis if required for evolving stroke. 
There is a local campaign at the Trust involving GP surgeries as well as sessions supported by Stroke Association 
and ‘Friends of Stroke Unit’ Charity. 

Confidential Enquiries
The National Confidential Enquiries into Patient Outcomes and Deaths (NCEPOD) projects, for which data collection 
was carried out during the year April 2014 to March 2015 are listed below. Alongside the title of the Confidential 
Enquiry is the number of patient cases submitted to each enquiry in relation to the numbers required by the terms 
of that audit or enquiry:

In addition, 2 individual reports to which the Trust had contributed in 13/14 were published this year: Lower Limb 
Amputation and Tracheostomy care. 

Completed NCEPOD Enquiries are launched at a national event attended by a Consultant responsible for the area 
highlighted in the report or the Trust’s Local Ambassador. Findings and local changes required are reported to the 
Trust’s Clinical Governance Committee and where necessary, an action plan is initiated. The action plan is regularly 
followed up until completion by the committee. 

Enquiry in which the Trust was eligible: 
2014/15.

QEH participation
Organisational section 

Sample required
Sample included

NCEPOD: Gastrointestinal bleed Yes   1    5 5

NCEPOD: Sepsis Yes   1    5 3

NCEPOD : Acute pancreatitis Yes Currently in progress 

MBBRACE: Programme of audits Yes Programme of audits 
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Previous action plans resulting from NCEPOD studies have included interventions that have been put in place, for 
example: 

• MUST tool is used and every patient now undergoes nutritional assessment using this tool.
• Provision of a pre-assessment clinic for elective patients. 
• Provision of a referral pathway for high risk patients identified at pre-assessment clinic to a consultant anaesthetist 

for an opinion and plan of care prior to surgery and now working towards introducing a dedicated high risk clinic. 
• Adoption of enhanced recovery pathways for colorectal surgery.
• Provision of a dedicated Falls And Fragility ward 

In addition the annual report of the MBBRACE-UK (Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risks through Audits and 
Confidential Enquiries across the UK) programme of audits was presented to the Clinical Governance committee in 
March 2015. 

Local clinical audit
Local clinical audits are conducted by individual healthcare professionals or teams evaluating aspects of care that 
they themselves have selected as being important to their service for the following purposes:
• To assess the application of a new technique
• To measure compliance with NICE guidance or other national standards
• To monitor assessment of treatment in high risk conditions and treatments
• To measure patient satisfaction with an aspect of service
• To measure outcomes in a particular condition

The Trust has participated in 243 local clinical audits in the year 2014/15, of which 118 were initial (new) audits and 
103 were re-audits undertaken for maintenance and monitoring. 

At the end of March 2015, 199 completed audits have been presented for peer review and the outcomes shared, 
through Specialty Clinical Governance meetings, Service Line Quality and Business Boards , combined Specialty 
Clinical Audit meetings or where requested, at the Clinical Governance Committee. In addition, selected audit 
findings were presented at the Trust-wide Annual Clinical Audit Symposium, in October 2014. All Service Lines have 
used clinical audit as a quality improvement method in 2014/15 and outcomes and recommendations have been 
shared extensively across the Trust. 

Local Audit Outcomes 

1. Audit of use of newly introduced ‘care bundles’
A care bundle is a structured way of improving the processes of care and patient outcomes: a small, straightforward 
set of evidence-based practices that, when performed collectively and reliably, have been proven to improve patient 
outcomes.

Staff in acute medicine have introduced a number of care bundles and monitored their use through audit. 

Changes as a result of care bundle monitoring have included:
• Introduction of COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease) outpatient clinic referral forms, on all wards. 
• A process to ensure that all patients discharged after exacerbation of COPD are followed up in the COPD clinic. 
• For patients who have had a first seizure, new leaflets giving information about driving, first aid and what 

activities to avoid have been introduced. 
• A dedicated first seizure clinic is in place at the hospital. 

2. Audit of Diabetic Foot Examination 
This was carried out on the Medical Assessment Unit and demonstrated that foot assessment was not always 
optimally recorded. As a result:
• Junior doctors in MAU/AEC receive training on examination of the feet in patients with diabetes
• Foot assessment will be included in the diabetes care bundle. 

3. Audit to assess acuity in frail patients
The audit was carried out to assess the burden of frailty within the Trust and concluded that a validated assessment 
tool was required to measure the care need and to support the development of a frailty ward at the Trust. 



76

As a result of this project:
• The Edmonton Frail Scale was introduced 
• A dedicated frailty ward was opened in March 2015, allowing patients to have an early multi-disciplinary geriatric 

assessment and aiming to reduce the length of stay and readmission rate. 

4. Hystersalpingogram, service assessment re-audit 
Hysterosalpingogram is recommended by NICE as the first-line investigation of tubal patency in patients with  
sub-fertility. Using an audit template produced by the Royal College of Radiologists, the aim of the audit was to 
assess compliance with guidelines. 

Outcome concluded that:
• 96.2% of investigations were completed satisfactorily with 3.8% of cases being technically difficult. This was 

the 3rd HSG audit carried out and although the standard achieved remains high, the service plans to re-audit for 
continued maintenance.

5. Audit of the Management of Intracerebral Haemorrhage
This audit highlighted the need for rapid reversal of warfarin with Beriplex in patients admitted with haemorrhage. 
As a result,
• Trust stroke guidelines have been redrafted
• Near-patient INR-testing will be introduced to allow more rapid diagnosis of coagulation status.

Patient experience
In addition to the Friends and Family feedback cards now used in the Trust, specialties have participated in 13 
patient experience (service evaluation) studies. Ten of those were initial studies and three, monitoring of previous 
patient experience studies. The findings from these surveys are reported at Specialty Clinical Governance meetings 
as well as Service Line Quality & Business Boards. An annual report is provided for review at the Patient Experience 
Steering Group and reported to patients and the public in the form of newsletters, posters and the Trust Intranet 
site, highlighting any outcomes and changes that have been implemented. 

The following patient experience topics were included in 2014/15:
• Patient information confidentiality survey 
• Speech & Language Therapy – Service User questionnaire 
• Contraception Services (GenitoUrinary Medicine)
• Endoscopy Service
• Patient Experience – Macmillan Information & support service 
• Breast Care – Micro-pigmentation (tattooing) 
• Pre-dialysis care study 
• Upper GI patient experience 
• Treatment under sedation 
• Speech & Language Therapy – Joint service evaluation interviews 
• Dermatology: Patient Experience, Surgery Satisfaction Survey 
• Anaesthetics: Quality of Recovery, patient experience 
• Respiratory Service: Two week wait lung cancer service 

Some examples of actions taken and outcomes following the results of patient experience surveys are described below: 
• The response rate to a written survey was poor therefore a new face to face interview study has been 

implemented. Volunteers have been recruited to undertake interviews with patients who are able to share their 
feelings and thoughts on the service directly with the volunteer. 

• In response to patient reports of lack of written information, the service has developed information packs for 
patients to ensure that they have information about their diagnosis and treatment before they leave the hospital. 
The service plans to re-audit patient experience in one year. 

Staff experience
Five staff experience surveys were instigated within the Trust in 2014/15. These were:
• MRI Patient Safety Policy Questionnaire 
• Staff Views on the Self-Administration of insulin
• Professional survey of Palliative Care Service
• Monitoring the percentage of staff appropriately vaccinated
• Monitoring the Leaving Employment Policy 
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Some examples of actions taken and outcomes following the results of patient experience surveys are described 
below: 
• Staff included in the Palliative Care Service survey highlighted that the current referral process has been ‘ad hoc’ 

with referrers frequently not providing crucial information such as the time scale in which the patient needs to 
be seen and in some cases the diagnosis. As a result of the study, Trust staff in collaboration with community and 
primary care staff, have developed a referral form which encompasses the required elements to ensure an efficient 
and effective patient pathway.

• Self-Administration of Insulin and the Care of the patient with Diabetes are included in the clinical mandatory 
training programme. In addition, a ‘Care Bundle’ check list is included in the patient records and will be audited in 
2015/16.

• The Leaving Employment Policy has now been adopted by the Trust and is being monitored via an electronic 
dataset and themes for staff leaving the Trust are discussed and shared via the Human Resources department. 

Commissioner experience:
The Radiology department conducted a survey of GPs who had referred patients to the service to assess their 
opinions. The Upper Gastro Intestinal service also surveyed GPs and Trust staff who had referred to the service, to 
ensure referrers were satisfied with the quality of the written outcomes they received from the Trust: 

• Referrers’ satisfaction with Radiology service provision was 90% and many referrers commented on the things the 
department does well, in addition to offering areas that they felt could be improved. The Radiology department is 
currently reviewing ways it can make changes.

• The Upper GI team is ensuring that GPs are now informed of their patients’ appointment details along with the 
outcome of the Multidisciplinary Team Meeting. The communication also includes whether or not the patient / 
relative has been informed of the diagnosis. This will ensure standardised practice and improve communications 
between primary and secondary care and a further study will be carried out in 2015/16.

Data Quality / Completeness 
The Clinical Audit department carries out regular monitoring audits against departmental standards throughout 
the year in order to measure the quality of local audits produced. Quality of reporting is assured by the use of a 
standardised template which all services are encouraged to use. To ensure consistency of methodology, reports 
submitted to the Clinical Audit department are subject to review by the department.

All national audits are registered with and coordinated by the Clinical Audit department, thus ensuring a 
coordinated approach as well as allowing the Trust to be assured of validation of the data submitted. For each 
national audit, a re-audit of 10% of the total number of records used was undertaken to ensure data validation. 
It is usual practice that the person collecting data from medical records is not the same person who enters data onto 
web-based spreadsheets, thus ensuring double validation. 

Commissioning For Quality And Innovation (CQUIN)
A proportion of the income received by The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust in 2014/15 
was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital, King’s Lynn, and any person or body they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the 
provision of relevant health services, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2014/15 and for the following 12 month period are available electronically at 
www.qehkl.nhs.uk and included within this document.

Care Quality Commission & Monitor
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and its current registration status is ‘requires improvement’. The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s 
Lynn NHS Foundation Trust was the subject of a comprehensive inspection visit in July 2014 and the CQC noted that 
significant improvements had been made with addressing the previous compliance actions including:
• Consent to care and treatment
• Care and welfare of patients
• Nutrition and hydration
• Incident reporting
• Respecting and involving service users
• Complaints
• Records 
• Co-operating with other providers. 
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However, the Trust remained non-compliant with the regulations on staffing, support for workers, safeguarding and 
medicines management. The Trust also received three ‘inadequate’ ratings and a further 27 ‘must do’ and ‘should 
do’ recommendations to action. As a result, the Trust remained in ‘special measures’. 

Since November 2014, with the appointment of the new Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Dorothy Hosein, the Trust 
has embarked on a rapid improvement programme to address the issues highlighted by the CQC, with particular 
focus on areas rated ‘inadequate’ and ‘requires improvement’ recommendations:

The three areas rated as ‘inadequate’ by the CQC have been addressed as set out below:

Medical care - Management of medical outliers 
A proactive programme commenced in November 2014 to improve the management of medical outliers ensuring 
patients are adequately and safely tracked through the organisation including:
• A dedicated medical outlier team to ensure all patients are reviewed daily
• Implementation of an individualised care plan for each outlying patient
• A new medical outlier tracking process ensuring that patients are appropriately identified using selection criteria 

and then tracked throughout their inpatient stay. Their details are kept in the Operations Centre until they are either 
discharged or transferred to a medical ward. The list is updated daily and shared with the Medical Outlier Team.

• An agreement on which wards and bays are to be used for outliers to ensure consistency of approach and 
improved continuity of care.

• Ensuring secured funding from the System Resilience Group (West Norfolk CCG) to facilitate an increased 
presence of consultant physicians in the Emergency Department. This has enabled early intervention by senior 
decision-makers and has avoided admissions through winter 2014/15 thus reducing the overall demand for 
medical beds and subsequently, the total number of medical outliers.

• The new demand and capacity model is being embeded operationally. This will ensure the Trust has the right beds 
in the right place, which will further minimise medical outliers.

Surgery - Reduction in cancelled operations
• The number of reportable cancelled operations had now reduced from 52 in July 14 to 18 in March 2015. This 

has been achieved by:
• Establishing a Theatre transformation programme which has included a detailed review of all cancellations on the 

day of surgery during October to December 2014 and this in turn has led to a number of changes to minimise 
cancellations and the introduction of an escalation process for cancellations for non-clinical reasons.

• Improving effective forward planning of theatre sessions and capacity, with evidence of increased utilisation.
• Improving the Trust’s booking processes, including the pre-assessment process.
• Revising the booking processes in day surgery for the majority of specialties in an attempt to reduce Did Not 

Attend (DNA) patients. This was introduced in Jan 15 and has resulted in a demonstrable reduction (37.3% 
reduction from Q3 to Q4) in DNA numbers, and hence improved utilisation of theatre time.

• Using the Trust’s new demand and capacity model with the consultant job plans to ensure elective care is better 
planned throughout the year.

• Reviewing the inpatient pathway for angioplasty procedures to enable patients to go home the same day which 
improves patient experience, increases capacity for this cohort of patients and reduces the demand on elective beds.

Well-led - Substantive Board and senior management team
With effect from 1 April 2015, all of the Board Executive and Non-Executive Directors are substantive, with the 
exception of the interim Chief Operating Officer. This has provided stability and the Executive team is now seen as a 
united front.

Other developments and improvements made on the CQC recommendations made have included:
• A full ward staffing and skill mix review has led to Board investment of £3.5m for additional nursing and 

midwifery staff (April 2014 and November 2015) supported by a robust recruitment and retention strategy for the 
next 12 months. The Trust now has 131 more nursing staff compared to July 2014 and will be fully established by 
March 2016.

• The Director of Nursing has commenced a programme for matrons to improve leadership across all wards. This 
programme provides protected time for matrons daily to focus on key priorities: ward leadership, harm reduction 
(pressure ulcers and falls), nutrition and hydration and medicines management. 

• The development of a comprehensive Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) rapid improvement programme with 
highly successful outcomes in reducing Clostridium Difficile rates. This has been recognised and supported by the 
local Clinical Commissioning Groups. 
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• The development of new medical rotas for acute physicians, emergency consultants and increased seven 
day working for medicine patients. This has facilitated an increased presence of consultant physicians in the 
Emergency Department (ED). This has enabled early invention by senior decision-makers and has avoided 
admissions through winter 2014/15 thereby reducing the overall demand for medical beds and subsequently the 
total number of medical outliers (compared to recent winter periods).

• All security staff are now restraint trained and a minimum two staff are present on each shift. Additional staff 
have been trained including porters and members of the site team. Breakaway training is now offered to all 
clinical staff and training has been prioritised based on the high risk areas.

• The Trust has made a number of environmental changes including a dedicated paediatric areas and waiting areas 
in the A&E department, improved signage in the outpatients department and a full refurbishment of the Trust’ 
mortuary will be completed in August 2015.

• The launch by the CEO of a communications and engagement strategy ‘Leading the Way’ to ensure that staff are 
part of the change management process to improve the patient experience. 

• A review of the overall governance structure and the development of new structures that are fit for purpose, 
providing appropriate oversight and addressing the KPMG recommendations on quality governance and risk 
management.

• Engagement with Public Concern At Work, the UK’s leading whistle-blowing charity to provide Whistleblowing 
support, all risk registers on Datix, and introduced a new simplified process for incident reporting. Reviewed and 
updating all policies in April 2015.

• Undertaking a number of initiatives to address the security, storage and management of medicines including daily 
checking of fridge temperatures and introduction of electronically monitored fridges, improvements to medicines 
reconciliation on admission, introduction of a formal process to address administration errors, weekly monitoring 
and scrutiny of all medication incidents.

Other high priority areas recognised by the Trust where work is being undertaken include:
• Ward assurance - Pressure ulcers, hydration, falls and other nursing metrics
• Embedding the new governance arrangements to ensure lessons are learnt and there is now a ‘Ward to Board’ 

visibility of performance, incidents and complaints with a clear plan for resolution.

Secondary User Services (SUS)
The Trust submitted records throughout 2014/15 to the Secondary User Services for inclusion in the Hospital 
Episodes Statistics which are included in the latest published data. As of January 2015, SUS data which included the 
patient’s valid NHS number was:
• 99.8%  Admitted Patient Care
• 99.9%  Outpatient Care
• 98.5%  Accident and Emergency Care

SUS data which includes the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was:
• 100%  Admitted Patient Care
• 100%  Outpatient Care
• 100%  Accident and Emergency Care

Information Governance Assessment Report
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance Assessment Report overall 
score for 2014/15 was 83% and was graded Green (Satisfactory).

Clinical Coding Error Rate
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust was subject to the Payment by Results (PbR) clinical 
coding inpatient quality audit during the reporting period by our regulators, Monitor. This was based on a sample of 
200 patients with gastroenterology and cardiac disorders from quarter 2 2014/15. In the sample audited there was 
an extremely small error rate of 0.03% (£52) which impacted on pre-audit and post audit prices. It should be noted 
that the results of this audit should not be extrapolated further than the actual sample audited.

Data Quality
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn, will be taking the following actions to improve data quality:
• Continue monitoring data quality via SUS submission dashboards
• Continue the data quality forum to investigate and correct data quality issues
• Carry out regular audits on the recording of data across the Trust
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Indicator Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator (SHMI)
SHMI is a hospital-level indicator which measures whether mortality associated 
with a stay in hospital was in line with expectations. SHMI is the ratio of observed 
deaths in a Trust over a period of time divided by the expected number given the 
characteristics of patients treated by the Trust. SHMI is not an absolute measure of 
quality, however, it is a useful indicator to help Trusts understand mortality rates 
across every service provided during the reporting period. A Lower score indicates 
better performance

The data made available to 
the Trust by the Information 
Centre with regard to:

Reporting  
period

QEHKL
Score

National 
average

Highest 
score

Lowest 
score

Banding

With regard to Summary 
Hospital-level Mortality  
Indicator (SHMI)

Oct 11 - Sept 12 0.9993 1 1.1235 0.8901 2

Jan 12-Dec 12 0.9899 1 1.1919 0.7031 2

April 12 – March 13 1.0154 1 1.1697 0.6523 2

July 12 – June 13 1.0067 1 1.1563 0.6259 2

July 13 – June 14 0.94 1 1.12 0.9 2

The percentage of patient 
deaths with palliative care 
coded at either diagnosis or 
speciality level for the Trust 
for the reporting period
(the palliative care indicator 
is a contextual indicator)

June 11 - June 12 14.5 18.6

Oct 11 - Sept 12 18.8 19.2

2013/14 15.2 Not  
Available

2014/15 17.15 Not  
Available

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
• The Trust is banded as a ‘2’ which is ‘as expected’ mortality. This correlates with information gained from local 

clinical quality meetings

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
score, and so the quality of its services, by: 
• Recruitment of nursing staff to vacant and new posts to ensure that minimum ratios were achieved across the 

Trust
• Improved pathways for emergency admissions including the ambulatory emergency care unit
• Further use of the ‘care bundles’ approach to standardise early treatment of emergency conditions
• Continued emphasis on routine harm prevention including sustained rates of risk assessment for venous  

thromboembolism, falls and nutritional status. 

2.5 Reporting Against Core Indicators
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Indicator Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) scores
PROMs measures a patient’s health-related quality of life from the patient’s 
perspective using a questionnaire completed by patients before and after four 
particular surgical procedures. These questionnaires are important as they capture 
the extent of the patient’s improvement following surgery. A lower interval indicates 
a better outcome.

The data made available to 
the Trust by the Information 
Centre with regard to:

Reporting 
period

QEHKL
score

National 
average

Highest score Lowest score

The Trust’s patient reported 
outcome measures scores 
for groin hernia surgery 

2011/12 0.081 0.087 0.143 -0.002

2012/13 0.126 0.085 0.277 -0.1

2013/14 0.132 0.086 0.2 -0.033

2014/15 0.087 0.081 0.273 -0.17

The Trust’s patient reported 
outcome measures scores 
for varicose vein surgery

2011/12 0.240 0.095 0.240 0.047

2012/13 0.081 0.093 0.239 -0.155

2013/14 0.171 0.102 0.23 -0.043

2014/15 Not Applicable 0.1 0.264 -0.051

The Trust’s patient reported 
outcome measures scores 
for hip replacement surgery

2011/12 0.450 0.416 0.532 0.306

2012/13 0.492 0.438 0.621 0.247

2013/14 0.628 0.447 0.724 0.177

2014/15 0.489 0.442 0.765 0.187

The Trust’s patient reported 
outcome measures scores 
for knee replacement 
surgery

2011/12 0.285 0.302 0.385 0.18

2012/13 0.403 0.319 0.557 0.115

2013/14 0.466 0.339 0.683 0.073

2014/15 0.458 0.328 0.745 0.055

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the  
following reasons: 
• Results are monitored and reviewed as part of the quality schedule agreed with local commissioners

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, 
and so the quality of its services, by:
• The Trust will strengthen the monitoring of PROMs through the Quality Sub-Committee of the Board in 2015/16
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Indicator Re admission rates
The percentage of patients readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the trust 
within 28 days of being discharged from a hospital which forms part of the trust 
during the reporting period.

The data made available to the 
Trust by the Information Centre 
with regard to:

Reporting 
period

QEHKL
score

National 
average

Highest score Lowest score

Percentage of patients aged—
(i) 0 to 15; 

2013/14 11.10% NA 14.20% 7.80%

2014/15 10.48% Not Available Not Available Not Available

And
(ii) 16 or Over

2013/14 7.51% Not Available Not Available Not Available

2014/15 8.02% Not Available Not Available Not Available

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
• Re-admission rates are monitored at divisional and Board level on a monthly basis.
• Data is provided from both NHS England and Dr Foster.

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
score, and so the quality of its services, by: 
• Working within the health system to ensure discharges are safe and appropriate
• Improving relationships with nursing homes and residential care homes to support safe discharge
• Increasing the number of available ‘hot clinics’ and appointments in the Ambulatory Emergency Care Unit
• Developing a pathway for non-specialist palliative care patients with a local nursing home

Indicator The Trust’s score with regard to its responsiveness to the 
personal needs of its patients during the reporting period. 

This indicator which is based on data from the National 
Inpatient Survey, forms part of the NHS Outcome Framework

The data made available to the Trust by the 
Information Centre with regard to:
The overall patient survey score 

Reporting period QEHKL Score England

2014/15 5.0 8.0

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
• Care rounding is in place across all in patient areas. This is regularly audited to ensure that the compliance is 

maintained and the practice is embedded. 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
score, and so the quality of its services, by: 
• Recruitment of nursing staff to vacant and new posts to ensure that minimum ratios were achieved across the 

Trust
• Enhanced the training of all newly appointed Health Care Assistants (HCAs) by a further 8 days to include  

training on the practical aspects of care.
• Revision and relaunch of care rounding in the Trust to support re focus on the fundamentals of care



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust - Quality Account 2014/15 83

Indicator Patients admitted to hospital who were risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism

The data made available to the 
Trust by the Information Centre 
with regard to:

Reporting 
period

QEHKL
score

National 
average

Highest score Lowest 
score

The percentage of patients 
who were admitted to hospital 
and who were risk assessed 
for venous thromboembolism 
during the reporting period.

2012/13 97.12% 93.87% 100% 80.9%

2013/14 97.58% 95.77% 100% 79%

2014/15 97.51% Full year data 
not yet available

Full year data 
not yet available

Full year 
data not yet 

available

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
• The coding team checks that all admitted patients have been risk assessed
• The data is shared monthly with clinical teams and monitored through the SQuaBBs

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this score, 
and so the quality of its services, by: 
• Maintaining its exceptional performance in this area by continuing to deliver its key actions highlighted last 

year such as :
• Including thromboprophylaxis guidelines and anticoagulation management in the junior doctors’ and nurses’ 

induction programme, and in substantive staff annual mandatory training sessions
• Undertaking root cause analysis for all patients with VTE associated with their hospital re-admission and in 

whom thromboprophylaxis was not prescribed according to Trust guidelines
• Undertaking audits of practice by the anticoagulation team, ward and pharmacy champions and feedback of 

results into staff training and education.

Indicator Staff friends and family test

The data made available to the Trust by the 
Information Centre with regard to:

Reporting 
period

QEHKL
score

National 
average

Highest 
score

Lowest 
score

The percentage of staff employed by, or under 
contract to, the trust during the reporting period 
who would recommend the trust as a provider 
of care to their family or friends

2012/13 58 65 94 24

2013/14 49.589 67.106 93.924 39.574

2014/15 52 67 89 38

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
• Responses to the NHS Staff Survey are independently reviewed

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
score, and so the quality of its services, by: 
• Increasing staff establishments in medical areas with high acuity & in maternity and paediatric services 
• Filling registered and unregistered nursing and midwifery vacancies and continuing to plan further 

international recruitment campaigns and ‘Return to work’ initiatives to sustain recruitment
• Initiating an Energising Strategy to improve the value of appraisal
• Undertaking a communication campaign to ensure staff are well informed of key issues in the organisation
• Maintaining the Values Awards that recognise staff who are exemplars of the Trust’s agreed Values and 

Behaviours
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Indicator Clostridium difficile infection rate

The data made available to the 
Trust by the Information Centre 
with regard to:

Reporting 
period

QEHKL
score

National 
average

Highest 
score

Lowest 
score

The number of reported cases 
per 100,00 bed days amongst 
patients aged 2 or over during 
the period

2010/11 23.5 29.7 71.2 0

2011/12 25.1 22.2 58.2 0

2012/13 12.5 17.3 30.8 0

2013/14 28.0 Not Available Not Available Not Available

2014/15 2.82 Not Available Not Available Not Available

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
• The accuracy of data is thoroughly checked by the infection prevention and control team and crossed checked 

with the laboratory (external assurance) prior to submission.

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
score, and so the quality of its services, by: 

Working with the Public Health Engand to address the issues associated with the incidence of Clostridium Difficile 
in the Trust and appointing a leading consultant microbiologist as Director of Infection Prevention and Control 
and Associate Medical Director to develop and implement an extensive programme of innovation and training to 
raise the standards of infection prevention and control within the organisation. Examples of actions implemented 
include:
• Undertaking a trust-wide programme of awareness raising in a ‘Be effective, not infected’ campaign
• Introducing a number of new initiatives around the hospital such as using ultra-violet light emitting devices, 

mobile hand washing sinks, bottled water for patients and disposable bedside curtains
• Improving the use of staff personal protective equipment including more robust facial masks
• Providing further guidance for staff on isolation of patients with potential infections
• Improving antibiotic prescribing in the Emergency Department and Medical Assessment Unit
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Indicator Patient safety incidents and the percentage that resulted in severe harm or death.

The data made available to 
the Trust by the Information 
Centre with regard to:

Reporting period QEHKL
Score 

shown as 

National 
average 
for small 

acute 
Trusts

Highest 
score

Lowest 
score

The number and rate of 
patient safety incidents 
reported within the Trust 
during the reporting period

April 2013 – September 2013 9.82 8.06 17.1 3.89

October 2013 – March 2014 9.88 8.77 15.53 1.19

Now based on 1000 bed days

April 2014 – September 2014 53.36 35.1 74.9 5.8

The % of such patient safety 
incidents that resulted in 
severe harm or death during 
the reporting period

April 2013 – September 2013 0.5 0.8 2.4 0.1

October 2013 – March 2014 0 1 3.1 0.1

Now based on 1000 bed days

April 2014- September 2014 0.4 0.4 8.6 0.1

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
• The Trust`s reporting culture is now embedded in practice and consistent over time with all clinical and 

non-clinical areas engaging with the process 
• The QEHKL has maintained a high reporting rate which places the organization in the top 8 out of 140 acute 

Trusts. This is deemed to be indicative of a safe culture
• The details of the national data demonstrate that whilst the Trust reports more near misses than other Trusts, 

incidents leading to harm are either on a par with or fewer than our peers

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following actions to improve this 
score, and so the quality of its services, by: 
• Focusing on key areas of risk to patient safety identified through investigations and trend analysis and  

developing action plans to address any areas of deficit. Examples include the care of diabetic patients, safe 
management of oxygen and care of the deteriorating patient.

• Continuing to reduce the likelihood of pressure ulcer development with a `100 days free` challenge to the 
wards. This has resulted in some areas achieving over 300 days free from pressure ulcer development.

• Upgrading the Datix reporting system to facilitate improved `live` data analysis and the monitoring and  
integration with complaints and the risk register. Risks to patient safety can now be tracked across all areas 
and elements to inform remedial actions at an earlier stage.

• Significantly focusing on incident investigation training and the development of more robust mechanisms to 
share lessons learnt in order to prevent recurrence of safety incidents.

• Changing the governance structure to support improvements to the oversight and scrutiny of risks.
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Priority 1 

Friends & Family Test – National Priority

Why do we need to improve?
NHS Midlands and East developed a standardised approach with a single metric to obtain ‘real-time’ monitoring of 
Patient Experience based on the Net Promoter Score methodology and this is called the ‘Friends and Family Test’. 
This has now been implemented across the whole of the NHS for adult inpatient, maternity and A&E services.

The Friends and Family Test looks at how likely a patient is to recommend this service to their friends and family. 
The FFT results are reported as the proportion of patients who would recommend our service and the proportion of 
patients who would not recommend it. i.e. the percentage measures are calculated as follows: 

 
 

The use of the Friends and Family Test is one method of measuring how we maintain and build on 
improvements identified from the National Patient Surveys. 

Aim and Goal
1. Implement the Staff FFT across the Trust
2. Achieve early implementation of FFT across all services delivered by the Trust
3.  Increase the FFT response rate, achieving a response rate of:

•  15% for A&E services and 25% for Inpatient services in quarter 1
• 20% for A&E services in quarter 4 and 30% for inpatient services in the first two months of quarter 4 and 40% 

in March.
4. Reduce or maintain at zero, negative responses gathered from A&E, Inpatient and Maternity services as a 
proportion of total responses 

How we monitored and reported progress
The FFT response rates and scores are reported monthly to the Board and also to the bi-monthly Patient Experience 
Steering Group, whose role is to implement the Patient and Carer Experience Strategy. A shared drive was 
developed on the Trust Intranet in the summer of 2014 on which all the FFT results and free-text responses are 
published for direct access by senior clinicians and managers. 

What did we do to improve our performance?
The Trust uses a third-party contractor to collate the results and provide an analysis of the Friends and Family Test 
in an easily understandable format. This is fed back to colleagues so we can celebrate and replicate successes and 
work on those areas where patients tell us we could improve.

By sharing these results with staff and working with the wards and departments where patients tell us we could do 
better, we have seen the trend of our Friends and Family Test response rates improve through 2014/15.

The implementation of the Friends and Family Test across the Trust has enabled teams to see the feedback given by 
patients in the free-text box which accompanies the FFT question. Where these have suggested improvements these 
have been considered and changes made where possible. 

Recommend (%)
      extremely likely + likely
  =
   extremely likely + likely + neither + unlikely + extremely unlikely + don’t know
  x100

Not recommend (%)
      extremely unlikely + unlikely
  =
   extremely likely + likely + niether + unlikely _ extremely unlikely + don’t know
  x100

Part 3: Other Information
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Quarter A&E Response rate % Inpatient Response rate %

1 14.71 25.84

2 21.77 29.93

3 14.87 26.87

4 28.34 45.03

Key:
Green – Quarterly response rate target achieved
Red – Quarterly response rate target not achieved.
White – No target set for this quarter

Measures to support participation in the Friends and Family process have included a revision of the survey cards 
from a folded four sided leaflet format to a two-sided single card format, promotion throughout the Trust in terms 
of banners, posters and displays and the provision of support from volunteers to patients who may struggle to 
complete a card due to frailty and disability.

Outcome
1.  The staff FFT test was implemented across the Trust in Quarter 2 both electronically and in a written paper 

format.
2.  The Trust implemented FFT throughout all departments ahead of the target date and achieved full 

implementation across all services by October 2014.
3.  The response rates for all departments fluctuated through the year but showed an incremental improvement as 

the year progressed and at the year end the Trust achieved its target response rate for A&E and inpatient services 
as shown in these figures:
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4. The Trust was not able to demonstrate that those areas that reported a negative FFT response in which 
respondents did not recommend the service showed an improvement over the year and not all those areas that had 
no negative response initially were able to maintain that position throughout the year. 

The following figure shows the results in percentage terms of those respondents either recommending or not 
recommending the service by month:

The proportion of patients who would not recommend our services (the negative responses) remained static for 
inpatient services over the year, fluctuating each month between 1% and 2%. In A&E the proportion of patients not 
recommending the department showed a greater level of variance with monthly figures varying from 1% at best to 
5% at worst. 
 
There were some improvements in-year to the maternity scores but the proportion of patients not recommending 
our services at the beginning and end of the year were as follows:

The need to improve the response scores and percentage level of recommendation remains a key focus going into 
2015/16 and work will be undertaken to determine the underlying factors that lead to a negative response and how 
these might be addressed.

Maternity Pathway Point % Not recommending in April 2014 % Not recommending in March 2015

36 Weeks ante-natal 3 1

Birth 0 2

Postnatal Ward 0 2

Community Postnatal 0 1
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Priority 2

NHS Safety Thermometer – National Priority

Why do we need to improve?
Developed for the NHS by the NHS as a point of care survey instrument, the NHS Safety Thermometer provides a 
‘temperature check’ on harm which can be used alongside other measures of harm to measure local and system 
progress in providing a care environment free of harm for our patients.
 
In 2012/13 a national CQUIN was established to provide an incentive for demonstrable and sustainable 
improvement. In key safety measures as measured by the NHS Safety Thermometer ‘classic’, with a particular focus 
on pressure ulcer reduction. This led to some 180,000 patients being surveyed across both acute and community 
services each month.

The NHS Safety Thermometer ‘classic’ requires NHS Providers to undertake a survey on one day per month on all 
inpatients and to collect data on pressure ulcers, falls, venous thromboembolism (VTE) and catheter associated 
urinary tract infections (CAUTI). In 2014/ 2015 we continued to collect the full range of data for the Safety 
Thermometer Audit on a monthly basis.

Aim and goal
To continue to reduce the number of patients recorded as experiencing any of the four harms during their period 
of hospital care and in particular to focus on reducing the number of patients having a category 2, 3 or 4 pressure 
ulcer using the NHs Safety Thermometer on the day of each monthly survey.

How we monitored and reported progress
The Lead Nurse for Practice and Education continued to embed the process for collection of data on a monthly 
basis and data was checked for accuracy prior to submission to the Health and Social Care Information Centre. This 
information was shared with all senior nurses within the organisation every month and reported via the Integrated 
Performance report.

What did we do to improve our performance?
In relation to the reduction of the Pressure Ulcer Prevalence a number of initiatives were introduced:
• The Tissue Viability Nurses reviewed all grade 2 and above pressure ulcers and collected data and developed 

monthly KPIs for each ward so that each area could focus on areas for development
• Revised the dressing formulary to ensure the appropriate use of dressings and topical application for the 

prevention and management of pressure ulcers
• Developed a weekly scrutiny panel to share and learn from pressure ulcer development
• The ‘Ready to Roll’ campaign designed to build awareness and reduce the number of pressure ulcers was 

implemented with a significant reduction in avoidable pressure ulcers

As part of a Trust-wide programme to reduce the number of patients falling whilst in the hospital the Falls 
Prevention Group was reformed under the chairmanship of the Lead Nurse for Older People and Liaison Services and 
has begun to implement a number of initiatives:

• Amendment to the Falls Risk Assessment process on admission in line with current NICE guidance (National 
Institute for Health and Care Excellence)

• Review of the Falls Care Plan including the introduction of a ‘Falls Checklist’ for use with all patients
• Amendment to the root cause analysis process to analyse the factors leading to a fall in those that suffer harm as 

a result of their fall
• Review of education and training provision on falls prevention
• Weekly and Monthly audits of falls by ward area to highlight where additional support may be required
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Apr14 May14 Jun14 Jul14 Aug14 Sep14 Oct14 Nov14 Dec14 Jan15 Feb15 Mar15

Pressure Ulcers - All 5.43 7.11 4.3 6.75 4.96 5.36 3.86 5.46 5.52 3.04 5.09 4.47

Category 2 2.72 4.03 2.15 4.1 3.55 2.81 2.73 2.14 4.08 1.87 3.7 2.82

Category 3 2.72 2.84 1.67 2.17 1.42 2.55 0.91 2.85 1.44 1.17 0.69 1.41

Category 4 0 0.24 0.48 0.48 0 0 0.23 0.48 0 0 0.69 0.24

Patients 405 422 419 415 423 392 440 421 417 428 432 425

0%
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2%

3%

4%

5%
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7%

Pressure Ulcers - All: patients with an old or new pressure ulcer

THE QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL, KING'S LYNN, NHS FOUNDATION TRUST, All 

Apr14 May14 Jun14 Jul14 Aug14 Sep14 Oct14 Nov14 Dec14 Jan15 Feb15 Mar15

Pressure Ulcers 5.43 7.11 4.3 6.75 4.96 5.36 3.86 5.46 5.52 3.04 5.09 4.47

Falls 0.25 0 0 0.72 1.18 0.77 0 0.71 0 0.93 0.23 0.47

Catheter & UTI 0.25 0.47 0.95 0.48 0.71 0.26 0.91 0.48 0.96 0.7 1.16 1.65

New VTE 0 0 0.48 1.2 0 0.51 0 0 0 0.47 0.46 0.24

Patients 405 422 419 415 423 392 440 421 417 428 432 425

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

Types of Harm: Percentage of patients with each type of Harm

THE QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL, KING'S LYNN, NHS FOUNDATION TRUST, All 

Further initiatives to be implemented in 2015/16 will include:
• Development of a Falls webpage to provide information on best practice for staff
• Review the provision of falls prevention equipment and aids
• Overall increase in Falls awareness through the introduction of Falls champions

Outcome
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Apr14 May14 Jun14 Jul14 Aug14 Sep14 Oct14 Nov14 Dec14 Jan15 Feb15 Mar15

Catheter & New UTI 0.25 0.47 0.48 0.24 0.47 0.26 0.23 0 0.72 0.23 0.46 0.24

Mean

Patients 405 422 419 415 423 392 440 421 417 428 432 425

0%

0.1%

0.2%

0.3%

0.4%

0.5%

0.6%

0.7%

Catheter & New UTI: 

THE QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL, KING'S LYNN, NHS FOUNDATION TRUST, All 

Apr14 May14 Jun14 Jul14 Aug14 Sep14 Oct14 Nov14 Dec14 Jan15 Feb15 Mar15

Falls - All 1.73 0 1.19 2.17 1.42 1.79 0.91 1.43 1.44 1.87 1.16 1.41

No Harm 1.48 0 1.19 1.45 0.24 1.02 0.91 0.71 1.44 0.93 0.93 0.94

Low Harm 0.25 0 0 0.48 0.71 0.77 0 0.48 0 0.23 0.23 0.47

Moderate Harm 0 0 0 0.24 0.47 0 0 0.24 0 0.7 0 0

Severe Harm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Death 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Patients 405 422 419 415 423 392 440 421 417 428 432 425

0%

0.5%

1%

1.5%

2%

Falls - All: patients who have fallen

THE QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL, KING'S LYNN, NHS FOUNDATION TRUST, All 
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Apr14
May1

4
Jun14 Jul14 Aug14 Sep14 Oct14 Nov14Dec14 Jan15 Feb15 Mar15

VTE Prophylaxis Not Given 0.99 0.95 2.15 3.37 3.07 3.57 2.27 1.9 0.72 1.4 5.32 2.59

VTE Prophylaxis Given 70.62 76.78 68.97 73.98 68.09 68.37 72.27 71.97 74.34 73.36 71.06 71.06

VTE Prophylaxis Not Appropriate 28.4 22.27 28.88 22.65 28.84 28.06 25.45 26.13 24.94 25.23 23.61 26.35

Patients 405 422 419 415 423 392 440 421 417 428 432 425
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VTE Prophylaxis: patients given VTE prophylaxis

THE QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL, KING'S LYNN, NHS FOUNDATION TRUST, All 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn, NHS Foundation Trust, All
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Priority 3

Dementia – National Priority

 Why do we need to improve?
The National Dementia Strategy published in 2009 identified that people with dementia experience under diagnosis, 
delayed discharges from acute and community hospitals, premature admissions to care homes and a general lack of 
appropriate services. 

The aim of the strategy is to achieve significant improvement in 3 main areas:
• Awareness 
• Early diagnosis & intervention 
• Higher quality care

Half of those admitted to hospital with dementia have never been diagnosed prior to admission and other causes of 
cognitive impairment such as delirium or depression are often missed.

The 2014/15 CQUIN asked that we also consider a differential diagnosis of delirium. The NICE Clinical Guideline on 
Delirium (2010) provides guidance on the prevention, diagnosis and management of delirium in older people.  
It complies with the national guidance on good practice compiled by the Royal College of Physicians (2006).

Delirium is a common condition in older people affecting up to 30% of all older medical patients. Patients with 
delirium have a higher mortality, institutionalisation and complication rates and longer lengths of stay than non-
delirious patients. (Trust Clinical guidelines on the prevention, diagnosis and management of Delirium. August 
2012).

Implementation of the strategy has been incorporated as a regional indicator into the commissioning CQUIN targets 
for the Trust and as part of the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention programme (QIPP) within Norfolk. 
During this last year the CQUIN target has been directed not only at continuing the earlier programme for finding, 
assessing, investigating and referring patients with a possible diagnosis of dementia (F.A.I.R) but also at addressing 
the important issues of clinical leadership, staff training and support for carers looking after people with dementia.

Last year the programme focused on using the opportunity provided by an inpatient admission into hospital 
to support the identification of patients with dementia and other causes of impaired cognition and prompt an 
appropriate referral and follow up after they leave hospital. This year the programme has built on this important aim 
and has looked at how the quality of care can be improved through education, training and clinical leadership and 
has recognised the needs of those carers who support the person with dementia on a daily basis. 

Aim and Goal
1.  To ensure that all patients aged 75 and over admitted as emergency inpatients are included in the F.A.I.R 

programme and those with a potential diagnosis of dementia are identified, assessed, investigated and 
appropriately referred for further diagnostic advice and follow up after discharge.

2.  To identify a named lead clinician for dementia within the organisation and undertake a planned programme of 
training for staff.

3.  To undertake a monthly audit of carers of people with dementia to determine whether they feel supported and 
ensure that these results are reported to the Board of Directors.

How we achieved our target
The Trust has a team to deliver this challenge, which is led by a Lead Nurse for Dementia plus a team of three 
Dementia Support Workers.

During the last year the CQUIN for early diagnosis and intervention has continued and based on our latest figures 
we are on target to achieve the CQUIN this year. The F.A.I.R programme targeted all emergency admissions over the 
age of 75 years of age. 
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In line with other acute trusts within Norfolk, the organisation decided on using the ‘Test Your Memory’ test (TYM 
test) as the principal assessment tool for screening patients that had scored ≤ 7 on the Abbreviated Mental Test 
Score during their admission clerking or had triggered using the national dementia finding question:

‘Have you been more forgetful in the last 12 months to the extent that it has significantly affected your life?’

Patients were first asked to undertake an abbreviated form of the TYM test (Pre- TYM), a shortened version of the 
full TYM test, to check whether they were able to participate in completing the test. Only those that were able to 
complete the Pre- TYM test and scored ≥6 were then screened using the full TYM test. 

The year after reviewing the pathway we decided to repeat the abbreviated mental test score again before 
proceeding with the Test your Memory Test. It was felt by the team that at this point patients were often clinically 
more stable and often passed the second test without concern. 

According to the outcome of the TYM test, patients were assigned to one of four categories which gave an 
indication of whether there were any concerns with the patient’s cognitive function. This included an additional 
‘black’ category that had not been introduced last year but encompassed those patients with the most profound 
impairment of function: 

1.  Patients who scored ≤ 3 on the AMTS when tested and did not have further screening. These patients scored 
BLACK on the Cognitive State Summary.

2.  Patients who scored <6 on the pre-TYM did not have further screening. These patients scored RED on the 
Cognitive State Summary. Often these patients had significant health problems that affected their ability to 
participate fully in screening.

3.  Patients who scored ≥6 on the Pre-TYM but <41 on the TYM test. This indicated that they were able to complete 
the Pre-TYM but scored poorly on the TYM. These patients scored AMBER on the Cognitive State Summary. 

4.  Patients who scored >6 on the Pre-TYM and >41 on TYM. This indicated that either the patient /or their 
informant felt there was no evidence for recent cognitive decline or that the patient passed the TYM and  
Pre-TYM tests. These patients scored GREEN on the Cognitive State Summary. 

When patients are considered medically fit for discharge a cognitive state summary is forwarded to their GP along 
with normal investigations and discharge notification, for the GP to consider if the patient would benefit from 
further investigations to determine a definitive diagnosis and/or additional support.

In addition during 2013-14 the Trust developed a direct referral pathway for Norfolk patients to the Memory Clinic 
provided by Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust for those patients scoring AMBER and who are mostly likely 
to benefit from early intervention. This direct referral was undertaken with the consent of the patients concerned. 
Since July 2014 22 patients have been directly referred using this pathway. 

The Trust strengthened the clinical leadership for dementia by identifying dementia champions to promote a better 
understanding of the needs of patients with dementia and to promote person-centred dementia care as a key 
quality measure.

In terms of staff training, the Trust chose to implement a range of training opportunities to ensure an improved 
broad awareness amongst all staff and access to specific training sessions for staff working in certain clinical areas 
where there is a greater incidence of patients with cognitive impairment.

This has included one hour dementia awareness sessions on induction and within the mandatory training 
programme; specific training sessions for nurses on the ‘Return to Practise’ programme, European nurses’ 
adaptation programme, pre-nursing course and the nursing auxiliary training programme; a bespoke training 
programme for nursing auxiliaries on the Care of the Elderly and Emergency Orthopaedic wards. In addition, 
individual staff members have had the opportunity to undertake UEA Post Registration Leadership in Dementia 
graduate courses, Diploma in Dementia Care at Norwich City College, the Dementia Coaching training programme 
provided by the Norfolk and Suffolk Dementia Alliance in conjunction with UEA and the three day residential 
Cambridge Dementia Course. Unison also kindly sponsored the provision of four dementia training sessions within 
the hospital in conjunction with the Open University. To date 247 members of staff have attended the Unison 
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training, with further sessions arranged for April 2015 and a long course being offered to staff who have attended 
this training. 

West Norfolk Carers’ Association supported the Trust in developing Carers’ packs of useful information and contact 
details of support organisations. These are given to all identified carers and include a questionnaire to audit how 
supported carers felt during the admission of the person with dementia into hospital. This also provides the team 
with the opportunity to meet with carers and to support the completion of the hospital passport and ‘This is me’ 
documents that support staff in the delivery of person-centred care to patients with dementia.

Outcome

Aim 1
Approximately 760 patients were screened per month. The programme ensured that all these patients benefitted 
from:

Finding 
An initial assessment of cognitive function during the first 72 hours of admission using the Abbreviated Mental Test 
Score (AMTS) and the ‘Dementia-finding’ question. Both of these are currently completed and recorded within all 
the clerking documents within the Trust. 
 
Assessment
Further screening of all patients who scored ≤ 7 on the AMTS or who indicated, (or a relative indicated), on the 
dementia-finding question that they had experienced increased forgetfulness within the last 12 months. The Trust 
utilised the TYM (Test Your Memory) test as the screening tool for further investigating the patient’s current level of 
cognition.

Investigation 
Additional investigations during the admission to support understanding of the patient’s possible diagnosis including 
blood tests, electrocardiogram, CT or MRI, if applicable.

Referral 
A referral to the patient’s GP on discharge which included a Cognitive State Summary and the results of the 
supportive investigations during the admission, excluding those patients that scored >7 on their initial AMTS and did 
not indicate that they had experienced forgetfulness. 

The patients also received a letter advising them that memory assessments had been carried out whilst they were in 
hospital and that they may wish to consider a follow up appointment to discuss this with their GP

Approximately 3 patients a month from West Norfolk met the criteria for a direct referral to the Memory Service.

Aim 2
91.2% of required staff within the organisation are compliant with having received dementia awareness training 
and 80.67% with having received training on mental capacity. This was an increase of 25% on last year of staff 
receiving dementia awareness training and a 33 % increase in those who have attended a mental capacity training.

Aim 3
88 carers’ packs were distributed to eligible carers. 

How the Trust Monitored Implementation
The Trust established a database which was populated with the details of all patients age >75 years old admitted 
as emergency inpatients. This information was taken from the main patient administration system on a daily basis 
during the working week. The Dementia Team then ensured that the database was updated with the details of 
when assessments took place, the results of those assessments and when subsequent referrals had been sent. Data 
was entered for all patients and any potential gaps were rapidly identified and the individual patients followed up.

The organisation cross-checked the information by undertaking a continuous audit of all qualifying patient health 
records as they passed through Clinical Coding following discharge to ensure that copies of the relevant assessment 
and referral paperwork were present in the records. Progress on meeting the quality improvement objectives were 
reported on a monthly basis to the Dementia Strategy Steering Group.
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Priority 4

Seven Day Service – Local Priority 

In 2013, NHS England agreed 10 core standards for 7 day working in acute Trusts. Together with our commissioners, 
we agreed that 4 of these standards would be used to drive quality improvements within the Trust during 2014/15.

1. Time to first consultant review
Why do we need to improve?
‘Time to first consultant review’ is one of the 10 standards for 7 day working set by NHS England in 2013. Early 
senior review and decision making has been recognised as key to the quality of patients’ care by many reports and 
organisations, including NCEPOD and the Royal Colleges.

Aim and goal
For 90% of patients admitted urgently between 8am and 8pm, the consultant review should take place within 6 
hours.

For 90% of patients admitted urgently between 8pm and 8am, the consultant review should take place within 14 
hours.

These standards are applicable 7 days a week, and for the purposes of this improvement project, were applied to 
patients admitted under medicine and surgery.

 What did we do to improve our performance?
Consultant staffing and work rotas were reviewed and optimised to ensure that consultants were able to carry out 
the reviews within the timeframes required. 
• In medicine, the overall level of medical staffing was significantly revised to include increased cover for both senior 

and junior medical staff in the evenings and at weekends. 
• In surgery, there is an increased frequency of consultant rounds during the day and GPs patient referrals to surgery 

are transferred directly to the surgical assessment unit whenever possible rather than waiting in the Emergency 
Department. This should allow them to be seen, scanned and, decisions made more quickly about plans for their 
care

Daytime admissions (8am - 8pm), percentage of patients seen within 6 hours

How we monitored our progress
Retrospective sampling of case notes was carried out every month to evaluate performance against the targets. The 
results were shared with the clinical teams to enable them to make further changes as required to improve the data.

2. Access to diagnostics
The NHS England 7 Day Standard requires that admitted patients have access to diagnostics according to clinical 
need as guided by national clinical guidelines across all 7 days of the week. 

Q3 Q4

Weekday Weekend Weekday Weekend 

Medicine 71% 72% 85% 62%

Surgery 30% 50% 83% 84%

Nightime admissions (8pm – 8am), percentage of patients seen within 14 hours

Q3 Q4

Weekday Weekend Weekday Weekend 

Medicine 86% 81% 89% 91%

Surgery 95% 100% 86% 95%
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Why do we need to improve?
A baseline assessment showed that we needed to improve access to diagnostic endoscopy for patients admitted 
with symptoms of bleeding from their upper gut. Diagnosing and treating bleeding from the upper gut quickly can 
reduce the need for blood transfusion and bleeding-related complications such as kidney damage.

Aim and Goal
Patients admitted with bleeding from their upper gut should have an endoscopic examination within 24 hours of 
request to diagnose a possible source of the bleeding. This standard is based on a NICE Clinical Guideline.

We set a target of 70% of patients to meet this target by the fourth quarter of 2014/15.

What did we do to improve our performance?
The time from request to diagnostic examination was routinely recorded by staff in the endoscopy department 
who monitored their achievement of the target on a regular basis. These patients were prioritised onto existing 
endoscopy lists and where possible, carried out at weekends in order to meet the target of 70%.

Outcome
Our baseline measurement showed that only 64% of patients underwent endoscopy within 24 hours of request.

As a result of changes introduced as described, 88% (64 out of 73) of patients were endoscoped within 24 hours of 
referral in Q4, thus meeting the standard.

3. Consultant directed interventions
The NHS England 7 Day Standard requires that admitted patients have access to consultant directed intervention 
according to clinical need as guided by national clinical guidelines across all 7 days of the week. 

Why do we need to improve?
A baseline assessment showed that we needed to improve access to surgical fixation for patients admitted with 
a hip fracture. This operation is carried out by a consultant orthopaedic surgeon or by other suitably trained staff 
under their direction. There is good evidence to show that patients who have their hip fracture fixed quickly, make a 
faster recovery and suffer from fewer complications.

Aim and goal
Patients admitted with a hip fracture and who are medically fit for an operation should have that operation carried 
out within 36 hours of admission in 90% of cases.

What did we do to improve our performance?
We improved access to the operating theatre for these patients at the weekends, particularly on Saturdays, when 
there is a routine ‘trauma’ operating list. Although there is no routine ‘trauma list’, these procedures are also now 
routinely carried out on Sundays unless the emergency theatre is unavalible. At times of heavy demand, we also 
ensured that all available space on elective weekday lists was utilised for trauma patients.

Outcome
Our baseline assessment showed that only 75% of 80 patients underwent surgery within 36hrs.
In quarter 3, 93.7% had their fractures fixed within 36 hours, and in quarter 4 this has risen further to 98%, 
meeting the standard.

How we monitored and reported progress
The care of patients admitted with hip fracture is co-ordinated by a dedicated team of nursing staff who ensure that 
they are medically assessed and optimized quickly after admission. These nurses maintain a database of a number 
of aspects of care of this patient group. This data was shared regularly with theatre and anaesthetic staff so that all 
staff involved in this pathway were aware of their achievements.

4. Multidisciplinary Team Review
The NHS England 7 Day Standard requires that patients admitted as an emergency are seen by members of a 
multidisciplinary team within 14 hours of their admission to assess for complex or on-going needs An integrated 
management plan with estimated discharge date and physiological and functional criteria for discharge must be in 
place along with completed medicines reconciliation within 24 hours 
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Why do we need to improve?
A baseline assessment showed gaps in provision of some members of the multidisciplinary team, particularly during 
the weekend. In particular, there were wards with no visits from rehabilitation staff on one or both weekend days, 
and there was neither routine medicines reconciliation or ward pharmacy service at the weekend.

Aim and goal
The aim was to improve provision of rehabilitation staff to see newly admitted patients and to explore ways to 
improve provision of some pharmacy services at weekends.

What did we do to improve our performance?
We reviewed staffing establishment and working patterns in both rehabilitation and pharmacy services

Outcome
The rehabilitation service to the short stay medical ward has increased on Sundays. However, we have locum staff 
to newly established posts to support the new Frailty Ward, but further development in this area and other wards is 
planned to continue during 2015/16. 

The pharmacy service has been significantly increased at weekends although this has been prioritised to dispensary-
based staff to support take home medications for weekend discharges. Recruitment challenges have meant that a 
ward pharmacist service and medicines reconciliations remain aspirations for 2015/16.
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Priority 5

System wide assurance process – local priority

Frail and Elderly Assessment Tool

Why do we need to improve?
The Government, in its response to the Francis Report and publication of ‘Hard Truths’ (Department of Health 2013) 
agrees that the link between culture and compassionate care for older patients is fundamental, across all health 
and care settings. The development of a new frailty pathway has the potential to reduce harm and improve the 
experience of frail older people in hospital by recognising that the concept of ‘frailty’ is a new specialty requiring 
expertise and specific resources to best meet the needs of this newly identified group of patients. 

Implementation of this pathway underpins all five domains of the NHS Outcomes Framework. It is designed to 
engage and capture the energies and commitment of medical, nursing and allied health professional leaders who 
have responsibility for meeting the domain requirements.

The implementation of an assessment tool is vital to identify those patients that would benefit from being treated 
via a frailty pathway and to distinguish from those patients with more complex needs that might require different 
levels of intervention. The assessment tool will enable healthcare professionals to ensure a consistent approach 
to the assessment of Frail and Elderly patients and to identify the underlying health issues that have brought the 
individual into hospital so that their care is delivered in an effective manner.

Key outcomes for the Frail Elderly
Frailty is a complex and fluctuating syndrome. Patients will enter the pathway at different levels, or may require 
identification in primary care in order to access appropriate services along the pathway. However, identification of 
frail people and the level of frailty can be a challenge. While many experienced clinicians can instinctively recognise 
a frail person, there is a need to support identification using case-finding tools and techniques. (DOH Safe, 
compassionate care for the frail elderly 2014)

The essential elements of an end-to-end pathway of care for frail older people are described as follows:

• Healthy active ageing and supporting independence
• Living well with simple or stable long-term conditions
• Living well with complex comorbidities, dementia and frailty
• Rapid support close to home in crisis
• Good acute hospital care when (and only when) needed
• Good discharge planning and post-discharge support
• Good rehabilitation and re-enablement after acute illness or injury
• High-quality nursing and residential care for those who truly need it
• Choice, control and support towards the end of life (King’s Fund, 2013)

Frail people at different stages of the pathway will require a range of interventions that are clinically effective and 
appropriate for their level of frailty. These interventions may well involve voluntary and community sector groups, 
in addition to clinical assessment and support, particularly at the early stages of frailty when the focus should be on 
maintaining independence and optimising function and health.

Aim & Goal
1. Identify a suitable Frail and Elderly Patient Assessment Tool and agree the tool with West Norfolk CCG.
2.  Develop a pilot plan with a trajectory for how the assessment tool & training in using the tool will be 

implemented. Provide an overview of pilot findings in an evaluation.
3.  Undertake a patient feedback survey of at least 15% of patients and 15% of service users such as primary care 

and care homes. This feedback is to be presented as a full report on the outcomes of the surveys and to be used 
to provide qualitative evidence as to the effectiveness of the tool prior to considering its roll out to other wards 
and departments within the Trust.
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How did we achieve our aims & goal?

Aim 1
The Trust explored validated screening tools that exist to help healthcare professionals identify frailty. We took guidance 
from the Department of Health (DOH) document (2014), “Safe compassionate care for frail older people using an 
integrated pathway”. Utilising a multidisciplinary approach and decision-making we implemented the Edmonton Frailty 
Tool. It was also highlighted at this point that we would require an initial trigger to identify frailty as part of the trust-
wide patient admission clerking paperwork before considering undertaking a full frailty assessment. 

To further support the frail elderly pathway the Trust decided to develop a frailty unit within the organisation, 
Windsor Ward. Windsor Ward has been established as a frailty unit since mid-November 2014 and has 33 beds for 
both male and female patients. 

We recognised that the initial trigger would form stage 1 of a 2-stage process and would simply be used to identify 
those patients who may be frail. We would then proceed to stage 2 of a full frailty review and in line with the 
admission criteria for the Frailty Unit decide if the patient met the criteria for admission to Windsor Ward.

To further strengthen this pathway, implement the tool and impart knowledge and skills to those providing the 
service, a dedicated consultant and a lead nurse for older people would be required within the organisation. A 
Lead Nurse for Older People and Liaison Services (incl: Frail Elderly and Dementia) was appointed in conjunction 
with an initial appointment of a locum Geriatrician. This facilitated the provision of training to both medical and 
nursing staff and strengthened the understanding of the key outcomes for the frail elderly as outlined in the DOH’s 
document.

Aim 2
A training trajectory was agreed of 40% of all registered nurses across 4 key clinical areas for quarter 4 2014/15:
• The Emergency Department, 
• Medical Assessment Unit, 
• Terrington Short Stay Ward,
• Windsor Ward.

These were seen as the pivotal departments and wards on the admission pathway when early identification of the 
frail older patient would be beneficial.

A training package was developed by the Lead Nurse that consisted of a short presentation at ward level and 
hand-outs constructed of supporting documents regarding the assessment tool and the definition and description 
of frailty including the key outcomes for frail elderly patients, the frail elderly pathway and evidence to support the 
introduction of a frailty unit.

At the end of March 2015 the Trust had achieved the following percentage of staff trained in these key areas:
• Emergency Department 39%
• Medical Assessment Unit 44%
• Terrington Short Stay 60%
• Windsor Ward 60%

Further training of registered nurses in these areas is scheduled to be delivered over the next 3 months meeting an 
agreed trajectory that will ensure >90% will have received training by the end of June 2015.

Aim 3
A process to contact patients and offer them a survey was developed and introduced by the Therapy team on 
Windsor Ward. The team organised data collection from those patients who had agreed to be contacted on 
discharge and this included both patients in their own homes and those in residential or nursing homes. This follow-
up is still currently being provided and to date the Trust has contacted >15% of all patients on the Frailty Pathway in 
accordance with the agreed aim.

The data captured and feedback from the patients will be evaluated as part of the CQUIN pathway and from 
this we will be able to ascertain key themes and issues that are of concern to patients on discharge or after 
discharge. Whilst undertaking the surveys the therapy team have also been able to support and signpost patients to 
community services based on any issues raised. 
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How the Trust monitored implementation
The frailty work stream task and finish group comprised of a number of key individuals who have overseen the 
entire pathway from development and adoption of the tool through to the opening of the frailty unit.

Details of the nursing establishments in the 4 key areas were sourced to ensure all registered nurses received 
training in line with the agreed trajectory and to facilitate the development of a plan to ensure all staff received 
training.

The Dementia Strategy Steering Group is a well-established group within the organisation and it was felt that this 
group should expand and become the Frail Elderly and Dementia Strategy Steering Group. All progress on meeting 
the quality improvement objectives were reported on a monthly basis to this group.
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Mental health
Why do we need to improve?
Patients with mental health problems are cared for throughout the Trust. Patients may present as a consequence 
of their mental health problems with issues related to self-harm, depression, anxiety and dementia or may develop 
mental health difficulties as an inpatient and experience delirium, psychosis and depression.

Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NFST) provides an in-reach mental health liaison service that supports 
the Emergency Department. Patients that are admitted as inpatients are initially seen and assessed by the Trust’s 
own team, which consists of two mental health liaison nurses, and if further consultant psychiatric assessment or 
treatment is required or on-going support on discharge, patients are then referred to NSFT. 

There are potential delays in the referral and assessment process both in the Emergency Department and on the 
wards and this can affect patients being able to access the support they require in a timely manner and lead to 
delays in discharge.

Aim and Goal
• To provide earlier identification of patients with mental health problems
• To improve the assessment of patients leading to more appropriate management and more timely discharge.

 This will ensure:
• Quicker and consistent assessment of patients with mental health problems.
• Provision of more appropriate management and timely discharge.
• Ability to respond to variable pressure in the system whilst considering longer term sustainable provision.
• To consolidate the provision of appropriate training for different staff groups to ensure the required skills and 

knowledge in clinical areas.

What did we do to improve our performance?
The Trust worked in collaboration with NSFT to develop a joint approach to improving the quality of provision for 
patients with mental health problems. NSFT worked towards establishing an enhanced liaison service including 
access to consultant psychiatric support and to providing additional training support to medical and nursing staff 
at The Queen Elizabeth Hospital whilst the Trust set out to strengthen its internal referral system and its in-house 
training provided to staff by:

• Developing a system for coordinating referrals for mental health, learning disability and drug and alcohol 
dependency patients

• Submitting a business case for the development of a coordinator role 
• Consolidating the provision of training for different staff groups to ensure that staff in the clinical areas have the 

required skills and knowledge 

In quarter 1 the Trust developed a suitable job description and advertised the role both internally and externally. 
There was early agreement to support this appointment as a substantive Band 6 role. Despite six rounds of 
advertising no suitable candidate has applied and the job description has now been re-written to attract candidates 
with similar but broader areas of expertise.

In the interim, referrals to NSFT from the Emergency Department have occurred directly to the in-reach liaison 
service and these patients are seen in the Emergency Department. NSFT audit the time taken from arrival to referral 
and then to assessment. 

Pending appointment of a coordinator, inpatients are referred initially to our two in-house Mental Health Liaison 
nurses and our Learning Disability Liaison Nurse as appropriate for initial assessment and treatment advice and 
then only those requiring a further assessment or treatment are referred on to NSFT, Norfolk Recovery Partnership 
or to the Clinical Psychology Department. The two Mental Health Liaison Nurses act as a dual point of access for a 
consultant psychiatric opinion.

The in-house training programme has been completely reviewed and consolidated into a one and half hour training 
session that is delivered via the annual mandatory training programme and has already become business as usual. 
This training session includes sections on:
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• Mental capacity
• Dementia
• Learning Disabilities
• Self-harm

In addition to this in-house training programme, NSFT have delivered two consultant-led training sessions for Trust 
consultant staff and have delivered additional training to nursing staff in the Emergency Department. A half-day 
stakeholder event on self-harm was held by NSFT in 2014 to which staff from the Trust were invited. 

How we monitored and reported progress
The number of staff trained forms part of the monthly mandatory training section of the Integrated Performance 
report and is reviewed by the Board before the report is disseminated throughout the Trust and shared with the 
Clinical Commissioning Group through the Clinical Quality Review Meeting.

In addition the Trust provides an update on the progress on delivery of the CQUIN on a quarterly basis to the Clinical 
Commissioning Group within the programme of monthly clinical quality meetings.

Outcome
Due to the inability to appoint to the coordinator role, to date it has not been possible to audit any changes to the 
referral pathway and determine whether this leads to a reduction in the time taken from referral to review, earlier 
and more effective identification of specialist input required or a reduction in inappropriate referrals.

The training programme was completed and in place by quarter 3. Copies of the programme were delivered to 
the commissioners. The training figures for all health professional groups on mental capacity and dementia are 
as follows over the 3 year period from February 2012 up until March 2015. From January 2015 this session now 
includes a section on general mental health presentations and managing patients who have presented at hospital 
following an episode of self-harm:

At the end of quarter 1 2015/16 it is intended to undertake an audit looking at referral times from initial referral 
from the ward to our in-house liaison team and then referral times from the team to the patient being seen by NSFT, 
Norfolk Recovery Partnership or the Clinical Psychology Department.

Reduction in paediatric admissions due to long term conditions
Improvements in care and better survival rates for children with low birth weights has resulted in an increasing 
prevalence of children living with long term health conditions. It is therefore more important than ever that we put 
in place appropriate pathways to ensure that these children can live as full a life as possible out in the community 
with their families and that their health needs are managed locally so preventing frequent unplanned hospital 
admissions. This CQUIN focused on three long term conditions, namely Asthma, Diabetes and Epilepsy.

Commissioners identified from locally and nationally available data that we have higher rates of emergency 
admissions for these three long term conditions. It was however felt by the Paediatric department that the statistics 
used may not reflect the true number of admissions with particularly epilepsy and diabetes due to erroneous 
coding: for example, a child known to have epilepsy and admitted for an MRI scan, or a child who happens to have 
diabetes being admitted for an unrelated problem. However, both epilepsy and diabetes are managed entirely at 
secondary care level in paediatrics. In contrast to this, asthma attendances were felt to be high, but the preventive 
management to avoid admissions take places almost entirely at primary care level. Therefore approaches were 
different for the different conditions.

Staff Group Mental Capacity Dementia

Nursing 92.4% 92.4%

Allied Health Professionals 91.89% 95.95%
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Aim and goal
• To develop a Primary Care / GP pathway supported by the development of a comprehensive management plan for 

each child admitted with one of these conditions to reduce the frequency of further readmissions.
• To provide training to GPs to support implementation of the pathway.

What did we do to improve our performance?
The Trust established current practice by undertaking baseline audits for each of these conditions and then 
developed an action plan for improvement which was shared with the Clinical Commissioning Group. The CQUIN 
focused initially on demonstrating improvement in the management of children with asthma and for this group the 
BTS Asthma audit for 2013 was taken as the baseline audit. It was agreed that all GP practices involved would have 
as a minimum a paediatric oxygen saturation monitoring device so that these children could be monitored in the 
community.

The baseline audit in asthma showed that there was documentary evidence of the personalised written 
management plan being given out at discharge for only 48% of patients.

The baseline audit in epilepsy demonstrated that in 2013/14 there were 138 admissions for 62 individual patients 
with a coding of epilepsy. After analysing the admissions it was established that there were only 44 admissions, 
representing 21 patients, directly related to their epilepsy. 6 of these patients had recurrent admissions due to 
intractable seizures and were already known to tertiary care services in addition to their care at this Trust. It was 
felt that 7 admissions were potentially avoidable had an Epilepsy Specialist Nurse been in place that covers the 
Cambridgeshire and Lincolnshire areas. Overall the audit therefore showed that the true underlying rate of epilepsy 
related admissions was not high locally. It was proposed in the audit plan that the discharge letter should be 
changed to enable more accurate coding, by clearly identifying whether the admission is elective or emergency and 
by classifying the diagnosis by primary diagnosis and co-morbidities.

A training session for GPs was delivered by one of the Consultant Paediatricians to the Swaffham practice in 2014. 
Additionally training is being delivered by a consultant to a group of health visitors and community nurses in June 
2015. Further sessions will be offered when a plan is agreed with the children’s commissioner regarding the number 
and type of sessions required to best assist primary care.

All the relevant paediatric staff at the Trust received information and advice on providing written management 
plans for patients admitted with asthma and these were implemented in October 2014. The written plan was 
photocopied and placed in the notes to provide evidence for both the contents of the plan and the fact of it being 
done, for future audit purposes. 

How we monitored and reported progress
The initial baseline audits for each of these conditions established current practice and provided comparison data 
for subsequent improvements. These audits were presented at the Paediatric Clinical Governance meetings held in 
2014.

A further audit was then undertaken in January/February 2015 looking at children admitted during November 2014 
with asthma or viral wheeze and the results of this audit are included in the outcome section.

This will be supplemented by a parent/carer satisfaction survey planned in the 2015/16 audit plan, and a further re-
audit at the end of 2015.

Outcome
100% of children audited in November were shown to have a management plan in place.
The audit demonstrated the following outcomes:
• 100% of patients had personalised written management plans provided for them, thus meeting the CQUIN 

target. This is an increase from 48% in the baseline audit
• The numbers of admissions were similar between the 2 audit sample dates 2013 and 2014.
• Chest x-ray usage has decreased from 65% to 21% following staff education regarding indications for x-rays.
• Antibiotic usage has decreased from 52% to 12% for patients admitted with asthma exacerbations. This effect 

may in part be due to the reduced use of x-rays above as well as staff education.
• Use of multi-dosing inhalers alone, rather than nebulisers has increased significantly.
• There is an apparent trend towards a shorter length of stay.
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Virtual Ward

Why do we need to improve?
The introduction of the concept of a ‘Virtual ward’ in the community has been a successful way of ensuring 
safe early discharge of patients who do not need acute hospital care but may need limited nursing input. The 
Trust wanted to enhance this service through the employment of a hospital-based nurse who would increase the 
awareness of this service to acute hospital nurses. This in turn would ensure that all patients who meet the criteria 
are considered for this service and so improve discharge rates from the Trust. 

Aim and goal
•  The aim was to increase the identification of patients who could be safely discharged via this service and the 

actual number discharged to the ‘Virtual Ward’,
• The goal was to raise awareness of the Virtual Ward process, develop a training package that includes a simple 

proforma and criteria for referral.

What did we do to improve our performance?
We appointed an experienced registered nurse within the Trust to support and complement the work of the ‘Virtual 
ward’ within the community setting. This role supported clinical areas to accurately identify patients eligible for 
discharge to the virtual ward and the post-holder undertook to deliver all the other aspects of the role including 
staff training and the development of the pathway with its associated paperwork.

How we monitored and reported progress
A system of on-going monthly reporting to the local Clinical Commissioning Group is in place and the trust reports 
on the number of staff trained and the number of patients identified to place into the ‘Virtual Ward’. This data is 
further broken down by demographics, type of condition, re-admission within 48 hours and mortality within 48 
hours of discharge.

Outcome
A new service is now in place to support a prompt, safe and effective discharge of patients who meet the pre-
selected criteria. A new referral proforma is currently being developed and piloted within the Trust. A training 
programme has been developed and will be rolled out to all registered nurses once the pilot is complete. A flagging 
system has been developed to identify patients who are eligible for the ‘Virtual Ward’ and will be implemented 
Trust-wide in the coming 12 months.

GP provision in the Emergency Department
In conjunction with the Clinical Commissioning Group, the Trust has considered a model of care for the Emergency 
Department which supports the care of patients that select the Emergency Department as an option of care for 
ambulatory illness and injury. This model looks at co-locating a GP in the Emergency Department to work alongside 
the Nurse Practitioner to address the care of patients that self-present with injury, illness or an exacerbation of a 
long term condition.

Why do we need to improve?
An increasing proportion of patients chose to self-present in the Emergency Department with health problems that 
could in other circumstances be dealt with in a primary care setting. This adds to the pressure on the Emergency 
Department and may lead to patients undergoing unnecessary investigations, delays in treatment and potentially an 
unnecessary admission into hospital. The Nurse Practitioner service in the Emergency Department is able to address 
the needs of many of these patients but the breadth of service would be increased with additional clinical expertise 
in terms of GP oversight and assessment. This issue is particularly acute at weekends when normal primary care 
access is unavailable outside the Out of Hours provision and additional support from other community services may 
not be readily accessible.

Aims and goals
The aim of this initiative was to:
• Conduct an initial pilot to determine the long-term feasibility of the model in which a dedicated Acute GP is 

co-located in the Emergency Department to work alongside the Nurse Practitioner
• Support the training of Nurse Practitioners to enable them to manage a broader case-mix
• Improve patient experience by providing a more appropriate and timely service
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How we monitored and reported progress
All activity was recorded and monitored within the Division. This was measured in terms of the agreed performance 
indicators and in level of patient satisfaction with the new service. Qualitative feedback was obtained by distributing 
a patient questionnaire to all patients seen by the service from 17/01/2015 to date with a request for feedback. 
The questions posed were: 
• Were you happy with the length of time you had to wait before being seen? 
• Were you happy with the service the Emergency Department GP provided? 
• Did you feel you were given enough advice on follow-up care? 
• Any comments. 

Outcome
The service commenced in November 2014 with the GP initially based in the department with the Nurse Practitioner 
and then for a period based in the Fracture Clinic alongside the department whilst the recent paediatric building 
works were undertaken.

Since the service began we have had 1 GP working on a Saturday and Sunday (12 hours each day) to help to 
manage the flow of minors within the Emergency Department. The agreed performance indicators were that the GP 
would see an average of 20 patients per day. To date the activity has been as indicated in the table below.

The GP model has become embedded within the Nurse Practitioner stream and focuses on ambulatory walk-in 
patients with a degree of urgent care need that can be seen and discharged within 4 hours and has succeeded in 
expanding the case mix. 

This has been extremely successful as a pilot for a new model of working for ambulatory weekend care and has 
delivered the following associated benefits:
• Improved patient experience and outcomes
• Transformed emergency care processes
• Released clinical capacity to enable the senior decision makers within the department to focus on those patients 

who are presenting as Majors rather than Minors. This has a positive knock on effect on meeting the national 4 
hour access target.
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The interface of the Nurse Practitioner with the acute GP has developed a more complex nurse practitioner case 
mix which has resulted in fewer overall nurse practitioner patient numbers but has improved the overall service for 
patients that present to the Emergency Department with primary care needs in the out of hours period. The pilot 
has demonstrated that the model assists with problems in long term condition management, promotes continuity 
of care, avoids unnecessary interventions, and reduces the overall time journey in the Emergency Department for a 
select group of patients. 

223 patients were seen during the period in which the patient questionnaires have been distributed and of these 
67 were returned, which represents a return rate of 30%. All the questionnaires were completed with a positive 
response and there were no negative comments. This suggests a largely favourable response in terms of patient 
experience.

It is intended to seek long term funding to provide substantive GP staffing that would enable a robust streaming 
process in the service in its current location to ensure that the more complex patients could benefit from the GP 
acute model of care. The service would support the Trust in meeting its vision that minor patients will not breach the 
4 hour period for being seen and treated except for clinical reasons only.

A substantive approach would develop a service that could encompass a much broader range of acute ambulatory 
presentations, resulting in timely and effective care, a reduction in diagnostics, improvements in health education 
and health promotion towards self-care and support admission avoidance for primary care problems in the out of 
hours period.
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2014/15 Commissioning For Quality And Innovation (CQUIN)
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2015/16 Commissioning For Quality And Innovation (CQUIN)
National & Regional CQUINs 2015/16 (Acute Contract )

Goal 
No.

Description  
of Goal

Quality  
Domain

Indicator  
Name

National or  
Regional  
Indicator

Indicator  
Weighting of contract 

Total value 2.5

1 Focuses on Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) diagnosis and 
treatment in hospital and the plan of care to monitor kidney 
function after discharge, measured through the percentage 
of patients with AKI treated in an acute hospital whose 
discharge summary includes each of four key items of 
information listed below:-  
1. Stage of AKI
2. Evidence of medicine review 
3.  Type of blood tests required on discharge monitoring
4.  Frequency of blood tests required on discharge for 

monitoring

Patient  
Safety

Acute  
Kidney Injury

National 0.2500%

2a Focuses on patients arriving in the hospital via the 
Emergency Department or by direct emergency admission to 
any other unit (e.g. MAU) or Acute Ward

Patient  
Safety

Sepsis - 
Screening

National

0.1250%

2b Focuses on patients arriving in the hospital via the 
Emergency Department or by direct emergency admission 
to any other unit (e.g. MAU) or Acute Ward. It seeks 
to incentivise providers to screen for sepsis on all those 
patients for whom sepsis screening is appropriate, and to 
rapidly initiative intravenous antibiotics, within 1 hour of 
presentation, for those patients who have suspected severe 
sepsis, Red Flag Sepsis or septic shock.

Sepsis - 
Antibiotic 

Administration
0.1250%

3a •  Proportion of patients aged 75 years and over to whom 
case finding is applied following an episode of emergency, 
unplanned care to either hospital or community services.  

•  The proportion of those identified, assessed and referred 
for further diagnostic advice in line with local pathways 
agreed with commissioners, who have a written care plan 
on discharge which is shared with the patient’s GP. 

Patient 
Experience

Dementia - 
Find, Assess, 
Investigate  
and Refer

National

0.1500%

3b To ensure that appropriate dementia training is available to 
staff through a locally determined training programme.

Dementia - 
Staff Training

0.0250%

3c Ensure carers of people with dementia and delirium feel 
adequately supported.

Dementia - 
Supporting 

Carers
0.0750%

4 To ensure that patients with ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions and similar conditions that do not normally 
require admission to an inpatient hospital bed receive highly 
responsive urgent care services outside of hospital.

Patient 
Experience

UEC - Reducing 
the proportion 
of avoidable 
emergency 

admissions to 
Hospital

National 0.5000%

5.1 All emergency admissions (excluding Obstetrics) must 
be seen and have a suitable clinical review by a suitable 
consultant as soon as possible, but at the latest within 14 
hours of arrival at hospital, 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week - (Second year of two year indicator)

Clinical 
Effectiveness

Time to First 
Consultant 

Review
Regional 0.2500%

5.2 All emergency inpatients must be assessed for complex or 
on-going needs within 14 hours by a multi-professional 
team, overseen by a competent decision-maker e.g. Senior 
Nurse. (Second year of two year indicator)

Multi-
Disciplinary 
Team (MDT) 

Review

Regional 0.2500%

5.3 The aim of this CQUIN is to work towards daily consultant 
review of patients transferred from the acute area of the 
hospital to a general ward. The consultant review should 
occur during a consultant-delivered ward round at least 
once daily 7 days a week unless it has been determined that 
this would not affect the patient’s care pathway.
• To include all wards except (obstetrics).

Ongoing 
Review

Regional 0.5000%

6.1 The continuation and expansion of the Frail and Elderly 
Patient Assessment Pathway and use of the Frail and Elderly 
Patient Assessment tool.

Clinical 
Effectiveness

Frail & Elderly 
Patient 

Assessment  
Tool

System Wide 0.25%

2.5000%
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Trust Performance Against The 2014/15 Risk Assessment Framework

Description Target Performance Achieved Y / N

18 weeks (admitted / non-admitted)

Admitted 90.0% 90.2% Y

Non-admitted 95.0% 97.0% Y

Incomplete pathways* 92.0% 94.4% Y

Cancer

2 Week Wait 93.0% 98.6% Y

Breast symptoms 2 Week Wait 93.0% 97.1% Y

31 day – Diagnosis to first treatment 96.0% 99.0% Y

Subsequent treatments (31 day) – Drug treatments 98.0% 99.4% Y

Subsequent treatments (31 day) - Surgery 94.0% 96.1% Y

62 day – Waits for first treatment (urgent GP referral) 85.0% 79.1% N

62 day – Waits for first treatment (NHS Cancer Screening referral) 90.0% 100.0% Y

A&E

Patients seen in < 4 hrs 95% 89.5% N

Clostridium Difficile

Total number of cases YTD 14 39 N

Risk of or actual failure to deliver commissioner requested service – Homebirth service remains suspended

* External Audit have not been able to issue an opinion in relation to the Trust’s mandated review indicator (Referral 
to Treatment – incomplete pathways) due to current system limitations in providing the appropriate data for audit. 
The Trust is agreeing changes to future processes to make future data robust for audit purposes.’
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Annex 1 – Statements from commissioners, local Healthwatch  
organisations and Overview and Scrutiny Committees

Statement by Norfolk County Council

The Norfolk Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has decided not to comment on any of the Norfolk provider 
Trusts’ Quality Accounts for 2014/15 and would like to stress that this should in no way be taken as a negative 
comment. The Committee has taken the view that it is appropriate for Healthwatch Norfolk to consider the Quality 
Accounts and comment accordingly.

Maureen Orr
Democratic Support and Scrutiny Team Manager
Norfolk County Council

Statement by Healthwatch Norfolk

Healthwatch Norfolk appreciates the opportunity to make comments on the Quality Account.

While it is a source of concern that the Trust remains in special measures, it is evident that great deal of work has 
gone into addressing the issues raised by the CQC. However it would have been helpful to remind the reader of 
those issues and actions to address the issues in this report.

Healthwatch Norfolk has a particular interest in learning how the Trust’s performance had improved in respect of 
listening, and responding to, patients’ concerns. We are impressed with the attention given here, both in setting 
out the many procedures adopted and in providing evidence of changes and improvements that had been made. 
Seeing complaints as a “source of valuable learning” has long been a view promulgated by Healthwatch Norfolk 
and its recognition by the Trust is a welcome step as it has clearly stimulated establishing systems to better facilitate 
the complaints process. Failure to respond within 30 days (p54) however in some cases remains a source of concern, 
especially so as one of the principal sources of complaint has been poor communication. 

Healthwatch Norfolk is also pleased to see that measures are now in place to increase staff awareness and training 
in giving appropriate care to people with dementia and encouraging early diagnosis. The provision of dementia care 
is a priority area for Healthwatch Norfolk (please see recently published report on good practice in care homes). We 
note a reference in the report (p57) to establishing links with carers and the use of the passport and would like to 
encourage similar links being forged with care homes who accommodate residents with dementia.

Healthwatch welcomes the transparency and candour evident in this report and looks forward to continuing its 
association with the Trust in improving patient outcomes.

Alex Stewart
Chief Executive
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Statement by West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group

The West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group (WNCCG) is pleased to support the QEH in the publication of the 
Quality Account for 2014/15.

WNCCG can confirm that the report contains the mandatory data elements which are consistent with the 
requirements based on the available data.

The report contains detailed and comprehensive information pertaining to all aspects of clinical quality and patient 
safety and identifies key areas of improvement.

The Trust has experienced significant challenges during 2014/15 due to being placed in special measures by the 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) following an inspection in June 2014. The Trust has made good progress in 
establishing a more robust process for the reporting and monitoring of Serious Incidents (SI). The Trust has focussed 
on developing its clinical governance structure to foster a culture of continuous learning. This is demonstrated 
by the way in which the Trust has strived to develop a more open and transparent approach to all aspects of 
monitoring clinical quality and patient safety. This is reflected by the CCG clinical quality lead GP being a member of 
the Trust’s Quality Committee and the SI Root Cause Analysis meetings. The Trust continues to attend the monthly 
clinical quality review meetings with the Commissioners and there is a high level of clinical attendance.

Whilst the Trust has made significant improvement in terms of workforce development (in particular the nursing 
and midwifery strategy) it needs to continue to focus on the workforce initiatives to ensure future sustainability. 
Therefore we support the Quality Priorities for Improvement for 2015/16 which identifies the need to build and 
sustain excellence in terms of the workforce.

The Trust has made significant improvement in the prevent of Clostridium Difficile cases in Quarter 4 of 2015 and 
has worked closely with the Commissioners and Public Health colleagues to implement different ways of working 
and an organisational cultural change. The Trust needs to maintain a high profile on all aspects of reducing and 
eliminating Healthcare Associated Infections to ensure continued improvement is sustained.

We will continue to work closely with the Trust to support and challenge as appropriate to ensure clinical quality 
and patient safety remain the highest priority.

Sue Crossman
Chief Accountable Officer
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Governors’ Council comments on the Quality Report 2014/2015

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Governors’ Council has had an opportunity to consider and comment on the Trust’s 
Quality Report for 2014/15 and agreed its response at its meeting on 13 May 2015.

Broadly, the Governors feel that the report is a fair and balanced account of the work of the Trust in the past year.  
It is detailed without being overwhelming, uses straightforward language and as such is user friendly. 

More specifically, Governors:
• endorse the emphasis on “Putting Patients first in everything we do” and support the Board in establishing the 

Trust values as the basis of the hospital’s culture. The Governors will be anticipating an increase in compliments as 
a result of improved patient experience in the forthcoming year.

• are concerned about the high number of safety incidents (notably pressure ulcers), and ‘Never Events’. Governors 
welcome the further development of the incident reporting and investigation process and note that this should 
be the subject of further work, which ensures that those staff concerned in an incident should deal with it with a 
degree of immediacy.

• are pleased that the Trust has placed so much emphasis on improving infection prevention and control. A 
reduction in infections towards year- end is very welcome: sustaining the improvement is recognised as the next 
challenge.

• welcome improving nursing and midwifery staffing levels in 2014/15: while a challenging exercise, this has been 
undertaken with determination and the Governors applaud the work, recognising that this must be an ongoing 
exercise across all clinical professions, requiring a variety of approaches.

• welcome the estate development in A&E including the new paediatric facility, which is impressive. While the 
department still struggles to meet the 95% target there is no doubt that improved patient experience has resulted 
from the environmental enhancement.

• note that the report seeks to address the Governors’ request that anticipated outcomes and time frames following 
actions planned should be included in the text. This is particularly the case in section 2.2 and would be valuable 
throughout the text.

• welcome the fact that planning is underway to achieve 7- day working across the Trust’s services.
• would like to reiterate the Governors’ request that “the importance of effective support services such IT in the 

delivery of high quality care, be made more explicit in the Trust’s reporting and objectives”. More than one 
planned initiative in 2014/15 has been hampered by the lack of effective support services.

• have observed that there has been considerable improvement in the care of frail older people, as a result of 
restructuring of particular wards, the development of a new ward designed to provide specialised care for patients 
with dementia and training of staff but remain concerned that it has not yet proved possible to appoint two 
Geriatricians on permanent contracts.

• welcome the Trust’s target of reducing staff sickness but would, after a period of embedding of new systems, like 
to see a more challenging reduction target.

The Quality Report conveys a strong sense of a Trust facing and tackling its challenges and the Governors’ Council 
gives credit to the Board of Directors for prioritising Quality improvement throughout the hospital, even though 
financial resources have been under considerable strain.
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Annex 2 – Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the quality report

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service Quality Accounts Regulations 
to prepare quality accounts for each financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation Board of Directors on the form and content of annual quality 
reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS foundation Board of 
Directors should put in place to support data quality for the preparation of the quality report. 

In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that: 
• the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 

Manual 2014/15; 
• the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of information including: 

– board minutes and papers for the period April 2014 to April 2015 
– papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2014 to April 2015 
– feedback from commissioners dated 19/05/2015
– feedback from governors dated 06/05/2015 
– feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 11/05/2015
– feedback from health overview and scrutiny committee dated 27/04/2015
–  the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and  

NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 05/09/2014
– national inpatient patient survey 10/04/2015
– national staff survey 24/02/2015 

• the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance over the period covered; 
• the performance information in the quality report is reliable and accurate; 
• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of performance included in 

the quality report, and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice; 
• the data underpinning the measures of performance in the quality report is robust and reliable, conforms to 

specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and 
• the quality report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance (which incorporates 

the Quality Accounts Regulations) as well as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the 
quality report. 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the above requirements in 
preparing the quality report.

By order of the Board 

Edward Libbey Dorothy Hosein 
Trust Chair  Chief Executive 
Date 26 May 2015 Date 26 May 2015
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Annex 3 – Auditor’s Statement

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Governors of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust on the Quality Report 
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the “Quality Report”) and certain performance 
indicators contained therein. 
 
Scope and subject matter
The indicator for the year ended 31 March 2015 subject to limited assurance is the national priority indicator: 

• Emergency readmissions within 28 days of discharge from hospital (“emergency readmissions”).
• The scope of our review originally covered the percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients 

on incomplete pathways at the end of the reporting period: Referral to Treatment – incomplete pathways (“RTT 
– incomplete pathways”) a national priority indicator. The dataset that the Trust uses to calculate this indicator is 
imprecise and due to system limitations the Trust has been unable to provide the appropriate data as at 31 March 
2015. As a consequence we are unable to conclude on the completeness and accuracy of the RTT – incomplete 
pathways indicator included in the published Quality Report and have excluded this indicator from the scope of 
our limited assurance review.

We refer to the remaining national priority indicator “emergency readmissions” as ‘the indicator’. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors 
The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in accordance with the 
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. 

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anything has come to 
our attention that causes us to believe that: 
• the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation 

Trust Annual Reporting Manual; 
• the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources - specified in the Detailed Guidance 

for External Assurance on Quality Reports; and.
• the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited assurance in the Quality Report 

are not reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality 
Reports. 

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual, and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions. 

We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is materially inconsistent 
with:
• Board minutes for the period April 2014 to May 2015;
• Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2014 to May 2015;
• Feedback from Commissioners dated May 2015;
• Feedback from Governors dated May 2015;
• Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated May 2015; 
• Feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated May 2015; 
• The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and NHS 

Complaints Regulations 2009, 2014/15;
• The 2014/15 national patient survey;
• The 2014/15 national staff survey;
• Care Quality Commission intelligent monitoring report; and
• The 2014/15 Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment.

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the “documents”). Our responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information. 
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We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team comprised assurance practitioners and 
relevant subject matter experts.

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in reporting The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We permit the 
disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015, to enable the Council of 
Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body and The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
King’s Lynn Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed and 
with our prior consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed 
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information’ issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited 
assurance procedures included: 
• Evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing and reporting the 

indicators.
• Making enquiries of management.
• Testing key management controls.
• Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to supporting documentation.
• Comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual to the categories 

reported in the Quality Report.
• Reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a 
reasonable assurance engagement.

Limitations 
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining such information.

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of different 
but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of different measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and 
methods used to determine such information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, 
may change over time. It is important to read the Quality Report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-mandated indicators which have 
been determined locally by The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust.

Conclusion 
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the 
year ended 31 March 2015: 
• the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation 

Trust Annual Reporting Manual; 
• the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the Guidance; and
• the indicator in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance has not been reasonably stated in all material 

respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data 
quality set out in the Guidance.

KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
6 Lower Brook Street, Ipswich, Suffolk, IP4 1AP
26 May 2015
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Foreword To The Accounts

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn Nhs Foundation Trust

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2015, have been prepared by the Board of Directors of The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of schedule 7 to the 
National Health Service Act 2006, and in accordance with directions made by Monitor.

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive
Date: 26th May 2015
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Statement Of The Chief Executive’s Responsibilities As The Accounting 
Officer Of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust

The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation Trust. The relevant 
responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public 
finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised 
gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

•  Observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, 
and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

•  Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
•  State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements;
•  Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities and guidance; and
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply 
with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor’s NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive
Date: 26th May 2015
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Statement Of Directors’ Responsibilities In Respect Of The Accounts

The Directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006, as directed by Monitor, the Independent 
Regulator for NHS Foundation Trusts, to prepare accounts for each financial year.

Monitor, with the approval of HM Treasury, directs that these accounts shall show, and give a true and fair view of 
the NHS Foundation Trust’s income and expenditure, gains and losses, cash flow and financial state at the end of 
the financial year. Monitor further directs that the accounts shall meet the requirements of the NHS foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual that is in force for the relevant financial year, which shall be agreed by HM Treasury.

In preparing these Accounts, the Directors are required to:
•  Apply on a consistent basis, for all items considered material in relation to the accounts, accounting policies 

contained in the NHS Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor;
•  Make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent; and ensure the application of all relevant 

accounting standards, and adherence to International Financial Reporting Standards for companies to the extent 
that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, subject to any material departures being disclosed and 
explained in the accounts.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy, at 
any time the financial position of the Trust. This is to ensure proper financial procedures are followed, and that 
accounting records are maintained in a form suited to the requirements of effective management, as well as in the 
form prescribed for the published accounts.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding all assets of the Trust, including taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief that they have complied with the above requirement 
in preparing the Accounts.

By Order Of The Board Of Directors
Date: 26th May 2015
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Annual Governance Statement for the year to 31 March 2015

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust

1. Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. 
I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered prudently and economically and 
that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

2. The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in The 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2015 and up to the date 
of approval of the annual report and accounts.

3. Capacity to handle risk
The Trust has a Risk Management Strategy; it provides a framework for managing risk and lays out the delegation of 
responsibility to Executive Directors, managers, clinicians and staff as appropriate. Internal Audit undertook a review 
of the risk management system in 2014/15 on an advisory basis and so was not asked to provide a formal opinion 
assurance. The draft report contains five recommendations, two medium and three low risk. The Trust will address 
the final report recommendations. The Trust’s Risk Management methodologies are kept under review to ensure they 
remain fit for purpose. A new Risk Committee was set up during 2014/15 that reports to the Board of Directors. All 
risk registers have been migrated on to Datix Web enabling improvements in reporting, managing, monitoring and 
reviewing risks.

3.1 Board Assurance Framework and Risk Register
The Board of Directors agrees and monitors the Board Assurance Framework and all high scoring risks on the 
Corporate Risk Register. The Board Assurance Framework sets out the principal risks to the delivery of the Trust’s 
strategic objectives. Each risk has a lead Executive Director and key monitoring committee assigned to it and details 
of the controls in place to mitigate against the particular risk. Any gaps in controls are highlighted through this 
process, allowing management action to be taken. The Board agrees target risk ratings for all strategic risks and 
assesses residual risk against its key strategic aims once assurance is received that effective internal controls are in 
place. 

The Internal Audit review of the Board Assurance Framework, undertaken in February 2015, gave an ‘amber/green’ 
rating, providing a “reasonable assurance” with regard to design and application of the controls. 

4. The risk and control framework
The Board considers all medium to high risks, being those with a residual risk of between 15 and 25 and their 
associated mitigations. 

The Board had eight committees reporting directly to it during 2014/15, namely the Quality Committee, the Finance 
& Performance Committee, the Trust Executive Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (Executive 
Director Appointments), the Audit Committee, the Risk Committee, the Workforce Committee and the Health 
and Safety Committee. The Board is alerted to risks identified at the committees via a Chair’s Key Issues reporting 
methodology.

Each division has a risk register, which is reviewed and updated regularly and presented to the Risk Committee on 
a rotational basis. All high scoring and trust-wide risks are included on the Trust’s Corporate Risk Register. Risks are 
scored in accordance with Trust’s policy, requiring the application of a National Patient Safety Agency approved 
matrix system, which takes account of the likelihood and impact of the risk, if it were to be realised. 
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Risk management training is provided to relevant staff and policies are available on the Trust’s intranet site. The 
Board has recently undertaken additional bespoke Risk Management development activities.

The Trust Executive Committee’s terms of reference were reviewed in 2014/15. I chair the Trust Executive Committee 
and the membership in 2014/15 comprised the Executive Director Team, the Trust’s Clinical Directors and senior 
managers. The Committee is responsible for the delivery of the Trust’s business plans. The Trust Executive Committee 
develops, implements and reviews tactical plans, approves and recommends associated policy and monitors the 
performance of the organisation against its plans and key performance indicators.

The Quality Committee monitors the delivery of the Trust’s quality objectives and reviews key quality information to 
provide the Board with assurance that the Trust is delivering effective, safe services and a positive patient experience. 
The Quality Committee also undertakes detailed ‘quality enquiries’, where concerns have been raised relating to the 
delivery of quality services in a particular area.
 
The Finance & Performance Committee monitors and reviews the adequacy of the Trust’s financial risk assessments, 
assumptions, sensitivities, mitigation plans and contingencies. It monitors the Trust’s on-going financial position 
against the Board approved plan and any action plans in place to recover the financial position. The Committee 
monitors the Trust’s performance in delivering services in accordance with key access targets. It also considers and 
reviews the alignment of capacity and activity volumes to financial plans and service line contributions.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the effectiveness of the Trust’s control environment; it is chaired 
by an independent non-executive director. The committee receives reports from Internal Audit including the Counter 
Fraud Service. Internal Audit agrees an annual plan with the Audit Committee, which includes both financial and 
quality control audits. The work includes identifying and evaluating controls and testing their effectiveness, in 
accordance with NHS Internal Auditing Standards. Reports emanating from the internal audit reviews and associated 
recommendations are reported to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee monitors the Trust’s delivery of the 
recommendations and agreed actions through its regular review of the Internal Audit Recommendations Tracker.

The Audit Committee also receives reports from the Trust’s External Auditors, including the annual management 
letter and other reports agreed as part of their annual plan.

Information risk is managed through the Information Governance Committee, which reports to the Trust Executive 
Committee. The Trust has nominated a Director to fulfil the role of Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and has 
assessed compliance with the requirements of the HSCIC Information Governance (IG) Toolkit, and signed the 
annual Information Governance Assurance Statement in March 2015. It assessed itself as ‘green/satisfactory’ with a 
compliance score of 83% which is a pre-requisite of unconditional registration with the Care Quality Commission. 
There has been one serious incident that required disclosure in relation to personal data. Internal audit also 
undertook a review of the systems and processes supporting the Trust’s submission and the draft report currently 
rates the opinion of assurance as “amber/green”.

After an independent follow-up review of the Trust’s Quality Governance arrangements in 2014/15, the Trust has 
in place a Quality Governance Programme overseen by the Chief Executive Officer. This programme is delivering 
improvements, including a revised corporate governance structure, an agreed clinical and quality governance 
structure, revised terms of reference for key committees and strengthened systems and processes to improve the 
Trust’s controls and sources of assurance in respect of quality governance.

The Board of Directors has specified within the Trust’s Standing Financial Instructions and the Scheme of Delegation, 
appropriate delegated authority levels throughout the Trust. Executive Directors and managers have responsibility 
for the effective management and deployment of their staff and other resources to optimise the efficiency of each 
division.

Each year the Board of Directors agrees budgets and plan targets that incorporate significant efficiency improvement 
requirements. The delivery of those efficiency improvements is monitored at Service Quality and Business Board level 
and monthly meetings take place with Executive Directors to review performance in delivering plans. 

In July 2014 the Care Quality Commission (CQC) conducted a follow-up inspection on its previously issued 
recommendations. Although the CQC identified improvements in many areas, the Trust was found to be non-
compliant with the regulations on Staffing, Support for Workers, Safeguarding and Medicines Management. 
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The Trust remained non-compliant with a warning notice regarding Safeguarding. In addition, sixteen “must do” 
and eleven “should do” recommendations were also made in their report to the Trust.

The Trust was formally rated as below:

• Overall Rating for the Trust   Requires Improvement
• Are Services at this Trust safe?   Requires Improvement
• Are Services at this Trust effective?  Good
• Are Services at this Trust caring?  Good
• Are services at this Trust responsive?  Requires Improvement
• Are services at this Trust well led?  Inadequate

The CQC is expected to return in June 2015 to follow up on the Trust’s response to their findings in July 2014. 

In 2014/15, the Trust introduced systems to address the requirements of the CQC’s ‘Fit and Proper Person’ 
requirements in respect of Board Directors and equivalents.

The Foundation Trust is not fully complaint with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission. The 
Trust has remained in breach of its license with healthcare regulator, Monitor and has remained in ‘Special Measures’ 
throughout 2014/15.

Monitor’s risk rating of the Trust is a ‘Continuity of services rating’ of 1 and ‘Red’ in terms of Governance.

4.1 Public and Staff
The public, including public Foundation Trust members are involved in the risk management process within the Trust 
through their involvement in the Readers’ Panel, the Patient Experience Committee of the Governors’ Council (PEC), 
mock CQC inspections and Patient-led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE) inspections. Service users 
are also involved through a number of service user groups and of course, via their responses to patient satisfaction 
surveys. 

The Governors’ Council also reviews quality, operational performance and financial information and risk as part 
of its statutory duty to hold the Non-Executive Directors to account for the performance of the Board. In 2014/15 
the Trust’s governance timetable was revised to increase Governors’ Council meetings from four to six. The Patient 
Experience and Business Committees of the Governors’ Council review more detailed quality, performance and 
financial risk and report back to the Governors’ Council at every meeting.

Staff are expected to provide safe clinical practice, report incidents and potential hazards, be familiar with the Trust’s 
Risk Management Strategy and departmental risk issues, comply with all Trust policies and procedures and take 
reasonable care of their own safety and the safety of others. Work and training have been undertaken throughout 
the year, to ensure continuous improvements are made to the robustness of the Trust’s business continuity plans, 
ensuring they are aligned across departments.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in place to 
ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring 
that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales 
detailed in the Regulations.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human 
rights legislation are complied with.

The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in 
accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather 
projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting 
requirements are complied with. 

5. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires management to assess, as part of the accounts preparation 
process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements should be prepared on a going 
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concern basis unless management intends, or has no alternative but to apply to the Secretary of State for the Trust’s 
dissolution without the transfer of its services to another entity.

The current position is set out below:

•  The Trust remains in breach of the terms of its licence as a result of concerns about its financial sustainability and is 
expecting a qualified opinion in respect of the economic, efficient and effective use of resources with an emphasis 
of matter in relation to going concern issues from the Trust’s external auditors.

•  The Trust delivered its financial plan in 2014/15, being a deficit of £14.9m. The Trust’s ‘Continuity of services 
rating’ for the year was a 1.

•  The Trust received £17.8m in cash support in the form of loans from the Department of Health during the financial 
year and has received a further £2m of cash support during April 2015, in the form of a drawdown against its 
revolving working capital facility.

The Trust’s financial plan for 2015/16 indicates an on-going deficit and requires Department of Health cashflow 
support of circa £25m. The Trust’s planning assumptions for 2015/16 includes further proposed savings of £7.8m, 
which represents 4.7% of annual turnover.

Looking further into the future, as less resource is available within the NHS healthcare economy, it is expected that 
additional savings of between 3% and 4% per annum will continue to be required for the foreseeable future.

A Contingency Planning Team has been working with the Trust and local healthcare partners, on behalf of Monitor, 
to address the Trust’s sustainability issues. Their report and the Trust’s response is due to be considered by Monitor in 
the spring and summer of 2015.

The Trust will continue to require cash support from Department of Health, via Monitor in the short to medium term 
whilst the Trust develops and implements plans to transform the delivery of services.

The financial reporting manual states that “the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future, as 
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents, is normally sufficient evidence 
of going concern”. The Trust has been contracted by West Norfolk CCG, Cambridgeshire CCG & South Lincolnshire 
CCG to provide an NHS service for 2015/16 comparable to that commissioned in previous years.

6. Annual Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust 
boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

We have presented our Quality Report as part of our Annual Report and Accounts based on a range of indicators 
that were agreed by the Board and that are monitored on a regular basis through Integrated Performance reports, 
including Quality and Operational performance. The Governors’ Council has selected a local indicator for audit 
as required. The Board of Directors is satisfied that the messages within the Quality Report accurately reflect the 
information that it has received on a regular basis throughout the year. The report has been shared with the Trust’s 
commissioners, Governors, Healthwatch and Norfolk Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, all of whom have 
been given the opportunity to provide formal comment for publication within the report. 

The Board takes assurance on the quality of data included in the report from a range of sources, including:
• Internal audit reports
• Clinical audits
• External Audit’s limited assurance review of the Quality Report and an audit of two data items
• The Information Governance Toolkit assessment
• External benchmarking from CHKS
• Payment by Results (PbR) clinical coding inpatient quality audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission 
• Regular performance reporting against KPIs

The Quality Report process is led by the Director of Nursing, with support from the informatics team.
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7. Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical 
audit and the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality report 
attached to this Annual report and other performance information available to me. My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other internal audit reports. I have been 
advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by 
the Board, the Audit Committee and the Quality and Risk Committees. A plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is in place.

My review is informed in a number of ways. The Head of Internal Audit provides me with an opinion on the overall 
arrangements for gaining assurance through the Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part of the 
internal audit work programme.

Internal Audit also reviewed the Board Assurance Framework giving an overall rating of ‘amber/green’. During the 
year, eighteen internal audits were conducted: three of those audits, relating to CQC Compliance, Record Keeping 
and Data Quality identify that the opinion rating was “amber/red”. Also, whilst not requiring a formal opinion, the 
review of Medical leave and locum usage identified areas of weakness in policy and control. Robust management 
action plans and follow up audits have been agreed to address the risks, control weaknesses and compliance.

The Head of Internal Audit opinion is that “significant assurance can be given that there is a generally a sound 
system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being 
applied consistently”.

As detailed above, the Board, its committees and sub-committees have a key role in maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control.
I also gain assurance from executive managers within the organisation, who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the system of internal control. The Board has received regular reports on risk, performance and 
clinical governance. 

The Trust seeks to learn and improve from the results and recommendations made in internal audit and external 
audit reports, clinical audits, the Information Governance Toolkit assessment and external benchmarking from Dr 
Foster and CHKS.

My review is also informed by recommendations made by the external auditors in their management letter and 
other reports; the review mechanisms in place for the risk register, reviews undertaken by the CQC and other 
external assessment and accreditation bodies along with the declaration of compliance with core standards made to 
the Care Quality Commission.

The last assessment by Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts (CNST) of Maternity Risk Management standards was 
undertaken in February 2014, the result of which was that maternity services achieved compliance at level two, with 
a score of 42/50. The 2014/15 situation is that the on-site NHSLA/CNST risk assessment process no longer applies 
and the risk rating of the Trust is now based on the claims and claims handling record. This adjustment to the Trust 
rating led to a further reduction in premium on top of the reductions achieved under the previous process against a 
national picture in which premiums generally rose.

I have put in place a Rapid Progression Group, which I have been chairing myself, to drive and monitor the 
delivery of improvement against the CQC’s findings and recommendations. Monthly improvement updates are 
communicated to Monitor for discussion at the formal Progress Review Meetings and are also published on NHS 
Choices so as to be visible to the public.

A follow up independent Quality Governance Review was undertaken in November 2014. It included an assessment 
of the Trust’s compliance with Monitor’s Quality Governance Assurance Framework and the recommendations of 
the review have been assimilated into the Trust’s Quality Improvement Plan and ‘Well-Led’ domain elements of the 
CQC improvement plan. 
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The Board is fully committed to continuing to improve the quality of care it provides to the community it serves and 
has a clear vision for The Queen Elizabeth Hospital to provide a safe, clinically excellent experience for all its patients 
in a caring environment driven by five core values of:
• Taking Responsibility
• Taking pride in doing a good job
• Constantly being curious
• Having courage to do the right things
• Providing compassionate care
 
7.1 Leadership
While the Trust’s clear ambition is ‘Aiming for Excellence’, my own personal commitment is encapsulated in my role 
as CEO in ‘Leading the Way’. I have developed a comprehensive ‘Leading the Way’ engagement programme to 
ensure that key messages are heard, understood and embedded throughout the Trust.

I have developed a programme that proactively strengthens and improves the Trust’s leadership, ensuring increased 
visibility and communication both across the Trust and across the local healthcare economy. In a drive towards 
transparency and continuous improvement I have engaged Public Concern at Work to provide whistleblowing 
support and refocused the programme of Board engagement with wards and departments.

7.2 Workforce
I am improving workforce management to ensure appropriate capacity and skill mix to deliver safe, effective services 
and the Trust is working to move to the delivery of seven day services. Action has also been taken to reduce sickness 
levels through investment in recruitment and through contracting with external support for the monitoring and 
management of sickness absence. The Trust is undertaking a rolling programme of overseas nurse recruitment and is 
working locally to encourage more local training and recruitment. 

7.3 Performance
I have strengthened the governance structure to ensure it is fit for purpose, ensuring appropriate oversight and 
challenge and accountability is in place to effectively manage the Trust’s operations. Improvements have been made 
to reporting through the revised Integrated Performance Report, effective exception reporting, improved information 
for front-line committees and wards and the Chief Executive’s Report to the Board. The Transformation Committee, 
formed in 2014/15 also manages and reports on the delivery of key transformation programmes and projects that 
demonstrate a willingness and commitment to innovate and do things differently in order to secure sustainable 
improvements.

8. Conclusion
The Trust recognises that there is more to be done on our quality improvement journey against a set of pressing 
sustainability challenges. Whilst there have been significant improvements in the Trust’s internal controls, the 
following significant issues remain:
• Consistently providing the quality of care we aspire to deliver
• The Trust’s ability to meet its operational performance targets

Actions are being taken that are expected to improve and contribute to addressing these issues significantly. 

Signed on behalf of the Board

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive
26th May 2015
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Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit

1. Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified
We have audited the financial statements of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust for the 
year ended 31 March 2015 set out on pages 133 to 136. In our opinion:
•  The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 

2015 and of the Group’s and the Trust’s income and expenditure for the year then ended; and
• The financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual 2014/15.

2. Emphasis of matter - financial performance
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the 
disclosures made in Note 1 to the financial statements concerning the ability of the Trust to continue as a going 
concern.

The Trust incurred a deficit of £14.9 million during the year ended 31 March 2015. The Trust’s 2015/16 Annual 
Plan requires the Trust to achieve substantial cost savings and indicates reliance on additional financial support 
from the Department of Health. These matters, along with the other matters explained in [Note 1] to the financial 
statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

3. Our assessment of risks of material misstatement

In arriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements the risks of material misstatement that had the 
greatest effect on our audit were as follows:

Valuation of land and buildings - £64.3 million 

Refer Audit Committee Report, accounting policy: note 1, section 6 and financial disclosures: note 9.

The risk: Land and buildings are required to be maintained at up to date estimates of year- end market value 
in existing use (EUV) for non- specialised property assets in operational use, and, for specialised assets where no 
market value is readily ascertainable, the depreciated replacement cost of a modern equivalent asset that has 
the same service potential as the existing property (MEAV). There is significant judgment involved in determining 
the appropriate basis (EUV or MEAV) for each asset according to the degree of specialization, as well as over the 
assumptions made in arriving at the valuation and the condition of the asset. In particular the MEAV basis requires 
an assumption as to whether the replacement asset would be situated on the existing site or, if more appropriate, 
on an alternative site, with a potentially significant effect on the valuation.

For 2014/15 the Trust commissioned a full revaluation of land and buildings from an external valuer.

Our response: In this area our audit procedures included:
• Assessing the competence, capability, objectivity and independence of the Trust’s external valuer and considering 

the terms of engagement of, and the instructions issued to, the valuer for consistency with the requirements of 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;

• Critically assessing the appropriateness of the valuation bases and assumptions applied and ensuring that the 
methodology applied is in line with accounting standards; and

• Considering the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgments and degree of estimation involved in 
arriving at the valuation and ensuring the appropriate accounting treatment of the valuation adjustments.

NHS Income Recognition - £151.8 million

Refer Audit Committee Report, accounting policy: note 1, section 3 and financial disclosures: note 2.

Independent Auditor’s Report To The Council Of Governors Of The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust Only 
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The risk: The main source of income for the Trust is the provision of healthcare services to the public under 
contracts with NHS commissioners, which make up (99%) of income from activities. The Trust participates in the 
national Agreement of Balances (AoB) exercise for the purpose of ensuring that intra-NHS balances are eliminated 
on the consolidation of the Department of Health’s resource accounts. The AoB exercise identifies mismatches 
between receivable and payable balances recognised by the Trust and its commissioners, which will be resolved after 
the date of approval of these financial statements. For these financial statements the Trust identifies the specific 
cause, and accounts for the expected future resolution, of each individual difference. Mis-matches can occur for a 
number of reasons, but the most significant arise where:
• The Trust and commissioners record different accruals for completed periods of healthcare which have not yet 

been invoiced;
• Income relating to partially completed periods of healthcare is apportioned across the financial years and the 

commissioners and the Trust make different apportionment assumptions;
• Accruals for out-of- area treatments not covered by direct contracts with commissioners, but authorised by, for 

example, GPs on behalf of commissioners, are not recognised by commissioners; or
• There is a lack of agreement over proposed contract penalties for sub-standard performance.

Where there is a lack of agreement, mis-matches can also be classified as formal disputes and referred to NHS 
England Area Teams for resolution.

We do not consider NHS income to be at high risk of significant misstatement, or to be subject to a significant level 
of judgement. However, due to its materiality in the context of the financial statements as a whole, NHS income 
is considered to be one of the areas which has the greatest effect on our overall audit strategy and allocation of 
resources in planning and completing our audit. 

Our response: In this area our audit procedures included:
• Inspecting a sample of contracts for the financial year and related records to assess the appropriateness of income 

recognition;
• For the NHS agreement of balances exercise, inspecting a sample of the Trust’s records relating to the agreement 

or reconciliation of balances with correspondence with commissioners;
• For provisions against income; assessing the reasonableness of the Trust’s assumptions by inspecting a sample of 

the Trust’s records of the activities in dispute and correspondence with the commissioners; and
• Considering the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgements and degree of estimation involved in 

arriving at the estimate of revenue receivable.

4. Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit
The materiality for the financial statements was set at £1,700,000, determined with reference to a benchmark of 
income from operations (of which it represents approximately 1.5%). We consider income from operations to be 
more stable than a surplus-related benchmark.

We report to the Audit Committee any corrected and uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding
£85,000, in addition to other identified misstatements that warrant reporting on qualitative grounds.

The Group has two reporting components and both were subject to audits for group reporting purposes performed 
by the Group audit team at one location in King’s Lynn. These audits covered 100% of group income, deficit for the 
year and total assets. The audits performed for group reporting purposes were performed to materiality levels set at 
the same level as the Trust.

5. Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts is 
unmodified 
In our opinion:
• The part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 

NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014 / 1 5; and
• The information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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6. We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters on which we are required to 
report by exception 
Under ISAs (UK&I) we are required to report to you if, based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, 
we have identified other information in the annual report that contains a material inconsistency with either that 
knowledge or the financial statements, a material misstatement of fact, or that is otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to report to you if:
• We have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our audit and the 

directors’ statement that they consider that the annual report and accounts taken as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators and other stakeholders to assess 
the Group’s performance, business model and strategy; or

• The Audit Committee Report does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the audit committee.

Under the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts we are required to report to you if in our opinion:
• The Annual Governance Statement does not reflect the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS Foundation 

Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15, is misleading or is not consistent with our knowledge of the Group and 
other information of which we are aware from our audit of the financial statements.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above responsibilities.

7. Other matters on which we are required to report by exception – adequacy of arrangements 
to secure value for money
Under Section 62(1) of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts, we 
have a duty to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.

In January 2012, Monitor notified the Trust that it was in significant breach of its terms of authorisation and the 
Trust has been in breach of its licence with Monitor since April 2013. In October 2013, Monitor placed the Trust in 
special measures. This was due to concerns about the poor quality of care provided to patients, underperformance 
against financial targets and weak leadership. The Trust remains in special measures. The actions taken by the Trust 
to mitigate the reasons for the breach are set out in the Annual Report along with a summary of progress made  
to date.

As a result of these matters, we are unable to satisfy ourselves that the Trust made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 201S.

Certificate of audit completion
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 
2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

Our certificate is qualified in accordance with paragraph 5.12 of the Audit Code as:
• We have been unable to satisfy ourselves that the Trust made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources; and
• Whilst we have issued a limited assurance opinion in relation to the content of the quality report and one of the 

mandated indicators (Emergency readmissions within 28 days of discharge), we have not issued an opinion in 
relation to the Trust’s other mandated indicator (Referral to Treatment - incomplete pathways).

Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and auditor
As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities on page 121 the accounting officer 
is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, 
and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the UK Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with ISAs (UK and Ireland) 
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on our website at www.kpmq.com/
uk/auditscopeother2014. This report is made subject to important explanations regarding our responsibilities, as 
published on that website, which are incorporated into this report as if set out in full and should be read to provide 
an understanding of the purpose of this report, the work we have undertaken and the basis of our opinions.
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The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with Schedule 10 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Council 
of Governors of the Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have 
formed.

 

Stephanie Beavis for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
6 Lower Brook Street, Ipswich, IP4 1 AP

Date: 29th May 2015
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The notes on pages 137 to 167 form part of these accounts.

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.

Statement Of Comprehensive Income For The Year Ended 31 March 2015

31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Foundation 
TrustGroup Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income from patient activities 2 153,584 153,584 153,061 153,061

Other operating income 2 11,848 12,422 12,613 13,104

Operating expenses 3 (177,960) (178,234) (176,231) (176,589)

Operating (Deficit)/Surplus (12,528) (12,228) (10,557) (10,424)

Finance costs

Finance income 6 16 23 24 33

Finance expenses- financial liabilities 7 (151) (151) (178) (185)

Public dividends capital payable (2,199) (2,199) (2,274) (2,274)

Net finance costs (2,334) (2,327) (2,428) (2,426)

(Deficit) for the year (14,862) (14,555) (12,985) (12,850)

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation gain 2,443 2,443 0 0

Other reserve movements 0 24 0 8

Total Comprehensive (expenses) for the period (12,419) (12,088) (12,985) (12,842)
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The financial statements on pages 133 to 170 were approved by the Board on 26th May 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Dorothy Hosein: Chief Executive, Date: 26th May 2015

Statement Of Financial Position For The Foundation Trust As At 31 March 2015

31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 8 42 42 62 62

Property, plant and equipment 9 84,790 84,790 78,950 78,950

Investments 11 0 410 0 954

Trade and other receivables 13 593 593 546 546

Total non-current assets 85,425 85,835 79,558 80,512

Current assets

Inventories 12 2,540 2,540 2,314 2,314

Trade and other receivables 13 5,513 5,765 6,282 6,430

Cash and cash equivalents 14 608 1,716 1,955 2,357

Total current assets 8,661 10,021 10,551 11,101

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 (16,523) (16,568) (16,591) (16,641)

Borrowings 16 (1,076) (1,076) (1,264) (1,264)

Provisions 18 (217) (217) (783) (783)

Other liabilities 17 (661) (661) (541) (541)

Total Current Liabilities (18,477) (18,522) (19,179) (19,229)

Total assets less current liabilities 75,609 77,334 70,930 72,384

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 16 (21,635) (21,635) (4,985) (4,985)

Provisions 18 (413) (413) (358) (358)

Other liabilities 17 (558) (558) (558) (558)

Total non-current liabilities (22,606) (22,606) (5,901) (5,901)

Total assets employed 53,003 54,728 65,029 66,483

Financed by (taxpayers’ equity)

Public dividend capital 53,147 53,147 52,812 52,812

Revaluation reserve 22 16,802 16,802 15,168 15,168

Charitable Funds 23 0 1,725 0 1,454

Income and expenditure reserve (16,946) (16,946) (2,951) (2,951)

Total taxpayers’ equity 53,003 54,728 65,029 66,483
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Statement Of Changes In Taxpayers’ Equity As At 31 March 2015

Total Public 
Dividend 
Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Income & 
Expenditure 

Reserve

Charitable 
Reserves

Group Group Group Group Group

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Restated Taxpayers’ Equity at 31 March 2014 66,483 52,812 15,168 (2,951) 1,454

Deficit for the Year (14,555) 0 0 (14,862) 307

Revaluation 2,443 0 2,443 0 0

Other reserve movements 357 335 (809) 867 (36)

Restated Taxpayers’ Equity as at 31 March 2015 54,728 53,147 16,802 (16,946) 1,725

 Statement Of Changes In Taxpayers’ Equity As At 31 March 2014

Total Public 
Dividend 
Capital

Revaluation 
Reserve

Income & 
Expenditure 

Reserve

Charitable 
Reserves

Group Group Group Group Group

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Restated Taxpayers’ Equity at 31 March 2013 71,325 44,812 15,863 9,338 1,312

Deficit for the Year (12,850) 0 0 (12,984) 134

Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0

Other reserve movements 8,008 8,000 (695) 695 8

Restated Taxpayers’ Equity as at 31 March 2014 66,483 52,812 15,168 (2,951) 1,454
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Statement Of Cash Flows For The Year Ended 31 March 2015

Tuesday, 
March 31, 

2015

Tuesday, 
March 31, 

2015

Monday, 
March 31, 

2014

Monday, 
March 31, 

2014

Cash flows from operating activities Foundation Group Foundation Group

Trust Trust

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating surplus/(deficit) (12,528) (12,228) (10,557) (10,424)

Non-cash income and expenses

Depreciation and amortisation 5,791 5,791 5,148 5,148

Donated asset income 0 (60) (120) (120)

Impairments and reversals 0 0 127 127

(Gain)/loss on disposal 133 133 (3) (3)

(Increase)/decrease in Trade and Other  
Receivables

862 758 (1,254) (1,165)

(Increase)/decrease in Inventories (226) (226) 73 73

Increase/(decrease) in Trade and Other  
Payables

(772) (777) 4,759 4,787

(Decrease)/Increase in Provisions (516) (516) (147) (155)

Increase in other liabilities 120 120 81 81

Other movements in operating cashflows 4 4 0 (9)

Net cash generated from operations (7,132) (7,001) (1,893) (1,660)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (8,607) (8,607) (6,356) (6,356)

Conversion of investments to cash 0 568 0 0

Net cash used in investing activities (8,607) (8,039) (6,356) (6,356)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest received 16 23 24 32

PDC received 335 335 8,000 8,000

Loans received 17,800 17,800 0 0

Loans repaid (1,265) (1,265) (1,158) (1,158)

Interest paid (121) (121) (70) (70)

PDC dividends paid (2,269) (2,269) (2,116) (2,116)

Captal element of financial leases (79) (79) (79) (79)

Interest elements of financial leases (25) (25) (29) (29)

Net cash used in financing activities 14,392 14,399 4,572 4,580

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,347) (641) (3,677) (3,436)

Cash and Cash equivalent at 1 April 1,955 2,357 5,632 5,793

Cash and Cash equivalent at 31 March 608 1,716 1,955 2,357

Where relevant prior year analysis has been adjusted to be on a consistent basis with the current year.
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Financial Performance
The Trust is expecting to incur a deficit during the next 12 months and as a result will require significant additional 
external funding from the Department of Health. The regulator is expected to assess the Trust’s Annual plan for 
2015/16 and confirm the level of cash support (Capital and Revenue) that will be available to the Trust for the year. 
To enable the continuation of services, the Trust has agreed an “interim working capital support facility” from the 
DoH which enables the Trust to draw revenue funds of up to £10m to support the on-going delivery of service.

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires management to assess, as part of the accounts preparation 
process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis unless management intends, or has no alternative but, to apply to the Secretary of State for the Trust’s 
dissolution without the transfer of its services to another entity.

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s Board of Directors has carefully considered 
the principle of ‘Going Concern’ and the Directors have concluded that the combination of the circumstances 
outlined below represents a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt upon the Trust’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. Nevertheless after making enquiries, and considering the uncertainties described in the following 
paragraphs, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust will have access to adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Financial Position
• The Trust has a Monitor governance risk rating of 1 (lowest level of assurance) due to the Trust breaching its 

licence.
• The Trust remains in ‘special measures’. 
• The Trust recorded a financial deficit for the 2014/15 financial year of £14.9m; 
• The Trust received £17.8m of loan funding from Department of Health (DoH). This funding ensured that the Trust 

could continue to meet its liabilities during 2014/15 as and when they fell due. 
• The Trust’s main commissioners have been supportive of the in year liquidity challenges by bringing forward 

contract payments to ensure cash is available
• The Trust delivered cost improvements and efficiency gains of £4.0m against a plan of £6.7m. 

Looking Forward to 2015/16 and beyond
The Trust’s financial plan for 2015/16 has been approved by the Board following a comprehensive and robust 
budget setting process with all Clinical and Support departments. Cost saving targets of £4.7m have been included 
in the plan along with productivity gains of £3.6m, creating total efficiency savings £8.3m for 2015/16.

The financial plan for 2015/16 indicates an on-going deficit and requires DoH cashflow support of circa £25m.

A Contingency Planning Team has been working with the Trust and local healthcare partners, on behalf of Monitor, 
to address the Trust’s sustainability issues. Their report and the Trust’s response is due to be considered by Monitor in 
the Spring and Summer of 2015.

Summary
During the next twelve months, the Trust will continue to enhance the standard of patient care and services. 
Contracts with commissioners have been signed which give a level of assurance for the expectation of continued 
service delivery and appropriate cashflow support for the Trust during 2015/16. The Trust’s financial plans have 
identified the requirement for significant additional external funding from the DoH, estimated to be £25m.

An “interim working capital support facility” has been agreed, providing the Trust with £10m of working capital 
funding whilst the Trust’s annual plan is assessed and formal cashflow support is considered further by the 
Regulator. 

After making enquiries and considering the uncertainties, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the 
Trust will have access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For 
this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. However the circumstances 
outlined above represent a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt upon the Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result from the basis of 
preparation being inappropriate.

Notes to the Accounts
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Accounting Policies

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1. Consolidation
The Trust is the corporate trustee to The Queen Elizabeth Hospital Charitable Fund (the Charity). The Trust has 
assessed its relationship to the charity and determined it to be a subsidiary because the Trust has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of the charity as so obtain benefits from its activities itself, its patient or 
its staff.

The charitable fund’s statutory accounts are prepared to 31 March in accordance with the UK Charities Statement 
of Recommended Practice (SORP) which is based on UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP). On 
consolidation, necessary adjustments are made to the charity’s assets, liabilities and transactions to: 
• Recognise and measure them in accordance with the foundation trust’s accounting policies; and 
• Eliminate intra-group transactions, balances, gains and losses. 

The notes are analysed between Foundation Trust items and Group items, being the consolidation of both entities. 
Where Group only is disclosed, there is either no income/expenditure associated with the Charitable Funds, or it is 
immaterial, so therefore not disclosed separately.

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

2.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The Trust’s management have made the following critical judgments in applying the Trust’s accounting policies:

The most significant estimate within the accounts is the value of land and building. The valuation for 2014/15 was 
performed by professional Chartered Surveyors Boshier and Company on the basis of market value as at 1 April 
2014. Boshier and Company have extensive knowledge of the physical estate and market factors, are independent 
of the Trust and certified by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. The value does not take into account 
potential future changes in market value which cannot be predicted with any certainty.
 
The Trust has a financial liability for any annual leave earned by staff but not taken as at 31st March 2015. Under 
Trust policy staff are allowed to carry over a maximum of 5 working days into the following financial year. The 
estimated costs of untaken annual leave as at 31st March 2015 was £658,000 (31st March 2014 £607,000).

Assumptions around the timing of cash flows relating to provisions are based on information from the NHS Pensions 
Agency and internal opinion in the Trust.

2.2 Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
The preparation of the financial information in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of income and expenses 
and of assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under all the circumstances. Actual results may vary from these estimates. The 
estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The estimates and judgements that have had a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are outlined below.
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2.3 Income estimates
In measuring income for the year, management has taken account of all available information. Income estimates 
that have been made have been based on actual information related to the financial year. Included in the income 
figure is an estimate for partial spells, i.e. patients undergoing treatment that is only partially complete at twelve 
midnight on 31 March. The number of partial spells for each specialty is taken and multiplied by the average 
specialty price and adjusted for the proportion of the spell which belongs to the current year.

2.4 Expense accruals
In estimating expenses that have not yet been charged for, management has made a realistic assessment based on 
costs actually incurred in the year to date, with a view to ensuring that no material items have been omitted.

2.5 Provisions
In accordance with the stated policy on provisions, management have used best estimates of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligations concerned, applying HM Treasury’s discount rate as stated, as appropriate. 
Management have also taken into account all available information for disputes and possible outcomes.

3. Income 
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with 
commissioners in respect of healthcare services. 

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial year, that income is 
deferred. 

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, 
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

4. Expenditure on employee benefits 

4.1 Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period 
is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the 
following period. 

4.2 Pension costs 

NHS Pension Scheme 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, 
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction 
of Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the NHS Foundation Trust to identify its share of 
the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. 

Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the 
retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating 
expenses at the time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
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5. Expenditure on other goods and services 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except 
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

6. Property, plant and equipment 

6.1 Recognition 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: 
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust; 
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and 
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; 
or
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 

where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; 

or
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their 

individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives 
e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own 
useful economic lives. 

6.2 Measurement 

Valuation 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable 
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value. 

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial 
position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations are performed every 5 years and reviewed with sufficient regularity in between to ensure carrying 
amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair 
values are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost

The Trust conducted a full valuation of land and buildings as at 1 April 2014. The valuation was performed by 
Boshier and Company Chartered Surveyors.

Properties in the course of construction for service administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment 
loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as 
allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are 
brought into use.

6.3 Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the 
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential 
deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of 
the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is 
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. 
Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs 
and maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred. 
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6.4 Depreciation 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner 
consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an 
infinite life and is not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon the 
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction contract are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use.

6.5 Revaluation gains and losses  
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a 
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised 
in operating income. 

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset 
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 

6.6 Impairments 
In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in 
the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to 
the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating 
expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, 
the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent 
that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. 
Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a 
transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred 
back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation 
gains. 

6.7 Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets 
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The 
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, 
the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the 
condition has not yet been met. 

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment. 

7. Intangible assets 

7.1 Recognition 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately 
from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only 
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and 
where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5,000.

7.2 Software 
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. 
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
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7.3 Measurement 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce 
and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated 
in the same manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

7.4 Amortisation 
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 

8. Revenue government and other grants 
Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care Trusts or NHS Trusts 
for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. 

9. Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using the 
weighted average cost method. 

10. Financial instruments and financial liabilities 

10.1 Recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items 
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage 
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of 
the goods or services is made. 

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are 
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described above/below.

10.2 De-recognition 
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust 
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. 
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

10.3 Classification and measurement 
Financial assets are categorised as either available for sale, at fair value through income and expenditure, loans and 
receivables or held to maturity.

10.4 Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or financial 
liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial liability is classified in this category if acquired principally 
for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges.
 
Assets and liabilities in this category are classified as current assets and current liabilities. 
These financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, with transaction costs expensed in 
the income and expenditure account. Subsequent movements in the fair value are recognised as gains or losses in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

10.5 Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted 
in an active market. They are included in current assets. 

The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued income and ‘other 
debtors’. 
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Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

10.6 Other financial liabilities 
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. 

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of 
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities. 

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged 
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or intangible 
assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. 

10.7 Determination of fair value 
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

10.8 Impairment of financial assets 
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at 
‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are 
recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced directly.

11. Leases 

11.1 Finance leases 
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS Foundation Trust, 
the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which 
both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an 
item of property plant and equipment. 

The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant 
rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

11.2 Operating leases 
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and charged to 
operating expenses over the life of the lease. 
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11.3 Leases of land and buildings 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the 
classification for each is assessed separately. 

12. Provisions 
The NHS Foundation Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain 
timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the 
best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates published and mandated 
by HM Treasury. 

12.1 Clinical negligence costs 
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays 
an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA 
is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHS Foundation 
Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS Foundation Trust is 
disclosed in note 19.1 but it is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.

12.2 Non-clinical risk pooling 
The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. 
Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority 
and in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 
‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises. 

13. Public dividend capital 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities 
at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial 
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend capital 
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets 
of the NHS Foundation Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets 
less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets (including lottery funded assets), (ii) average daily cash 
balances held in with the Government Banking Service (GBS) and National Loan Fund (NFL) deposit, excluding cash 
balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short term working capital facility,(iii) for 2013/14 only, net assets 
and liabilities transferred from bodies which ceased to exist on 1 April 2013, and (iv) any PDC dividend balance 
receivable or payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of 
PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ 
version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets 
occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts. 

14. Value Added Tax 
Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

15. Corporation Tax 
The Trust is a Health Service Body within the meaning of s519A ICTA 1988 and accordingly in relation to specified 
activities of a Foundation Trust (s519 (3) to (8) ICTA 1988). None of the Trust’s activities in the period are subject to 
corporation tax liability.

16. Foreign Exchange
The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are sterling. A transaction which is denominated in a 
foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction.
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17. Third party assets 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since 
the NHS Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the 
accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM. 

18. Losses and special payments 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payments are charged to 
the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made 
good through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register 
which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses. 

19. Accounting standards and amendments issued, but not yet adopted in the ARM 
Where the IASB has issued amendments to standards, NHS Foundation Trusts should apply those amendments in 
accordance with the applicable timetable, but should not seek to early-adopt any changes. 

The following table lists changes to standards issued by the IASB but have not yet been adopted in the ARM: 

Change  
published

Published  
by IASB 

Financial year for which the  
change first applies 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement May 2011
Adoption delayed by HM Treasury.  

To be adopted from 2015/16. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers May 2014 
Not yet EU adopted.  

Expected to be effective from 2017/18.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments July 2014 
Not yet EU adopted.  

Expected to be effective from 2018/19.

IAS 36 (amendment) – recoverable amount disclosures May 2013
To be adopted from 2015/16  
(aligned to IFRS 13 adoption)

Annual Improvements 2012 December 2013 Effective from 2015/16 but not yet EU adopted

Annual Improvements 2013 December 2013 Effective from 2015/16 but not yet EU adopted

IAS 19 (amendment) – employer contributions  
to defined benefit pension schemes 

November 2013 Effective from 2015/16 but not yet EU adopted

IFRIC 21 Levies May 2013
EU adopted in June 2014 but not yet adopted  

by HM Treasury.
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2. Operating Income

Note 2.1 Operating Income (By Classification) 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income from activities

Acute Trusts

Elective income 30,079 30,079 29,839 29,839

Non elective income 49,037 49,037 48,811 48,811

Outpatient income 29,122 29,122 30,022 30,022

A&E income 6,022 6,022 5,563 5,563

Other NHS clinical income 38,048 38,048 37,388 37,388

Private patient income 808 808 953 953

Other non-protected clinical income 468 468 485 485

Total income from activities 153,584 153,584 153,061 153,061

Other operating income

Education and training 6,045 6,045 6,092 6,092

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 125 125 120 120

Non-patient care services to other bodies 698 698 573 573

Lease 0 0 5 5

Other 4,980 5,554 5,823 6,314

Total other operating income 11,848 12,422 12,613 13,104

Total Operating income 165,432 166,006 165,674 166,165

Note 2.2 Operating Lease Income 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating lease income

Rents recognised as income in the period 0 0 5 5

Total 0 0 5 5

Future minimum lease payments due:

-not later than one year 5 5 5 5

-later than one year but not later than five years 25 25 25 25

-later than five years 528 528 528 528

Total 558 558 558 558



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust - Financial and Operating Report 2014/15 147

N
ot

e 
2.

3 
O

p
er

at
in

g 
S

eg
m

en
ts

20
14

/1
5

S
eg

m
en

t
S

ur
gi

ca
l

Th
ea

tr
e

W
om

en
 &

 
ch

ild
re

n
S

p
ec

ia
lis

t 
S

ur
gi

ca
l

D
ia

gn
os

tic
E

m
er

ge
nc

y
M

ed
ic

al
O

nc
ol

og
y

P
at

ie
nt

 fl
ow

C
or

p
or

at
e

To
ta

l

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

C
lin

ic
al

 in
co

m
e

28
,7

14
 

1,
58

2 
21

,5
26

 
17

,0
29

 
8,

16
7 

12
,8

73
 

43
,2

55
 

11
,6

86
 

45
 

8,
70

7 
15

3,
58

4 

N
on

-c
lin

ic
al

 in
co

m
e

17
5 

15
1 

32
5 

99
 

1,
08

6 
17

0 
27

5 
34

3 
94

 
9,

13
0 

11
,8

48
 

C
ha

rit
ab

le
 F

un
d 

In
co

m
e

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
57

4 
57

4 

P
ay

(7
,5

82
)

(1
2,

04
1)

(1
3,

06
6)

(5
,2

15
)

(1
3,

27
2)

(2
0,

25
2)

(1
7,

82
1)

(6
,0

38
)

(9
68

)
(2

5,
87

5)
(1

22
,1

30
)

N
on

 P
ay

(1
,0

18
)

(7
,1

09
)

(1
,5

58
)

(8
75

)
(8

,3
50

)
(2

,9
83

)
(2

,3
35

)
(1

,2
38

)
(2

64
)

(3
0,

10
0)

(5
5,

83
0)

C
ha

rit
ab

le
 F

un
d 

ex
pe

nd
itu

re
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(2
74

)
(2

74
)

O
p

er
at

in
g 

S
ur

p
lu

s/
(D

efi
ci

t)
20

,2
89

 
(1

7,
41

7)
7,

22
7 

11
,0

38
 

(1
2,

36
9)

(1
0,

19
2)

23
,3

74
 

4,
75

3 
(1

,0
93

)
(3

7,
83

8)
(1

2,
22

8)

20
13

/1
4 

S
eg

m
en

t
S

ur
gi

ca
l

Th
ea

tr
e

W
om

en
 &

 
C

hi
ld

re
n

A
m

b
ul

a-
to

ry
D

ia
gn

os
-

tic
E

m
er

ge
n-

cy
M

ed
ic

al
O

nc
ol

og
y

P
at

ie
nt

 
Fl

ow
C

or
p

o-
ra

te
To

ta
l

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

£0
00

C
lin

ic
al

 in
co

m
e

29
,9

83
1,

41
5

22
,6

41
16

,1
87

11
,3

11
10

,7
43

39
,9

03
12

,5
44

90
8,

16
8

15
2,

98
5

N
on

-c
lin

ic
al

 in
co

m
e

46
32

7
43

7
45

1,
70

4
16

1
12

7
26

7
16

0
9,

41
4

12
,6

88

C
ha

rit
ab

le
 F

un
d 

In
co

m
e

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
49

1
49

1

P
ay

(7
,4

58
)

(1
2,

51
2)

(1
2,

99
7)

(4
,9

01
)

(1
6,

86
4)

(1
6,

73
7)

(1
5,

87
3)

(5
,9

16
)

(9
92

)
(2

4,
94

4)
(1

19
,1

94
)

N
on

 P
ay

(1
,1

56
)

(7
,1

73
)

(1
,7

08
)

(1
,0

46
)

(7
,8

16
)

(2
,8

70
)

(2
,5

03
)

(1
,1

66
)

(5
8)

(3
1,

54
0)

(5
7,

03
6)

C
ha

rit
ab

le
 F

un
d 

ex
pe

nd
itu

re
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

(3
58

)
(3

58
)

O
p

er
at

in
g 

S
ur

p
lu

s/
(D

efi
ci

t)
21

,4
15

(1
7,

94
3)

8,
37

3 
10

,2
85

 
(1

1,
66

5)
(8

,7
03

)
21

,6
54

 
5,

72
9 

(8
00

)
(3

8,
76

9)
(1

0,
42

4)

“T
he

 t
ab

le
 a

bo
ve

 s
ho

w
s 

th
e 

Tr
us

t’s
 O

pe
ra

tin
g 

Se
gm

en
ts

 a
s 

pe
r 

m
an

ag
er

ia
l c

on
tr

ol
 f

or
 d

ire
ct

 r
es

ou
rc

es
. I

t 
is

 n
ot

 a
 S

er
vi

ce
 L

in
e 

Re
po

rt
 t

o 
sh

ow
 s

er
vi

ce
 a

re
a 

co
nt

rib
ut

io
n 

or
 p

ro
fit

ab
ili

ty
.

Th
e 

“C
or

po
ra

te
” 

ca
te

go
ry

 in
cl

ud
es

 a
ll 

ot
he

r 
in

co
m

e 
an

d 
ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 f
or

 t
he

 T
ru

st
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 c
os

t 
an

d 
in

co
m

e 
as

so
ci

at
ed

 w
ith

 p
as

s 
th

ro
ug

h 
dr

ug
s 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 &
 C

Q
U

IN
 

in
co

m
e 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
al

l t
he

 p
ay

 a
nd

 n
on

-p
ay

 c
os

ts
 f

or
 s

up
po

rt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

ca
te

rin
g,

 d
om

es
tic

 &
 c

le
an

in
g,

 p
or

te
rin

g,
 e

st
at

e 
st

af
f,

 fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 e
tc

.”



148

Note 2.4 Operating Income (by type) 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

Income from patient activities £000 £000 £000 £000

NHS Foundation Trust 1,952 1,952 159 159

CCGs 149,868 149,868 151,389 151,389

Local authorities 675 675 0 0

Non NHS private patients 784 784 953 953

Non-NHS: Overseas patients (chargeable to patient)* (188) (188) 125 125

NHS injury scheme (was RTA) 468 468 360 360

Non NHS other 25 25 75 75

Total income from patient activities 153,584 153,584 153,061 153,061

Education and training 6,045 6,045 6,092 6,092

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 125 125 120 120

Non patient care services to other bodies 698 698 573 573

Other ** 4,980 5,554 5,828 6,319

Total other operating income 11,848 12,422 12,613 13,104

Total Operating Income 165,432 166,006 165,674 166,165

*Negative balance due to reversal of invoices initially raised against overseas patients but ultimately recovered 
from relevant CCGs.

31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

**Analysis of Other Operating Income: Other Foundation 
Trust 

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Car parking 1,076 1,076 1,054 1,054

Staff recharges 620 620 1,237 1,237

Pharmacy sales 75 75 948 948

Staff accommodation rentals 3 3 1 1

Clinical tests 1 1 24 24

Catering 294 294 289 289

Property rentals 53 53 54 54

Income Generation 1,783 1,783 2,001 2,001

Other 1,075 1,649 220 711

Total 4,980 5,554 5,828 6,319

Where relevant prior year analysis has been adjusted to be on consistent basis with current year.



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust - Financial and Operating Report 2014/15 149

Note 3. Operating Expenses (by type) 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 1927 1927 245 245

Services from NHS Trusts 2,260 2,260 2,411 2,411

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 1631 1631 487 487

Employees expenses – non-executive directors 111 111 98 98

Employee expenses – staff 120,237 120,237 117,418 117,418

Employees expenses – executive directors 1,782 1,782 1,681 1,681

Drug costs 15,229 15,229 14,681 14,681

Supplies and services clinical (excluding drugs) 12,057 12,057 14,754 14,754

Supplies and services – general 2,444 2,444 2,444 2,444

Establishment 1,380 1,380 1,451 1,451

Transport 900 900 1,002 1,002

Premises 5,497 5,497 5,213 5,213

Increase/(decrease) in bad debt provision 343 343 357 357

(Decrease)/Increase in other provisions (612) (612) (188) (188)

Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments 499 499 541 541

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 5,771 5,771 5,119 5,119

Amortisation of intangible assets 20 20 29 29

Impairments to property, plant and equipment 0 0 121 121

Audit fees – statutory audit 64 64 54 54

Non-audit fees 82 82 134 134

Clinical negligence 3,268 3,268 3,682 3,682

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 133 133 (3) (3)

Professional Services 1,673 1,673 2,773 2,773

Training, courses and conferences 296 296 469 469

Patients travel 26 26 34 34

Car parking and security 229 229 208 208

Redundancy 89 89 11 11

Hospitality 43 43 48 48

Insurance 126 126 134 134

Other services 282 282 186 186

Losses, ex gratia and special payments 4 4 9 9

Other * 169 443 628 986

Total 177,960 178,234 176,231 176,589

*Other expenditure includes costs for interpreters, health and safety and operating leases, bank charges and 
compensation payments.

Where relevant prior year analysis has been adjusted to be on consistent basis with current year.
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Note 3.1 Employee Expenses

31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-14

Total Permanent Other Total Permanent Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 93,746 92,294 1,452 94,402 90,750 3,652

Social security 7,190 6,912 278 7,159 6,882 277

Employers contributions  
to NHS Pensions

10,357 9,957 400 10,343 9,943 400

Termination benefits 681 681 0 0 0 0

Agency/contract staff 10,045 0 10,045 7,195 - 7,195

Total 122,019 109,844 12,175 119,099 107,575 11,524

Note 3.2 Employee Numbers 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

 Total Permanent Other Total

Medical and dental 320 320 0 331

Administration and estates 514 514 0 520

Healthcare assistants and 
other support staff

262 262 0 258

Nursing, midwifery and 
health visiting staff

1,147 1,147 0 1,068

Nursing, midwifery and 
health visiting learners 

2 2 0 2

Scientific, therapeutic and 
technical

331 331 0 347

Agency and contract staff 67 0 67 49

Bank staff 144 144 0 149

Total 2,787 2,720 67 2,724

Note 3.3 Employee Benefits In Kind 2014/15 2013/14

Total 6 6

Note 3.4 Early Retirements Due To Ill Health

During the year there were 7 (2013/14 - 6) early retirements from the NHS Foundation Trust agreed on the grounds 
of ill health. The estimated additional pension liability as a result of this is £407,367 (2013/14 - £494,505). The cost 
of these ill health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority – Pension Division.

Note 3.5 Staff Exit Packages

The exit packages within this disclosure were made under local arrangements.
Exit package cost band No. 

compulsory 
redundancies

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number 
of other 

departures 
agreed

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed

Total number 
of exit 

packages

Total cost  
of exit  

packages

£000s £000s £000s

Less £10,000 1 8 12 66 13 74

£10,001 - £25,000 2 39 8 130 10 169

£25,001 - £50,000 1 42 2 76 3 118

£50,001 - £100,000 0 0 6 409 6 409

Total number of exit  
packages by type

4 89 28 681 32 770

Total resource cost actual £88,787 £681,247 £770,034
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Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits 
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way 
that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the 
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the 
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting 
valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking 
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers 
and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 
31 March 2004 and covered the period from 1 April 1999 to that date. The conclusion from the 2004 valuation was 
that the scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3 billion against the notional assets as at 31 March 2004.

In order to defray the costs of benefits, employers pay contributions at 14% of pensionable pay and most 
employees had up to April 2008 paid 6%, with manual staff paying 5%.

Following the full actuarial review by the Government Actuary undertaken as at 31 March 2004, and after 
consideration of changes to the NHS Pension Scheme taking effect from 1 April 2008, his Valuation report 
recommended that employer contributions could continue at the existing rate of 14% of pensionable pay, from 1 
April 2008, following the introduction of employee contributions on a tiered scale from 5% up to 14.5% of their 
pensionable pay depending on total earnings.

On advice from the scheme actuary, scheme contributions may be varied from time to time to reflect changes in the 
scheme’s liabilities.

b) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting 
period by updating the results of the full actuarial valuation.

Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year midpoint, a full and detailed member data-set is provided to the 
scheme actuary. At this point the assumptions regarding the composition of the scheme membership are updated to 
allow the scheme liability to be valued. 

The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2011, is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March 
2008 (the latest midpoint) updated to 31 March 2011 with summary global member and accounting data.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of 
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource Account, published annually. These accounts can be 
viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

c) Scheme provisions 
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide 
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be 
met before these benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and 
of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of 
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have 
their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax 
free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension 
commutation”.

Note 3.6 Pension Costs
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Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are 
based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently 
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s 
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income at the time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the 
Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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Note 4. Operating Leases 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

£000 £000

Group Group

Minimum lease payments 499 541

Total 499 541

Note 4.1 Arrangement Containing an Operating Lease 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

£000 £000

Group Group

Future minimum lease payments due:

Not later than 1 year 610 541

Later than one year not later than five years 1,525 1,333

Later than 5 years 0 0

Total 2,135 1,874

Note 5.1 Limitation On Auditor’s Liability 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

£000 £000

Group Group

Limitation on auditor’s liability 1,000 1,000

Note 5.2 The late Payment Of Commercial Debts (interest) Act 1998 2014/15 2012/14

£000 £000

Group Group

Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims made 
under this legislation

0 0

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation 0 0

Note 6. Finance Income 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

£000 £000

Group Group

Other gains 23 33

Total 23 33

Note 7. Finance Expense – Interest 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

£000 £000

Group Group

Loans from Department of Health 121 150 

Finance lease 25 29 

Unwinding of discount factor 5 6 

Total 151 185 
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Note 8. Intangible Assets Software Licences  
(Purchased) 

£000

Group

Valuation/Gross cost as at 1 April 2014 258

Disposals 0

Gross cost as at 31 March 2015 258

Amortisation as at 1 April 2014 196

Provided during the year 20

Disposals 0

Amortisation as at 31 March 2015 216

Net book value 31 March 2015 42

Net book value 31 March 2014 62
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Note 11. Investments 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

1 April 2014 0 954 0 941

Movement in market value 0 24 0 13

Disposal 0 (568) 0 0

31 March 2015 0 410 0 954

Note 12. Inventories 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Inventories 2,540 2,540 2,314 2,314

Total 2,540 2,540 2,314 2,314

Note 13. Trade and Other Receivables 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Current
Foundation 

Trust
Group Foundation 

Trust
Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables 3,170 3,170 3,820 3,820

Provision for the impairment of receivables (888) (888) (545) (545)

Prepayments 1,145 1,145 1,610 1,610

Other receivables 2,086 2,338 1,397 1,545

Total Current Trade And Other Receivables 5,513 5,765 6,282 6,430

Non-current

Other receivables 593 593 546 546

Total Non-Current Trade And Other Receivables 593 593 546 546

Note 13.1 Provision For Impairment Of Receivables 31-Mar-15

£000

Group

At 1 April 2014 545

RTA/General provision increase 343

At 31 March 2015 888
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Note 13.2 Receivables Past Their Due Date But Not Impaired 2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

Group Group

By up to three months 1,112 527

By three to six months 150 184

By more than six months 0 26

Total 1,262 737

The Trust holds no collateral against these debts.

Overdue debt are monitored monthly and passed on to a debt collection agency when necessary, the Trust has a 
debt collection policy that is adhered to.

Note 14. Cash and Cash Equivalents 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Foundation 
Trust

Group Foundation 
Trust

Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2014 1,955 2,357 5,632 5,793

Net change in year (1,347) (641) (3,677) (3,436)

At 31 March 2015 608 1,716 1,955 2,357

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 69 69 636 636

Cash with the Government Banking Service 539 539 1,319 1,319

Charitable Fund 0 1108 0 402

Cash and cash equivalents as in SOFP 608 1,716 1,955 2,357

Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 608 1,716 1,955 2,357

Note 15. Trade and Other Payables 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Current
Foundation 

Trust
Group Foundation 

Trust
Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables 1,943 1,943 4,587 4,587

Trade payables - capital 1,724 1,724 1,090 1,090

Other trade payables 3,694 3,694 3,220 3,220

Other payables 3,314 3,359 2,709 2,709

Tax payable 1,117 1,117 1,161 1,161

Accruals 4,731 4,731 3,824 3,874

Total current trade and other payables 16,523 16,568 16,591 16,641

An amount of £1,431,776 (2013/14 £1,428,799) relating to outstanding pension contributions is included within 
other payables; this has since been paid in April 2015.
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Note 16. Borrowings

31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Current Group Group

£000 £000

Loans 998 1,156

Obligations under finance leases 78 108

Total current borrowings 1,076 1,264

Non-current

Loans 21,400 4,597

Obligations under finance leases 235 388

Total non current borrowings 21,635 4,985

 

The Trust holds 5 loans with the Department Of Health. The first one was a 7 year term and expires during 
2014/15 (£0.210m), the second one is a 10 year term and expires during 2020/21 (£1,650m), the third one is a 
10 year term and expires during 2021/22 (£2,738m) the fourth is a revenue support loan that expires in 2019/20 
(£16.8m) and the fifth is a capital loan that expires in 2029/30 (£1m). The interest is fixed at the date the loan 
documents are signed and vary between 2% and 6%.

Note 17. Other Liabilities

31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Current Group Group

£000 £000

Deferred income 661 541

Total Other Current Liabilities 661 541

Non-current

Deferred income 558 558

Total Other Non Current Liabilities 558 558
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Note 18. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

Current Non-current

 31/03/2015 31-Mar-14 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Group Group Group Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Restructuring 64 612 0 0

Pensions relating to other staff 15 15 123 140

Legal 138 156 290 218

Total 217 783 413 358

Provisions include amounts for early retirements, clinical negligence and restructuring.

The amount included within the accounts of NHSLA as at 31 March 2015 in respect of the Trust is £26.373 
million (31 March 2014 £21.154 million), this provision is for clinical negligence liability.

Note 18.1 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges Analysis

Total Pensions - 
other staff

Other

Group Group Group

£000 £000 £000

As 1 April 2014 1,141 389 752

Arising during the year 211 93 118 

Utilised (110) (33) (77)

Reverse unused (617) (5) (612)

Unwinding of discount 5 5 0

At 31 March 2015 630 449 181

Expected timing of cash flows

-  not later than one year 217 36 181

-   later than one year but not later than five 
years

144 144 0

-  later than five years 269 269 0

Total 630 449 181

Other provisions relate to employers and public liability claims and the restructure provision.

Assumptions around the timing of cashflows relating to provisions are based on information from the NHS Pensions 
Agency and internal opinion of the Trust with regards to when the cost will be incurred.

Note 19. Contingent (Liabilities)/Assets

The Group has no contingent liabilities or assets.

Note 20. Events After The Reporting Period

The Group does not have any material events after the reporting period.

Note 21. Private Finance Initiative Transactions

The Group does not have any PFI transactions off balance sheet.
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Note 22. Revaluation Reserve Total 
Revaluation 

Reserve

£000

At 1 April 2014 15,168

Revaluations 2,443

Transfer to income & expenditure reserve (809)

At 31 March 2015 16,802

Note 23. Charitable Fund Reserves

Total Unrestricted Restricted Endowment

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2014 1,454 1,043 366 45

Movement in year 271 238 33 0

At 31 March 2015 1,725 1,281 399 45

Note 24. Related Party Transactions – 2014/15 Income Expenditure

£000 £000

Department of Health 0 7

Other NHS bodies 162,384 9,926

Charitable fund 0 0

Other 0 79

Total 162,384 10,012

Note 24.1 Related Party Transactions – 2014/15

Receivables Payables

£000 £000

Department of Health 70 0

Other NHS bodies 3,157 1,943

Charitable fund 0 0

Total 3,227 1,943

Please refer to Note 16 Borrowings for the value of Department of Health Loans.
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List of Related Parties
NHS North Norfolk CCG
NHS South Norfolk CCG  
NHS West Norfolk CCG
NHS Norwich
NHS Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CCG
Cambridgeshire Community Services 
NHS Lincolnshire East CCG
NHS Lincolnshire West CCG
NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG
NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
Department of Health
NHS Litigation Authority
NHS Purchasing and Supply Agency (NHS Supply Chain)
Cambridgeshire University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council
NHS Business Service Authority
NHS Pension Scheme
HM Revenue & Customs
East of England Ambulance Service
NHS Commissioning Board
Norfolk County Council Public Health
Cambridgeshire Community Services Public Health
Lincolnshire County Council Public health
Dr I Hosein (Husband of the CEO and working on contract as the Interim Associated Medical Director for  
Quality Development)

The Trust has also received revenue from and incurred expenditure with the Sandringham Private Hospital, the total 
income in the period amounted to £850,171, and expenditure was £5,855.

The Trust also received revenue and capital payments amounting to £327,754 from The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund, the Trustees for which make up the Trust Board. A copy of The 
Queen Elizabeth King’s Lynn NHS Trust Charitable Fund Accounts can be obtained on request (01553 613981).

The Trust conducted transactions with other Health Authorities and NHS bodies, which individually are not regarded 
as material, during the normal course of the Trust’s activities.

Note 25. Third Party Assets

The Trust held £1,137 of patients’ monies as at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: £70).
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Note 26. Contractual Capital Commitments 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

£000 £000

Property, Plant and Equipment 968 251

Total 968 251

Note 27. Finance Lease Obligations 31-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

Group Group

£000 £000

Lease liabilities

of which liabilities are due

- not later than one year 78 108

- later than one year and not later than five years 235 324

Finance charges allocated to future periods 84 116

Total 397 548

Note 28. Financial Assets By Category Total Loans and 
receivables

£000 £000

Assets as per SoFP

Trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2015) 6,036 6,036

Cash and cash equivalents ( at bank and in hand at 31 March 2015) 1,716 1,716

Total at 31 March 2015 7,752 7,752

Total Loans and 
receivables

Group Group

Assets as per SoFP £000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2014) 3,963 3,963

Cash and cash equivalents ( at bank and in hand at 31 March 2014) 2,357 2,357

Total at 31 March 2014 6,320 6,320
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Note 28.1 Financial Liabilities By Category Total Other  
financial  
liabilities

 Group   Group

£000 £000

Assets as per SoFP

Borrowings excluding finance leases (31 March 2015) 22,398 22,398

Obligations under finance leases (31 March 2015) 313 313

Trade and other payables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2015) 6,570 6,570

Other financial liabilities (31 March 2015) 45 45

Total at 31 March 2015 29,326 29,326

Total Other  
financial 
 liabilities

Group   Group

£000 £000

Assets as per SoFP

Borrowings excluding finance leases (31 March 2014) 5,753 5,753

Obligations under finance leases (31 March 2014) 496 496

Trade and other payables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2014) 8,897 8,897

Other financial liabilities (31 March 2014) 52 52

Total at 31 March 2014 15,198 15,198

Note 28.2 Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities at 31 March 2015 Book Value Fair Value

£000 £000

Non-current trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets 8,414 8,414

Total 8,414 8,414

Non-current trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 6,570 6,570

Loans 22,398 22,398

Other 358 358

Total 29,326 29,326
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Note 29. Financial Risk Management

International Financial Reporting Standard 7 and International Accounting Standard 32 requires disclosure of the role 
that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking 
its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the NHS Foundation Trust has with Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and the way those Clinical Commissioning Groups are financed, the NHS Foundation Trust 
is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more 
limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting 
standards mainly apply. The NHS Foundation Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial 
assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks 
facing the NHS Foundation Trust in undertaking its activities.

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. Trust treasury 
activity is subject to review by the Trusts internal auditors.

Currency Risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in 
the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency 
rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low 
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2015 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed 
in the trade and other receivables note.

Liquidity Risk
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with primary care Trusts, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential 
borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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Note 30. Losses and Special Payments (approved cases only)

31 March 
2015 Total 
number of 

cases

31 March 
2015  

Total value of 
cases

31 March 
2014  

Total number 
of cases

31 March 
2014  
Total  

value of cases

£ £

Losses

Cash Losses 1 230 2 180

Fruitless payments 12 103,728 10 3,205

Bad debts 324 9,660 378 13,927

Total Losses 337 113,618 390 17,312

Special Payments

Compensation payments 12 76,986 9 27,071

Ex-gratia payments 23 4,304 19 7,749

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT 
approval

4 49,000

Total Losses And Special Payments 376 243,908 418 52,132

The increase in fruitless payments in the current year relate to pharmacy losses.

Note 31. Audit fees

30-Mar-15 31-Mar-14

£000 £000

Fees payable to Trust’s auditors for the 
audit of the Trust’s annual accounts

64 54

All other non-audit services 82 134

Total Audit Fees 146 188
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 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015  1st April 2013 to 31st March 2014

Salaries and allowances

 (a)  
Salary 

(b)   
Expense 
payments 
(taxable)

(c)  
Performance  

pay and  
bonuses

(d)  
Long term 

performance  
pay and  
bonuses

(e)  
All  

pension- 
related  
benefits

(f)   
TOTAL 
(a to e)

 (a) 
Salary 

(b)   
Expense 
payments 
(taxable)

(c)  
Performance 

pay and  
bonuses

(d) 
Long term  

performance 
pay and  
bonuses

(e) 
All  

pension- 
related  
benefits

(f)   
TOTAL  
(a to e)

 Bands of 
£5,000

 To nearest 
£100

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£2,500

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£5,000

 To nearest 
£100

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£2,500

 Bands of 
£5,000

Kate Gordon (to 25/10/13) Chairman 15-20 15-20

David Dean (from 28/10/13 to 22/06/14) Chairman 10-15 10-15 20-25 20-25

Edward Libbey (from 01/07/2014) Chairman 35-40 35-40

Sean Green (to 31/05/13) Non-executive 0-5 0-5

Anita McCallum (to 30/09/13) Non-executive 0-5 0-5

Sean Haney (to 02/03/14) Non-executive 10-15 10-15

Victoria Holliday (to 31/07/14) Non-executive 0-5 0-5 10-15 10-15

Heather Farley Non-executive 10-15 10-15 5-10 5-10

Ian Pinches Non-executive 10-15 10-15 10-15 10-15

Joss Trout Non-executive 10-15 10-15 0-5 0-5

John Rees (from 08/09/14) Non-executive 5-10 5-10

Lisa Gamble (from 08/09/14) Non-executive 5-10 5-10

Patricia Wright (to 01/11/13) Chief Executive 85-90 15-17.5 105-110

Sharon Beamish (from 15/07/13 to 22/11/13) Director of Operations and Interim CEO 80-85 80-85

Manjit Obhrai (to 21/11/14) Chief Executive 270-275 9,600 280-285 120-125 120-125

Dorothy Hosein (from 10/11/14) Chief Executive 70-75 70-75

Mark Henry (to 07/10/13) Director of Operations 120-125 15-17.5 140-145

Andrew Stenton (to 03/07/14) Chief Operating Officer 65-70 65-70 65-70 65-70

Dorothy Hosein (to 09/11/14 ) Chief Operating Officer 80-85 80-85

Robert Heywood (from 01/11/14) Director of Operations 105-110 75-77.5 180-185

Gwyneth Wilson (to 31/10/13) Chief Nurse 65-70 25-27.5 95-100

Catherine Morgan Director of Nursing 115-120 400 167.5-170 280-285 35-40 97.5-100 135-140

Barbara Cummings (to 31/08/14) Director of Performance and Informatics 115-120 5-7.5 120-125 115-120 22.5-25 140-145

David Stonehouse Finance Director 125-130 6,800 17.5-20 150-155 125-130 6,500 27.5-30 150-155

Mark Blunt (to 31/08/14) Medical Director 95-100 95-100 175-180 77.5-80 255-260

Beverly Watson (full time Med Director from 01/09/14) Medical Director 155-160 155-160 105-110 330-332.5 365-370

Mark Vaughan (to 30/11/14) Director of HR 165-170 165-170 35-40 100 35-40

Gerald Dryden (from 01/12/14) Director of HR 30-35 120-122.5 150-155

Louise Proctor (to 25/05/14) Director of Strategy and Transformation 15-20 27.5-30 15-20 115-120 115-120

Wendy Cookson (to 06/11/14) Director of Quality Improvement 165-170 165-170 40-45 40-45

Charles Bellringer (to 07/05/14) Turnaround Director 35-40 11,800 45-50 110-115 110-115

Foundation Trust Directors Remuneration Report
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 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015  1st April 2013 to 31st March 2014

Salaries and allowances

 (a)  
Salary 

(b)   
Expense 
payments 
(taxable)

(c)  
Performance  

pay and  
bonuses

(d)  
Long term 

performance  
pay and  
bonuses

(e)  
All  

pension- 
related  
benefits

(f)   
TOTAL 
(a to e)

 (a) 
Salary 

(b)   
Expense 
payments 
(taxable)

(c)  
Performance 

pay and  
bonuses

(d) 
Long term  

performance 
pay and  
bonuses

(e) 
All  

pension- 
related  
benefits

(f)   
TOTAL  
(a to e)

 Bands of 
£5,000

 To nearest 
£100

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£2,500

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£5,000

 To nearest 
£100

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£5,000

 Bands of 
£2,500

 Bands of 
£5,000

Kate Gordon (to 25/10/13) Chairman 15-20 15-20

David Dean (from 28/10/13 to 22/06/14) Chairman 10-15 10-15 20-25 20-25

Edward Libbey (from 01/07/2014) Chairman 35-40 35-40

Sean Green (to 31/05/13) Non-executive 0-5 0-5

Anita McCallum (to 30/09/13) Non-executive 0-5 0-5

Sean Haney (to 02/03/14) Non-executive 10-15 10-15

Victoria Holliday (to 31/07/14) Non-executive 0-5 0-5 10-15 10-15

Heather Farley Non-executive 10-15 10-15 5-10 5-10

Ian Pinches Non-executive 10-15 10-15 10-15 10-15

Joss Trout Non-executive 10-15 10-15 0-5 0-5

John Rees (from 08/09/14) Non-executive 5-10 5-10

Lisa Gamble (from 08/09/14) Non-executive 5-10 5-10

Patricia Wright (to 01/11/13) Chief Executive 85-90 15-17.5 105-110

Sharon Beamish (from 15/07/13 to 22/11/13) Director of Operations and Interim CEO 80-85 80-85

Manjit Obhrai (to 21/11/14) Chief Executive 270-275 9,600 280-285 120-125 120-125

Dorothy Hosein (from 10/11/14) Chief Executive 70-75 70-75

Mark Henry (to 07/10/13) Director of Operations 120-125 15-17.5 140-145

Andrew Stenton (to 03/07/14) Chief Operating Officer 65-70 65-70 65-70 65-70

Dorothy Hosein (to 09/11/14 ) Chief Operating Officer 80-85 80-85

Robert Heywood (from 01/11/14) Director of Operations 105-110 75-77.5 180-185

Gwyneth Wilson (to 31/10/13) Chief Nurse 65-70 25-27.5 95-100

Catherine Morgan Director of Nursing 115-120 400 167.5-170 280-285 35-40 97.5-100 135-140

Barbara Cummings (to 31/08/14) Director of Performance and Informatics 115-120 5-7.5 120-125 115-120 22.5-25 140-145

David Stonehouse Finance Director 125-130 6,800 17.5-20 150-155 125-130 6,500 27.5-30 150-155

Mark Blunt (to 31/08/14) Medical Director 95-100 95-100 175-180 77.5-80 255-260

Beverly Watson (full time Med Director from 01/09/14) Medical Director 155-160 155-160 105-110 330-332.5 365-370

Mark Vaughan (to 30/11/14) Director of HR 165-170 165-170 35-40 100 35-40

Gerald Dryden (from 01/12/14) Director of HR 30-35 120-122.5 150-155

Louise Proctor (to 25/05/14) Director of Strategy and Transformation 15-20 27.5-30 15-20 115-120 115-120

Wendy Cookson (to 06/11/14) Director of Quality Improvement 165-170 165-170 40-45 40-45

Charles Bellringer (to 07/05/14) Turnaround Director 35-40 11,800 45-50 110-115 110-115
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Foundation Trust Audited Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)

The benefits in kind relate to vehicles provided to Directors.       
    
The remuneration report has been audited.         
  
The Government actuary Department (GAD) factors for the calculation of Cash Equivalent Transfer Factors “CETVs”) 
assume that benefits are indexed in line with CPI which is expected to be lower than RPI, as used previously; this will 
tend to produce lower transfer values.          
  
Elements Of Remuneration          
Salaries are renewed annually, taking into account external market levels and internal comparisons as well as 
individual’s responsibilities and overall performance against annually agreed objectives. The chief executive 
undertakes the appraisals of the Executive Directors and the chair undertakes the chief executive’s appraisal, the 
results of these appraisals are reported to the Remuneration Committee.

The basic salary is paid as a fixed monthly sum.
            
Pensions           
All Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the NHS Pension Scheme that provides salary-related pension 
benefits on a defined benefit basis.     
            
Employment Contracts         
The policy of the Remuneration Committee is for the contracts of employment of Executive Directors to a maximum 
notice period of six months. Each contract expires on the pensionable age of the individual, which is the normal 
NHS retirement age, but is subject to earlier termination for cause or if notice is given under the contract. There 
is no entitlement to any additional remuneration in the event of early termination other than in the case of 
termination on the grounds of redundancy.        

Remuneration Received         
The remuneration of the Board of Directors appointed or leaving during the year is included in respect of their 
period of membership only.     

Details of remuneration and audited information.     
Details of Directors’ remuneration for the period ended 31 March 2015 is set out in the tables on pages 168 to 173.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director in 
their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisations workforce. 

The calculation uses the basic salary of each employee, part time staff have had their salary grossed up to their full 
time equivalent salary. Agency staff costs have been assumed to be 67% staff costs and 33% commission. The staff 
cost element has been grossed up to the annual full time equivalent cost and has been included within the data.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director, calculated for comparison purposes on a full time basis, 
in The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust in the financial year 2014/15 was £485,000 – 
490,000 (2013/14 £405,000-£410,000); this was 21.07 (2012/13 17.16) times the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £23,132. In 2014/15 no members of the workforce received remuneration in excess of the 
highest paid director. Remuneration ranged from £11,325 to £488,400.

*Midpoint of band, not actual remuneration    

2014/15 
£

2013/14
£

Midpoint of banded remuneration of highest paid* director - full year effect 487,500 407,500

Median total remuneration 23,132 23,825

Ratio 21.07 17.16
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related bonuses, benefits in kind as well as 
severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions, the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions, overtime or shift allowances.

The median and lowest salary cost for the Trust is low compared to some other Trusts. This is as a result of the Trust 
not having outsourced non-clinical services, for example domestic and catering staff, whom remain our employees. 
The highest paid director of the Trust is an interim Director, recruited on 31st October 2013. To calculate the full 
year effect the daily rate is multiplied by the number of working days in a year. The midpoint of the effective band, 
of £405,000 - £410,000, is taken as the highest paid amount.

As required by HM Treasury per PES(2012)17, the Trust must disclose information regarding “off-payroll” 
engagements as follows:

Staff not on the Trusts payroll who worked for longer than six months and who earned more than £220 per day. - 
Unaudited

Number of off payroll engagements as at 31 March 2014 38

Of those – number that have existed for less than one year 20

Of those – number that have existed for between one and two years 14

Of those – number that have existed for between two and three years 3

Of those – number that have existed for between three and four years 1

Of those – number that have existed for between one and five years 0

Of those – number that have existed for between four or more years 0

New engagements of staff not on the Trust’s payroll or those reaching six months duration between 1st April 2014 
and 31st March 2015 who earned more than £220 per day. - Unaudited

Number of new engagements between 1st April 2013 and 31st March 2014. 180

Of those new engagements the number reaching six months in duration between  
1st April 2013 and 31st March 2014.

7

Number of those which include a contractual clause giving the Trust the right to request 
assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance.

96

Of those – number for whom assurance has been requested. 0

WHERE ASSURANCE REQUESTED:

- number where assurance has been received 0

- number where assurance has not been received 0

- number terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0



The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust - Financial and Operating Report 2014/15 173

Staff not on the Trust’s payroll, who are Board members or senior officials with significant financial responsibility 
that worked at the Trust between 1st April 2014 and 31st March 2015. - Unaudited

Number of off payroll engagements of Board members or senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility.

6

Number of individuals deemed to be Board members or senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility 

14

The Trust uses agency staff to fill medical and nurse shifts, although the Trust has been moving to a neutral vendor 
model for acquiring staff to fill these shifts there is still some reliance on other agencies. The neutral vendor 
contracts include the appropriate clauses regarding tax and National Insurance obligations. 

Many of the staff used will have completed only a very few shifts at the hospital and will not be senior officials or 
have significant financial responsibilities.

The Trust has introduced a contract for the provision of services for self-employed contractors. The contract includes 
clauses setting out the contractors obligations in respect of tax and National Insurance.

Signed

Dorothy Hosein
Chief Executive
26th May 2015








